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IMPORTANT INFORMATION

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in the Prospectus.  To the best of the 
knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the 
information contained in the Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to 
affect the import of such information.

Neither the delivery of the Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall at any time imply that 
the information contained herein is correct at any time subsequent to the date of the Prospectus or that any 
further information supplied in connection with the Securities is correct as of any time subsequent to the date 
indicated in the document containing the same.  No person has been authorised to give any information or to 
make representations other than those contained in the Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of 
the Securities and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having 
been authorised by the Issuer or the Arranger.

None of the Prospectus and any further information supplied in connection with the Securities is intended to 
provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by the 
Issuer and/or the Arranger and/or the Trustee that any recipient of the Prospectus or any further information 
supplied in connection with the Securities should purchase any Securities.  Each investor contemplating 
purchasing Securities should make its own independent investigation of the risks involved in an investment in 
the Securities.  Neither the Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Securities 
constitutes an offer by or on behalf of the Issuer and/or the Arranger or any other person to purchase any 
Securities.

Neither the Arranger nor the Trustee has separately verified the information contained herein and 
accordingly neither the Arranger nor the Trustee makes any representation, recommendation or warranty, 
express or implied, regarding the accuracy, adequacy, reasonableness or completeness of the information 
contained herein or in any further information, notice or other document which may at any time be supplied in 
connection with the Securities or their distribution and none of them accepts any responsibility or liability 
therefor.  Neither the Arranger nor the Trustee undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the 
Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by the Prospectus nor to advise any investor or 
potential investor in any Securities of any information coming to the attention of either the Arranger or the 
Trustee.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION RELATING TO THE USE OF THIS PROSPECTUS AND OFFERS OF 
SECURITIES GENERALLY

The distribution of the Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Securities in certain jurisdictions may be 
restricted by law.  Neither the Issuer, the Arranger nor the Trustee represents that this document may be 
lawfully distributed, or that any Securities may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable 
registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or 
assumes any responsibility for facilitating any distribution or offering.  In particular, no action has been taken 
by the Issuer, the Arranger or the Trustee which is intended to permit a public offering of the Securities or the 
distribution of the Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.  Accordingly, no 
Securities may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and none of the Prospectus, any advertisement 
relating to any Securities and any other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, 
except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations.  Persons 
into whose possession the Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer and the Arranger to inform 
themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution 
of the Prospectus and the offer or sale of Securities in the United States, the European Economic Area 
(including the United Kingdom and Ireland), see “Sales Restrictions” in the Programme Section.

The Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Securities in any Member State of the
European Economic Area (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under 
the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a 
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prospectus for offers of Securities.  Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that 
Relevant Member State of Securities which are the subject of the offering contemplated in the Prospectus 
may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or the Arranger to publish a 
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 
16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer.  Neither the Issuer nor the Arranger 
have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Securities in circumstances in which an 
obligation arises for the Issuer or the Arranger to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

This document may contain forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking statements are statements that 
are not historical facts, including statements about the Issuer’s beliefs and expectations.  Any statement in 
this document that states the Issuer’s intentions, beliefs, expectations or predictions (and the assumptions 
underlying them) is a forward-looking statement.  These statements are based on plans, estimates, and 
projections as they are currently available to the management of the Issuer. Forward-looking statements 
involve inherent risks and uncertainties. A number of important factors could therefore cause actual results of 
the Issuer or of the Securities to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement.

PRESENTATION OF INFORMATION

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “dollars”, “U.S. 
Dollars”, “USD” and “U.S.$” are references to United States dollars and references to “euro”, “EUR” and “€” 
are references to the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that adopt the single 
currency in accordance with the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.
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RISK FACTORS – SECURITIES

I: The Securities

Prospective purchasers of the Securities should ensure that they understand fully the nature of the 
Securities, as well as the extent of their exposure to risks associated with an investment in the 
Securities and should consider the suitability of an investment in the Securities in light of their own 
particular financial, fiscal and other circumstances.  Prospective purchasers of the Securities should 
refer to the risk factors below and the risk factors set out in Risk Factors–Programme of this Risk 
Factors Section below.

Prospective investors should be aware that the Securities may decline in value and should be 
prepared to sustain a total loss of their investment in the Securities.  In particular, (i) if there is an 
early termination of the Hedging Agreement or a Collateral Default Event occurs (in each case as 
more fully described in the Conditions), or (ii) if the market value of the Collateral declines, 
purchasers of the Securities risk losing their entire investment.  Accordingly prospective investors 
should only invest in the Securities if they are able to bear the risk of losing their entire investment.

The Securities are not guaranteed by the Arranger or any of its affiliates and neither the Arranger nor 
any of its affiliates has or will have any obligations in respect of the Securities.  The Securities will 
represent secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer which will rank pari passu in all 
respects with each other.  See General Condition 6.8 (Shortfall after application of proceeds).

(A) Investor Suitability

Investment in the Securities may not be suitable for all investors and is only suitable for investors 
who:

(1) have the requisite knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to evaluate 
the information contained in this Prospectus and the merits and risks of an investment in the 
Issuer in the context of such investors' financial position and circumstances;

(2) are capable of bearing the economic risk of an investment in the Issuer for an indefinite 
period of time;

(3) are acquiring the Securities for their own account for investment, not with a view to resale, 
distribution or other disposition of the Securities (subject to any applicable law requiring that 
the disposition of the investor's property be within its control); and

(4) recognise that it may not be possible to make any transfer of the Securities for a substantial 
period of time, if at all.

Further, each prospective purchaser of Securities must determine, based on its own independent 
review and such professional advice as it deems appropriate under the circumstances, that its 
acquisition of the Securities (i) is fully consistent with its (or if it is acquiring the Securities in a 
fiduciary capacity, the beneficiary's) financial needs, objectives and condition, (ii) complies and is 
fully consistent with all investment policies, guidelines and restrictions applicable to it (whether 
acquiring the Securities as principal or in a fiduciary capacity) and (iii) is a fit, proper and suitable 
investment for it (or if it is acquiring the Securities in a fiduciary capacity, for the beneficiary), 
notwithstanding the clear and substantial risks inherent in investing in or holding the Securities.  
Neither the Issuer, the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty nor any other person has or will make 
any representation or statement as to the suitability of the Securities for investors.

INVESTORS SHOULD OBTAIN ALL REQUIRED INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE 
BEFORE PURCHASING THE SECURITIES.
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(B) The Hedging Agreement

The Issuer has entered into an asset swap agreement (the “Hedging Agreement”) the purpose of 
which is to provide funds in order to allow the Issuer to perform its scheduled obligations under the 
Securities and accordingly investors in the Securities will be exposed to the credit risk of the Hedging 
Counterparty under the Hedging Agreement.

The Securities are solely obligations of the Issuer and neither the Hedging Counterparty nor any 
other person has any obligation to the holders of the Securities for payment of any amount due in 
respect of the Securities.

The Securities are subject to early cancellation if, amongst other things, the Hedging Agreement is 
terminated early in accordance with its terms (see paragraph (C) below).

The Hedging Agreement may be terminated early (either in whole or, in certain circumstances, in 
part only), among other circumstances:

(a) if at any time the Securities are cancelled in accordance with the Conditions prior to the 
Maturity Date;

(b) at the option of one party, if there is a failure by the other party to pay any amounts due 
under the Hedging Agreement;

(c) if (subject as provided in the Hedging Agreement) withholding taxes are imposed on 
payment made by the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty under the Hedging Agreement or 
it becomes illegal for either party to perform its obligations under the Hedging Agreement;

(d) if (subject as provided in the Hedging Agreement) the Hedging Counterparty determines that 
(x) as a result of an adoption of, or any change in, any applicable law or regulation, or (y) a 
promulgation of, or any change in the interpretation of any applicable law or regulation by 
any court, tribunal, government or regulatory authority (each a “relevant authority”) 
including informal public or private statements or actions by, or responses of, any relevant 
authority acting in an official capacity, or other economic circumstances, it becomes, or is 
reasonably likely to become, unlawful, impossible or impracticable for either the Hedging 
Counterparty or the Issuer to maintain or carry out the transaction or any activity 
contemplated by the transaction under the Hedging Agreement, or for the Hedging 
Counterparty to hedge its obligations thereunder, or that compliance with the foregoing will 
result in increased costs for either the Hedging Counterparty or the Issuer;

(e) if certain provisions of the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of 2010 (the
“Dodd-Frank Act”) are implemented as described in the Dodd-Frank Act and the
corresponding implementing regulations currently proposed by the relevant regulators, it will 
become illegal for the Hedging Counterparty to perform its obligations under the Hedging 
Agreement, in which case the Hedging Agreement may be terminated early; and

(f) upon the occurrence of certain other events with respect to either party and the Hedging 
Agreement, including insolvency of such party.

On the Maturity Date, under the terms of the Hedging Agreement, the Hedging Counterparty will 
receive from the Issuer the Collateral (if any) or the proceeds of redemption thereof and in exchange 
will pay to the Issuer the aggregate of the Redemption Amounts payable in respect of the Securities. 
Securityholders should be aware that amounts payable to the Hedging Counterparty will rank in 
priority to any claims of the Securityholders. Securityholders are effectively subordinated to such 
amounts as may be payable by the Issuer to the Hedging Counterparty.
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Upon the occurrence of, inter alia, an Event of Default, an early termination of the Hedging 
Agreement, or a Collateral Default Event prior to the Maturity Date, the Securities will be redeemed 
early.

(C) Cancellation of the Securities

The Securities are subject to cancellation in the event of, amongst other things, (i) a payment default 
in respect of the Securities, a breach by the Issuer of its obligations under the Securities or the 
winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer (see “Events of Default” under General Condition 10), (ii) a 
default or other similar event under the Collateral in accordance with the Collateral terms as of the 
Issue Date or a restructuring of and/or amendment to certain terms of the Collateral (see “Collateral 
Default Event” under General Condition 5.1), (iii) an early termination of the Hedging Agreement (see 
General Condition 5.2), (iv) the occurrence of a Regulatory Event or (v) the early redemption of the 
Collateral (other than for a Collateral Default Event) (see Product Condition 7).

The amount payable (which may be zero) in respect of each Security on cancellation following the 
occurrence of an Event of Default in respect of the Issuer, an early termination of the Hedging 
Agreement, a Collateral Default Event or a Regulatory Event will be:

(a) a pro rata share of the market value of the Collateral; minus

(b) a pro rata share of the Early Redemption Unwind Costs (see Product Condition 6).

The Early Redemption Unwind Costs will reflect any amounts, costs, expenses, taxes and duties 
incurred by or payable to the Hedging Counterparty (which will be expressed as a positive amount), 
or (provided that a Collateral Default Event has not occurred) any gain realised (which will be 
expressed as a negative amount), in connection with cancelling the Securities and unwinding any 
transactions it has entered into in respect of the Securities (for example, if there are any break costs, 
loss of funding costs or mark to market losses on any related hedge) and any legal and other 
ancillary costs incurred by the Issuer, the Trustee or the Hedging Counterparty as a result of the 
Securities being cancelled (see Product Condition 6). Notwithstanding the above, following the 
occurrence of a Collateral Default Event (if any) any gain realised by the Hedging Counterparty in 
connection with the cancellation of the Securities and related termination, settlement or re-
establishment of any hedge or related trading position shall not be reflected in any calculation of the 
Early Redemption Unwind Costs and therefore the performance of the Index will have no effect upon 
the amount (if any) payable in respect of each Security on cancellation in this scenario.

The amount payable (which may be zero) in respect of each Security on cancellation following an 
early redemption of the Collateral (other than due to a Collateral Default Event) will be:

(a) a pro rata share of the proceeds of redemption of the Collateral; minus

(b) a pro rata share of the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

Prospective investors of the Securities should note that, on a cancellation as described in this 
paragraph (C) above, they will receive only a cash payment calculated as described above (if any) 
and will not be entitled actually to receive any portion of the Collateral.  Holders of the Securities 
should also note that they bear the risk of decline in the value of the Collateral and the Hedging 
Counterparty’s costs in connection with unwinding its hedging arrangements, which will be included 
in the calculation of the Early Redemption Unwind Costs which will be deducted in the calculation of 
the amount due on cancellation, as described above. Declines in the value of the Collateral (where 
the cancellation amount is calculated by reference to its market value) and the Hedging Agreement 
will adversely impact any payment on a cancellation and may result in investors sustaining a total 
loss of their investment.

(D) Market Value
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The market value of the Securities will be affected by changes in the credit risk of the issuer of the 
Collateral (the "Collateral Obligor") and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as the Hedging 
Counterparty, in each case which in turn will fluctuate with, amongst other things, changes in 
prevailing interest rates, general economic conditions, conditions of financial markets, European and 
international political events, events in the jurisdiction of incorporation of the Collateral Obligor and 
the Hedging Counterparty and the financial condition of the Collateral Obligor and the Hedging 
Counterparty.  A decrease in the credit rating of the Collateral Obligor and/or the Hedging 
Counterparty is very likely to adversely affect the market value of the Securities.  Accordingly, 
prospective investors in the Securities should ensure that they fully understand how the 
creditworthiness of the Collateral Obligor and the Hedging Counterparty may affect an investment in 
the Securities and before making an investment decision with respect to the Securities should 
carefully consider whether such investment is suitable for them and whether they can sustain a total 
loss of their investment in the Securities.

Other factors which may affect the market value of the Securities include, without limitation, the 
market value of the Collateral, exchange rates, interest rates and market volatility as described in 
paragraph (E) below and “Market Factors” under the “Risk Factors–Programme” section below.  The 
market value of the Securities may also be affected by the performance of the Index.

(E) Collateral Market Value Risk

Investors should note that the amount payable on an early cancellation of the Securities may be 
calculated by reference to the market value of the Collateral as described in paragraph (D) above 
(see “Market Value Collateral” under the Product Conditions), and accordingly if the market value of 
the Collateral is less than its outstanding principal balance, the amount payable on cancellation will 
be lower than would otherwise have been the case.

In addition to affecting the amount payable on cancellation, the market value of the Collateral will 
also affect the market value of the Securities, although the market value of the Collateral and the 
Securities will not be the same and in relation to the market value of the Collateral, investors should 
note that historical prices do not indicate future performance of the Collateral.  Investors in the 
Securities should also note that the market value of the Collateral is only one factor which will affect 
the market value of the Securities and other relevant factors may include, without limitation, 
exchange rates, interest rates and market volatility as described in “Market Factors” under the “Risk 
Factors–Programme” section below.

Investors in the Securities should conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the 
Collateral and the Collateral Obligor as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits and the risks of 
an investment in the Securities.  Investors should review carefully the Collateral Webpage as 
described in the Securities Section below.

(F) Maturity Date Postponement

Investors should note that the Maturity Date may be postponed if the Calculation Agent determines 
that a Potential Collateral Default Event (being an event which, with the passing of time, could 
constitute a Collateral Default Event) has occurred and is continuing as of the Scheduled Maturity 
Date. In no circumstances shall any interest or other amount be payable in respect of such delay. 
The latest date to which the Maturity Date may be postponed is the first date on which the event the 
subject of such Potential Collateral Default Event could constitute a Collateral Default Event.

(G) Non-Interest bearing Notes

The Notes will not pay interest.  Unless the Notes fall due for redemption early for any reason, or an 
Index Event occurs (as described in paragraph (I) below) no amount shall be payable to 
Securityholders in respect of the Notes on any date other than the Maturity Date when each nominal 
amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount shall be redeemed at the Redemption Amount.
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(H) Index Risk

On the Maturity Date, the Redemption Amount of the Notes shall be not less than the Calculation 
Amount. Subject as provided herein, the Redemption Amount shall be linked to a basket comprised 
of three Indices. The weighted average performance of the three Indices shall be used to calculate 
the Redemption Amount and this shall be subject to a Participation Factor. Therefore 
Securitiesholders will have exposure to the performance of three separate Indices and the 
Redemption Amount shall not reflect the entirety of any positive performance of any of the Indices.

The level of each Index (and the price of securities or other components comprised in the Index) may 
go down as well as up throughout the term of the Securities.  Such fluctuations may affect the value 
of the Securities.  Furthermore, the levels at any specific date may not reflect the prior or future 
performance of the Indices.  There can be no assurance as to the future performance or evolution of 
the Indices.  The level at which each Index stands at any time is impossible to predict and therefore 
prospective investors should be aware that their return on each nominal amount of Securities equal 
to the Calculation Amount may be limited to the Calculation Amount. Accordingly, before investing in 
the Securities, prospective purchasers should carefully consider whether any investment linked to 
the basket of Indices is suitable for them.

Securityholders will have exposure to the risk that returns on the Securities do not reflect direct 
investment in the underlying Indices or shares composing these Indices. The return payable on the 
Securities may not reflect the return an investor would realise if they owned an interest in each Index 
or the relevant shares comprising the components of the Indices. For example, Securityholders will 
not receive any dividends paid on those shares and will not participate in the return on those 
dividends unless the Indices takes such dividends into account for purposes of calculating the 
relevant level. Similarly, Securityholders will not have any voting rights in the underlying shares 
which may comprise the components of the Index. Accordingly, investors in the Securities may 
receive a lower payment upon redemption of such Securities than such investor would have received 
if they had invested in the components of the Indices directly.

The sponsors of the Indices can add, delete or substitute the component securities of such Indices or 
make other methodological changes that could change the level of one or more components. The 
changing of component securities of any Index may affect the level of such Index as newly added 
securities may perform significantly worse or better than the company it replaces, which in turn may 
affect the payments made by the Issuer to the investors in the Securities. The sponsors of the 
Indices may also alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of such Indices. The 
sponsors of the Indices will have no involvement in the offer and sale of the Securities and will have 
no obligation to any investor in such Securities. The sponsors of the Indices may take any actions in 
respect of the Indices without regard to the interests of the investor in the Securities, and any of 
these actions could adversely affect the market value of the Securities.

Any prospective purchaser of the Securities should have such knowledge and experience in financial 
and business matters and expertise in assessing risks in relation to the Indices and should be 
capable of evaluating the merits, risks and suitability of investing in the Securities. None of the 
Issuer, the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty nor the Calculation Agent purports to be a source of 
information and credit or other analysis with respect to the Indices.

(I) Index Events

The Calculation Agent has broad discretion to make certain determinations and adjustments and/or 
to determine that an Index Event (as defined herein) has occurred, any of which may have an 
adverse affect on the Securities. The Calculation Agent may also amend the relevant Index level due 
to corrections in the level reported by the Index Sponsor.

Upon the determination by the Calculation Agent that an Index Event (as defined herein) has 
occurred, the Redemption Amount payable on the Maturity Date will be limited to the Calculation 
Amount.
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Following the occurrence of such an Index Event, an Index Event Amount (if any) will be payable to 
Securityholders. The Index Event Amount is an amount determined by the Calculation Agent in its 
reasonable commercial discretion equal to the gain (if any) by the Issuer, that would be realised, in 
replacing or in providing for the Issuer the economic equivalent of the material terms of the Index 
Event Hedging Agreement (as defined herein), including the payments and deliveries by the parties 
under the Index Event Hedging Agreement that would, but for the occurrence of the relevant Index 
Event, have been required on or after the date that the Index Event Hedging Agreement is deemed 
to have been terminated or cancelled.

The Index Event Amount may, for the avoidance of doubt, be zero.

(J) Credit Risk

The ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Securities will be dependent on the 
performance by the Hedging Counterparty of all its payment and other obligations under the Hedging 
Agreement, upon the performance and non-default of the Collateral, upon the Principal Agent, the 
Paying Agent and the Custodian making the relevant payments when received and upon all other 
parties to the transaction performing their respective obligations.  Accordingly Securityholders are 
exposed, inter alia, to the credit risk of the Hedging Counterparty, the Collateral Obligor, the Principal 
Agent, the Paying Agent and the Custodian.

(K) Collateral Risk

The Collateral comprises debt securities of the Republic of Lithuania.  An investment in the 
Securities is subject to the risk that changes in the political and economic environment in Lithuania 
may have a negative impact on the Republic of Lithuania’s ability to perform its obligations under the 
Collateral.  In particular, the Republic of Lithuania is an emerging market and the value of securities 
and other assets issued by governments in such countries is generally more volatile than the value 
of similar assets issued by entities in well-developed markets. Furthermore, the government of 
Lithuania may pursue economic policies which result in, for example, higher inflation, higher interest 
rates, recession, hard currency shortage or a downgrade of Lithuania’s credit rating. Further 
information in respect of the Collateral including risk factors in respect of the Collateral can be 
obtained from the Collateral Webpage (as defined under “Charged Property” below.

(L) Subordination

In the event that the security over the Charged Property becomes enforceable, the Trustee will apply 
all moneys it receives in connection therewith, in payment of amounts due to the Hedging 
Counterparty before payment of amounts due to Securityholders, including on the insolvency of the 
Hedging Counterparty. Payments due to the Trustee will be satisfied prior to payments due to the 
Hedging Counterparty.

(M) Taxation

Investors should note that the Issuer shall not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay, and the 
relevant Securityholder shall be liable for and/or pay, any tax, duty, charge, withholding or other 
payment whatsoever which may arise as a result of, or in connection with, the ownership, any 
transfer and/or any payment in respect of the Securities as further provided in General Condition 4.4 
(Taxation).

(N) US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding

Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and US Treasury 
regulations promulgated thereunder that took effect on 28 January 2013, as amended from time to 
time (together “FATCA”) impose a new reporting regime and potentially a 30% withholding tax with 
respect to certain payments to (i) any non-U.S. financial institution (a “foreign financial institution”, 
or “FFI” (as defined by FATCA)) that does not become a “Participating FFI” by entering into an 
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agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) to provide the IRS with certain information 
in respect of its account holders and investors or is not otherwise exempt from or in deemed 
compliance with FATCA and (ii) any investor (unless otherwise exempt from FATCA) that does not 
provide information sufficient to determine whether such investor is a U.S. person or should 
otherwise be treated as holding a United States Account of the Issuer (a “Recalcitrant Holder”).

FATCA implementation is being phased in, applying from 01 July 2014 to payments from sources 
within the United States, and is currently proposed to apply to "foreign passthru payments" (a term 
not yet defined) made by an FFI to a non-participating FFI or Recalcitrant Holder no earlier than 01 
January 2017.  This withholding would potentially apply to payments in respect of (i) any Securities 
issued or materially modified on or after the "grandfathering date", which is the date that is six 
months after the date on which final U.S. Treasury regulations defining the term ‘foreign passthru 
payment’ are filed with the Federal Register; and (ii) any Securities characterised as equity or which 
do not have a fixed term for U.S. federal tax purposes, whenever issued. If Securities are issued 
before the grandfathering date, and additional Securities of the same series are issued on or after 
that date, the additional Securities may not be treated as grandfathered, which may have negative 
consequences for the existing Securities, including a negative impact on market price. 

The United States and a number of other jurisdictions announced their intention to enter into 
intergovernmental agreements to facilitate the implementation of FATCA (each, an “IGA”).  In some 
cases such IGAs have been signed; in other cases, negotiations are still ongoing.  Pursuant to 
FATCA and the "Model 1" and "Model 2" IGAs released by the United States, most FFIs in an IGA 
signatory country should be treated as a "Reporting FI" that would generally not be subject to 
withholding under FATCA on any payments it receives.  Further, an FFI in a Model 1 IGA jurisdiction 
would not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA or 
agreement with the IRS relating to FATCA) (any such withholding being a “FATCA Withholding”) 
from payments it makes (unless it has agreed to do so under the U.S. "qualified intermediary," 
"withholding foreign partnership," or "withholding foreign trust" regimes or, in certain limited 
circumstances, where the payments are made to a Recalcitrant Holder). The Model 2 IGA leaves 
open the possibility that a Reporting FI might in the future be required to withhold as a Participating 
FFI on foreign passthru payments and payments that it makes to Recalcitrant Holders. Under each 
Model IGA, a Reporting FI would still be required to report certain information in respect of its 

account holders and investors to its home government or to the IRS. The US IRS has provided a 
list of jurisdictions that are treated as having in effect an IGA, even though that IGA may 
not have entered into force as of 01 July 2014.

Ireland signed a Model 1 IGA with the United States on 21 December 2012 and the Issuer will 
therefore be required to comply with FATCA under national legislation implementing that agreement.

The Issuer is currently not expected to be required to make any FATCA Withholdings from the 
payments it makes. There can be no assurance, however, that the Issuer would not in the future be 
required to deduct FATCA Withholding from future payments. Accordingly, the Issuer and financial 
institutions through which payments on the Securities are made may be required to withhold FATCA 
Withholding if (i) any FFI through or to which payment on such Securities is made is not a 
Participating FFI, a Reporting FI, or otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with FATCA or 
(ii) an investor is a Recalcitrant Holder.

If a FATCA Withholding were to be made from interest, principal or other payments made in respect 
of the Securities, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent nor any other person would, pursuant to 
the conditions of the Securities, be required to pay any additional amounts as a result of the FATCA 
Withholding. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected.

As the Securities are in global form and held within a clearing system, it is expected that FATCA will 
not affect the amount of any payments made under, or in respect of, the Securities by the Issuer or 
any paying agent for such clearing system, given that each of the entities in the payment chain 
between the Issuer and the clearing system is a major financial institution whose business is 
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dependent on compliance with FATCA and that any alternative approach introduced under an IGA 
will be unlikely to affect the Securities.

However, FATCA may affect payments made to custodians or intermediaries in the subsequent 
payment chain leading to the ultimate investor if any such custodian or intermediary generally is 
unable to receive payments free of FATCA Withholding.  It may also affect payment to any ultimate 
investor that is a financial institution that is not entitled to receive payments free of withholding under 
FATCA, or an ultimate investor that fails to provide its broker (or other custodian or intermediary from 
which it receives payment) with any information, forms, other documentation or consents that may be 
necessary for the payments to be made free of FATCA Withholding.  Investors should choose the 
custodians or intermediaries with care (to ensure that each is compliant with FATCA or other laws or 
agreements related to FATCA), and provide each custodian or intermediary with any information, 
forms and/or other documentation or consents that may be necessary for such custodian or 
intermediary to make a payment free of FATCA Withholding. Investors should consult their own tax 
adviser to obtain a more detailed explanation of FATCA and how FATCA may affect them.  The 
Issuer’s obligations under the Securities are discharged once it has paid the depositary for the 
clearing system (as legal owner of the Securities) and the Issuer has therefore no responsibility for 
any amount thereafter transmitted through the hands of the clearing systems and custodians or 
intermediaries.

THE FATCA PROVISIONS ARE PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND THEIR APPLICATION TO THE 
ISSUER AND THE NOTES IS UNCERTAIN AT THIS TIME. THE ABOVE DESCRIPTION IS 
BASED IN PART ON REGULATIONS, OFFICIAL GUIDANCE AND MODEL IGAS, ALL OF 
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE OR MAY BE IMPLEMENTED IN A MATERIALLY 
DIFFERENT FORM.  NOTHING IN THIS SECTION CONSTITUTES OR PURPORTS TO 
CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE AND NOTEHOLDERS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON ANY 
PROVISION SET OUT IN THIS SECTION FOR THE PURPOSES OF MAKING ANY INVESTMENT 
DECISION, TAX DECISION OR OTHERWISE. EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN 
TAX ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF THE FATCA PROVISIONS 
AND TO LEARN HOW THIS LEGISLATION MIGHT AFFECT IT IN ITS PARTICULAR 
CIRCUMSTANCE.

(O) No Secondary Market

Currently no secondary market exists for the Securities.  The Arranger is not under any obligation to 
make a market in the Securities and it is highly unlikely that any secondary market for the Securities 
will develop.  In the unlikely event that a secondary market in the Securities does develop, there can 
be no assurance that it will provide the Securityholders with liquidity of investment or that it will 
continue for the life of the Securities.  Accordingly, the purchase of the Securities is suitable only for 
investors who can bear the risks associated with a lack of liquidity in the Securities and the financial 
and other risks associated with an investment in the Securities.  Investors must be prepared to hold 
the Securities until maturity.

In addition, the Securities are subject to significant transfer restrictions as described under “Sales 
Restrictions” below which further limit the liquidity of the Securities.

(P) Potential Conflicts of Interest

The Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may 
from time to time engage in transactions involving the Collateral, the Indices or securities which are 
comprised in the Indices for their proprietary accounts and for accounts under their management.  
Such transactions may have a positive or negative effect on the value of the Collateral and 
consequently upon the value of the Securities.

Furthermore, the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective 
affiliates may also issue other derivative instruments in respect of the Collateral, the Indices or 
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securities which are comprised in the Indices and the introduction of such competing products into 
the marketplace may affect the value of the Securities.

The Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may, in 
certain cases, act as market-maker for the Collateral, or derivatives, investments or securities in 
respect of the Indices or securities which are comprised in the Indices.  By such market-making, the 
Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent or such affiliate will, to a large extent, 
itself determine the price of the Collateral, or the Indices and consequently influence the value of the 
Securities.  The prices quoted by the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent or 
such affiliate in its market-making function will not always correspond to the prices which would have 
formed without such market-making and in a liquid market.

The Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may 
also act as underwriter in connection with future offerings of the Collateral, or derivatives, 
investments or securities in respect of the Indices or securities which are comprised in the Indices or 
may act as financial adviser to the Collateral Obligor.  Such activities could present certain conflicts 
of interest and may affect the value of the Securities.

The Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may 
acquire non-public information with respect to the Collateral, the Collateral Obligor, the Indices 
and/or securities which are comprised in the Indices, and neither the Arranger, the Hedging 
Counterparty, the Calculation Agent nor any of their respective affiliates undertakes to disclose any 
such information to any Securityholder.  In addition, one or more of the Arranger, the Hedging 
Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may publish research reports with 
respect to the Collateral, the Collateral Obligor, the Indices or securities comprised in the Indices. 
Such activities could present conflicts of interest and may affect the value of the Securities.

(Q) Regulatory Risk

The global financial crisis of 2008 onwards led to an increased regulation of financial activities. The 
United States of America, the European Union and other jurisdictions have implemented, and are still 
in the process of implementing, various reform measures. Such regulatory changes and the method 
of their implementation may have a significant effect on the operation of financial markets. In many 
cases, it is uncertain how such regulatory reform would affect the Issuer, the treatment of 
instruments such as the Securities or the activities of other parties that have roles with respect to the 
Securities, such as (without limitation) the Hedging Counterparty, the Arranger and the Trustee. 
Investors should note that the Calculation Agent has discretion to determine the occurrence of a 
Regulatory Event, which would result in the early redemption of each Security. In addition, the 
Hedging Counterparty has the right to terminate the Hedging Agreement upon the occurrence of a 
similar event. Any such termination would cause the early redemption of each Security at its Early 
Termination Amount, which may be less than such Security’s principal amount and may be zero.

Areas of regulatory change that might affect the Issuer include (without limitation):

 Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive. The EU Directive 2011/61/EU on 
Alternative Investment Fund Managers (“AIFMD”), which became effective on 22 July 2013. 
This provides, amongst other things, that all alternative investment funds (each, an “AIF”) 
must have a designated alternative investment fund manager (“AIFM”) with responsibility for 
portfolio and risk management. The application of the AIFMD to special purpose entities 
such as the Issuer is unclear. The Issuer does not operate in the same manner as a typical 
alternative investment fund. The Issuer has been established solely for the purpose of 
issuing securities, bonds, notes, debt or entering into loans agreement or other similar 
agreements and entering into agreements in relation thereto and performing acts incidental 
thereto or necessary in connection therewith, provided always that such obligations are 
secured on assets of the Issuer other than the Issuer’s share capital and those assets 
securing any other obligations of the Issuer, and that they are entered into on a limited 
recourse basis.  However, the definition of AIF and AIFM in the AIFMD is broad and there is 
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only limited guidance as to how such definition should be applied in the context of a special 
purpose entity such as the Issuer.

The Central Bank has issued guidance that, pending further guidance from the European 
Securities and Markets Authority (“ESMA”), entities registered with the Central Bank as 
“financial vehicle corporations” do not need to seek authorisation as, or appoint, an AIFM,
unless the Central Bank issues further guidance to that effect. The Issuer has registered as a 
“financial vehicle corporation” and, as such, does not believe that it currently requires 
authorisation as, or to appoint, an AIFM.

Were the Issuer to be found to be an AIF or an AIFM, or were Deutsche Bank AG, London 
branch acting in any capacity in respect of the Securities and/or the Trustee to be found to 
be acting as an AIFM with respect to the AIF, the AIFM would be subject to the AIFMD. 
Owing to the special purpose nature of the Issuer, it would be unlikely that either the AIFM 
could comply fully with the requirements of the AIFMD.

In such circumstances, either the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty would be likely to (at 
its discretion and subject to the Conditions or terms of the Hedging Agreement) exercise its 
early redemption right as a result of a Regulatory Event.

No assurance can be given as to how ESMA or national regulators might, in the future, 
interpret the AIFMD or whether any such interpretation might find the Issuer to be an AIF or 
an AIFM, or find Deutsche Bank AG, London branch acting in any capacity in respect of the 
Securities and/or the Trustee to be acting as an AIFM with respect to the Issuer.

 U.S. Dodd-Frank Act. Title VII of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) establishes a comprehensive U.S. regulatory regime 
for a broad range of derivatives contracts (referred to in this Prospectus as “covered 
swaps”). Among other things, Title VII provides the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading 
Commission (the “CFTC”) and the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) 
with jurisdiction and regulatory authority over many different types of derivatives, requires 
the establishment of a comprehensive registration and regulatory framework applicable to 
covered swap dealers and other major market participants, requires many types of covered 
swaps to be exchange-traded or executed on swap execution facilities and centrally cleared, 
and contemplates the imposition of capital requirements and margin requirements for 
uncleared transactions in covered swaps. Title VII has not yet been fully implemented. As a 
result, a complete assessment of the exact nature and effects of Title VII and the rules to be 
adopted thereunder cannot be made at this time.

The Issuer has imposed certain restrictions on sales in order to fall outside of the scope of 
the Dodd-Frank Act. However, there remains considerable uncertainty in respect of the 
extraterritorial scope of the CFTC’s regulations, so there is no assurance that the restrictions 
imposed by the Issuer would be sufficient. Accordingly, there is no assurance that the 
Hedging Agreement would not be treated as a covered swap under the Dodd-Frank Act nor 
is there assurance that the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty would not be required to 
comply with additional regulation under the U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, as amended, 
including by the Dodd-Frank Act (the “CEA”) as described in the next bullet point below.

Were the Hedging Agreement to be treated as a covered swap, the Issuer or the Hedging 
Counterparty might be subject to increased regulatory requirements. Such additional 
regulations and such registrations might result in increased reporting obligations and 
expenses. In addition, it might become illegal for the Hedging Counterparty to perform its 
obligations under the Hedging Agreement.

In such circumstances, either the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty would be likely to (at 
its discretion and subject to the Conditions or terms of the Hedging Agreement) exercise its 
early redemption right as a result of a Regulatory Event.
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Section 619 of the Dodd-Frank Act, known as the “Volcker Rule”, and its final implementing 
regulations restrict the ability of a banking entity to engage in proprietary trading or to acquire 
or retain an ownership interest in, sponsor, or engage in certain transactions with certain 
private funds (“covered funds”).  The Volcker Rule became effective on July 21, 2012, and 
the final regulations became effective on April 1, 2014.  By July 21, 2015, or by such other 
date as the Federal Reserve Board may specify, a banking entity must bring its activities and 
investments into conformance with the Volcker Rule and its final implementing regulations.

The Issuer believes that, under the final regulations, it is not a covered fund with respect to 
non-U.S. organized or located banking entities.  However, if the Issuer were deemed to be a 
covered fund with respect to certain banking entities subject to the Volcker Rule, those 
banking entities would be restricted from acquiring or retaining certain ownership interests in 
or sponsoring the Issuer, and from engaging in “covered transactions”, as defined in section 
23A of the Federal Reserve Act, with the Issuer.  In addition, if the Issuer were deemed to be 
a covered fund with respect to the Hedging Counterparty, it might become illegal for the 
Hedging Counterparty to perform its obligations under the Hedging Agreement.  In such 
circumstances, either the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty would be likely to (at its 
discretion and subject to the Conditions or terms of the Hedging Agreement) exercise its 
early redemption right as a result of a Regulatory Event.

It is not certain how all aspects of the Volcker Rule and its final implementing regulations will 
be interpreted and applied, or what impact the Volcker Rule and such final regulations will 
have on either the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty.  The Volcker Rule and any similar 
measures introduced in another relevant jurisdiction may restrict the ability of relevant 
prospective purchasers to invest in the Securities and may have a negative impact on the 
price and liquidity of the Securities in the secondary market.  Each investor is responsible for 
analysing its own position under the Volcker Rule and any similar measures, and none of the 
Issuer, the Hedging Counterparty, the Arranger, the Trustee or any of their affiliates makes 
any representation to any prospective investor or purchaser of the Securities regarding such 
position, including with respect to the ability of any investor to acquire or hold the Securities, 
or regarding the application of the Volcker Rule to the Issuer and/or the Hedging 
Counterparty, now or at any time in the future.

 United States commodity pool regulation. The CFTC has rescinded the rule which 
formerly provided an exemption from registration as a “commodity pool operator” (a “CPO”) 
and a “commodity trading advisor” (“CTA”) under the CEA, in respect of certain transactions. 
In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act expanded the definition of a “commodity pool” to include any 
form of enterprise operated for the purpose of trading in commodity interests, including 
swaps. The Issuer has imposed certain restrictions on sales in order to fall outside of the 
scope of the Dodd-Frank Act. However, if the Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity pool”, 
then both the CPO and the CTA of the Issuer would be required to register as such with the 
CFTC and the National Futures Association by the initial offering date of the Securities. 
While there remain certain limited exemptions from registration, it is unclear whether and to 
what extent any of these exemptions would be available to avoid registration with respect to 
the Issuer. In addition, if the Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity pool”, it would have to 
comply with a number of reporting requirements that are designed to apply to traded 
commodity pools. It is presently unclear how a special purpose entity such as the Issuer 
could comply with certain of these reporting requirements on an ongoing basis. Such 
registration and other requirements would involve material ongoing costs to the Issuer. In 
addition, if the Issuer were deemed to be a “commodity pool” this might have adverse 
consequences for Deutsche Bank AG, acting through its London branch, in its capacity as 
Hedging Counterparty and/or Arranger, or for the Trustee.

In such circumstances, either the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty would be likely to (at 
its discretion and subject to the Conditions or terms of the Hedging Agreement) exercise its 
early redemption right as a result of a Regulatory Event.
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 European Market Infrastructure Regulation. The European Market Infrastructure 
Regulation EU 648/2012 (“EMIR”) entered into force on 16 August 2012. EMIR aims to 
increase stability in the over-the-counter derivative markets and includes measures to 
require the clearing of certain over-the-counter derivatives through central clearing 
counterparties and to increase the transparency of over-the-counter derivatives. Such 
measures will include the posting of collateral and various reporting and notification
requirements. Notwithstanding that EMIR has entered into force, various elements 
introduced by EMIR have not yet been finalised or practically introduced. The Issuer does 
not expect the provisions of EMIR to require the Issuer to clear the Hedging Agreement with 
a central clearing counterparty or to post collateral. However, were EMIR to be finalised or 
introduced in such a way as to require the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty to clear the 
Hedging Agreement or to post collateral, the Issuer might not be practically able to comply 
with such requirement and/or the Issuer and/or Hedging Counterparty would be subject to an 
additional financial and operation burden. In such circumstances, either the Issuer or the 
Hedging Counterparty would be likely to (at its discretion and subject to the Conditions or 
terms of the Hedging Agreement) exercise its early redemption right as a result of a 
Regulatory Event.

In addition to the above, there may be other regulatory changes which cause there to be a 
Regulatory Event. There can be no assurance that a Regulatory Event will not occur and investors 
should be aware that, should a Regulatory Event occur, it may lead to an early redemption of the 
Securities.

(R) Entry into of related agreements

By purchasing the Securities, each Securityholder agrees and consents that, subject always to the 
consent of the Hedging Counterparty, the Issuer may (but is not obligated to) enter into such 
agreements as it determines necessary or desirable to enter into, and/or may make such 
notifications, filings and/or disclosures as it determines are necessary or desirable, in each case in 
order to (i) further its business of issuing Permitted Investments or incurring Permitted Indebtedness 
or (ii) comply with any law, regulation, guidance and/or government or regulatory pronouncement to 
which it is subject, or may be subject, as a result of such business, and may perform any act 
incidental to or necessary in connection therewith. Such agreements may include, without limitation, 
any agreements relating to reporting obligations, portfolio reconciliation and/or dispute resolution in 
order to satisfy obligations imposed by EMIR or similar or related agreements relating to EMIR, to 
the Dodd-Frank Act or to any similar legislation or rules.

(S) U.S. investors in the Securities are not permitted

The Securities may not at any time be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred in the United 
States or to a Benefit Plan Investor or (a) a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S 
of the Securities Act or (b) a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes 
of the Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended, or any rule, guidance or order proposed or 
issued by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”) thereunder (including but not 
limited to any person who is not a “Non-United States person” under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv) 
(excluding for purposes of CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv)(D) the exception for qualified eligible persons 
who are not “Non-United States persons”)) (any such person or account, a “Non-Permitted 
Transferee”).  Any transfer of Securities to a Non-Permitted Transferee or a Benefit Plan Investor 
shall be deemed to be void ab initio and of no legal effect whatsoever.  Accordingly, any purported 
transferee of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security in such a transaction will not be 
entitled to any rights as a legal or beneficial owner of such interest in such Security, and the Issuer 
shall be entitled to cease to make any payments in respect of Securities held by a Non-Permitted 
Transferee or a Benefit Plan Investor.

“Benefit Plan Investor” means (a) an employee benefit plan (as defined in section 3(3) of the US
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, (“ERISA”)), whether or not subject 
to ERISA, (b) a plan described in section 4975(e)(1) of the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, or (c) an entity whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of a plan's 
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investment in the entity under US Department of Labor Regulations § 2510.3-101 (29 c.f.r. § 2510.3-
101).

The Issuer shall have the right at any time after becoming aware that any legal or beneficial 
ownership interest in a Security is held by a Non-Permitted Transferee or a Benefit Plan Investor to 
require such Non-Permitted Transferee or Benefit Plan Investor to sell such interest to (a) the 
Arranger or any of its Affiliates (to the extent permitted by applicable law) or (b) a person who is 
neither a Non-Permitted Transferee nor a Benefit Plan Investor, in each case in accordance with 
General Condition 5.6 (Void transfer or other disposal and forced transfer).

The foregoing restrictions on the offer, sale, pledge or other transfer of Securities to a Non-Permitted 
Transferee or a Benefit Plan Investor may adversely affect the ability of an investor in the Securities 
to dispose of the Securities in the secondary market, if any, and significantly reduce the liquidity of 
the Securities. As a result, the value of the Securities may be materially adversely affected.
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RISK FACTORS – PROGRAMME

II: The Programme

General

The discussion below is of general nature and is intended to describe various risk factors associated with an 
investment in any Securities issued under the Programme.  What factors will be of relevance to the 
Securities will depend upon a number of inter-related matters including, but not limited to, the nature of the 
Securities, the Underlying, the Collateral, the Charged Property, each Hedging Agreement and the 
Repurchase Agreement (if any).

Purchasers of Securities should conduct such independent investigation and analysis regarding the terms 
and conditions of the Securities, the Issuer, the Collateral, the security arrangements, each Hedging 
Counterparty and (if applicable) Repurchase Counterparty, each Hedging Agreement and (if applicable) the 
Repurchase Agreement or other agreement entered into by the Issuer in respect of the Securities and all 
other relevant market and economic factors as they deem appropriate to evaluate the merits and risks of an 
investment in the Securities.  The Issuer, whilst accepting its responsibility to adequately disclose the risks 
regarding the Securities required pursuant to the Prospectus Directive, the Arranger and the Trustee disclaim
any responsibility to advise purchasers of Securities of the risks and investment considerations associated 
with the purchase of the Securities as they may exist at the date hereof or from time to time thereafter.  
However, as part of such independent investigation and analysis, prospective purchasers of Securities 
should consider all the information set forth in the Prospectus, including the considerations set forth below in 
this Risk Factors–Programme section of the Risk Factors Section.

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Securities 
issued under the Programme.  All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the 
Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in 
Securities issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other 
amounts on or to deliver any Physical Settlement Amounts or Physical Settlement Units in connection with 
any Securities may occur for other reasons.  Prospective investors should also read the detailed information 
set out elsewhere in this Risk Factors–Programme section of the Risk Factors Section, in Risk Factors–
Securities of this Risk Factors Section, in the Programme Section and in the relevant Securities Section and, 
in the light of their own financial circumstances and investment objectives, reach their own views prior to 
making any investment decision.

In addition factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with 
Securities issued under the Programme are also described below.

Terms and expressions defined in the Conditions shall have the same meaning when used in this discussion.

A. Risks in relation to the Securities

1. Introduction

An investment in the Securities involves risks.  These risks may include, among others, equity 
market, bond market, foreign exchange interest rate, market volatility and political risks and any 
combination of these and other risks.  Some of these are briefly discussed below.  Prospective 
purchasers should be experienced with respect to transactions involving instruments such as the 
Securities, in terms of both the risks associated with the economic terms of the Securities and the 
risks associated with the way in which the issue of the Securities is structured.  Prospective 
purchasers should understand the risks associated with an investment in the Securities and should 
only reach an investment decision after careful consideration, with their legal, tax, accounting and 
other advisers, of (i) the suitability of an investment in the Securities in the light of their own particular 
financial, fiscal and other circumstances, (ii) the information set out in this document and (iii) the 
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Underlying, the Collateral, the Charged Property, each Hedging Agreement and the Repurchase 
Agreement (if any).

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE SECURITIES SHOULD RECOGNISE THAT THE 
SECURITIES MAY DECLINE IN VALUE AND SHOULD BE PREPARED TO SUSTAIN A TOTAL 
LOSS OF THEIR INVESTMENT IN THE SECURITIES.

An investment in the Securities should only be made after assessing the direction, timing and 
magnitude of potential future changes in the value of the Underlying, as the return of any such 
investment will be dependent, inter alia, upon such changes.  More than one risk factor may have 
simultaneous effect with regard to the Securities such that the effect of a particular risk factor may 
not be predictable.  In addition, more than one risk factor may have a compounding effect which may 
not be predictable.  No assurance can be given as to the effect that any combination of risk factors 
may have on the value of the Securities.

2. Market Factors

Valuation of the Underlying2.1

Prospective purchasers of the Securities should be aware that an investment in the Securities 
involves valuation risk as regards the Underlying.  Prospective purchasers should be experienced 
with respect to transactions in securities with a value derived from underlying securities and/or other 
assets and/or indices.

The value of the Underlying may vary over time and may increase or decrease by reference to a 
variety of factors which may include corporate actions, macro economic factors and speculation.  
Where the Underlying is a basket comprised of various assets, fluctuations in the value of any one 
asset may be offset or intensified by fluctuations in the value of other assets which comprise the 
Underlying.

The Historical Performance of the Underlying is Not an Indication of Its Future Performance2.2

The historical price of the Underlying does not indicate the future performance of the Underlying.  
Changes in the market price of the Underlying will affect the trading price of the Securities, but it is 
impossible to predict whether the market price of the Underlying will rise or fall.

Exchange Rates2.3

Prospective purchasers of the Securities should be aware that an investment in the Securities may 
involve exchange rate risks.  For example (i) the Underlying may be denominated in a currency other 
than that of the Settlement Currency for the Securities, (ii) the Securities may be denominated in a 
currency other than the currency of the purchaser's home jurisdiction and/or (iii) the Securities may 
be denominated in a currency other than the currency in which a purchaser wishes to receive funds.

Exchange rates between currencies are determined by factors of supply and demand in the 
international currency markets which are influenced by macro economic factors, speculation and 
central bank and government intervention (including the imposition of currency controls and 
restrictions).  Fluctuations in exchange rates may affect the value of the Securities.

Interest Rate2.4

Interest rates are determined by factors of supply and demand in the international money markets 
which are influenced by macro economic factors, speculation and central bank and government 
intervention.  Fluctuations in short term and/or long term interest rates may affect the value of the 
Securities.  Fluctuations in interest rates of the currency in which the Securities are denominated 
and/or fluctuations in interest rates of the currency or currencies in which the Underlying is 
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denominated may affect the value of the Securities.  If the Underlying is a fixed income security, the 
value of the Securities would be expected to be affected by interest rate fluctuations.

Market Volatility2.5

Market volatility reflects the degree of instability and expected instability of the performance of the 
Underlying.  The level of market volatility is not purely a measurement of the actual volatility, but is 
largely determined by the prices for instruments which offer investors protection against such market 
volatility.  The prices of these instruments are determined by forces of supply and demand in the 
options and derivative markets generally.  These forces are, themselves, affected by factors such as 
actual market volatility, expected volatility, macro economic factors and speculation.

3. Certain Hedging Considerations

Prospective purchasers intending to purchase the Securities for the purpose of hedging their 
exposure to the Underlying should recognise the risks of utilising the Securities in such manner.  No 
assurance is or can be given that the value of the Securities will correlate with movements in the 
value of the Underlying.  Furthermore, it may not be possible to liquidate the Securities at a price 
which directly reflects the value of the Underlying.  Therefore, notwithstanding losses suffered by 
investors with respect to investments on or exposure to the Underlying, it is possible that investors 
could also suffer substantial losses in the Securities.

Prospective purchasers of the Securities should be aware that hedging transactions in order to limit 
the risks associated with the Securities might not be successful.

4. Collateral and Charged Property

Illiquid Collateral4.1

The Collateral may comprise or include privately placed, unlisted securities or domestic securities or 
other assets which are not admitted to any trading market and which are not readily realisable.

Credit Risk of Counterparties4.2

In certain cases, the Charged Property may not include Collateral and, as a consequence, security 
for the Securities may be limited to the claims of the Issuer against each Hedging Counterparty to 
the Hedging Agreement(s), or the counterparty to a Repurchase Agreement or other Agreement.

Country and Regional Risk4.3

The price and value of the Collateral may be influenced by the political, financial and economic 
stability of the country and/or region in which the issuer of or obligor in respect of the Collateral is 
incorporated or has its principal place of business or of the country in the currency of which the 
Collateral is denominated.  The value of securities and other assets issued by entities located in, or 
governments of, emerging market countries is generally more volatile than the value of similar assets 
issued by entities in well-developed markets.  However, in certain cases the price and value of 
assets originating from countries not ordinarily considered to be emerging markets countries may 
behave in a manner similar to those of assets originating from emerging markets countries.

5. Secondary Market

Even if the Securities are listed on the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange and admitted to 
trading on its regulated market or listed/admitted to trading on any other stock exchange, it is not 
possible to predict if and to what extent a secondary market may develop in any Securities or at what 
price any Securities will trade in the secondary market or whether such market will be liquid or 
illiquid.  In relation to each Series of Securities, if so specified in the relevant Product Conditions, 
application has been made to list or quote such Securities on the stock exchanges specified.  If such 
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Securities are so listed or quoted, no assurance is given that any such listing or quotation will be 
maintained.  The fact that any Securities may be so listed or quoted does not necessarily lead to 
greater liquidity than if they were not so listed or quoted.

If a Series of Securities is not listed or traded on any exchange, pricing information for such 
Securities may be more difficult to obtain and the liquidity of such Securities may be adversely 
affected.

The liquidity of such Securities may also be affected by restrictions on offers and sales of such 
Securities in some jurisdictions.

The Arranger may, but is not obliged to, at any time purchase Securities at any price in the open 
market or by tender or private agreement.  Any Securities so purchased may be held or resold or 
surrendered for cancellation. Since the Arranger may be the only market-maker in the Securities of a 
Series the secondary market may be limited.  The more limited the secondary market is, the more 
difficult it may be for holders of the Securities to realise value for the Securities prior to the exercise, 
expiration or maturity date.

6. Potential Conflicts of Interest

The Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and 
their respective affiliates may from time to time engage in transactions involving the Underlying for 
their proprietary accounts and for accounts under their management.  Such transactions may have a 
positive or negative effect on the value of the Underlying and consequently upon the value of the 
Securities.  In addition, the Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the 
Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may from time to time act in other capacities with 
regard to the Securities.  Furthermore, the Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase 
Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may also issue other derivative 
instruments in respect of the Underlying and the introduction of such competing products into the 
marketplace may affect the value of the Securities.

The Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and 
their respective affiliates may, in certain cases, act as market-maker for the Underlying, which might 
in particular be the case when the Arranger, such Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase 
Counterparty, the Calculation Agent or such affiliate has also issued the Underlying.  By such 
market-making, the Arranger, such Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the 
Calculation Agent or such affiliate will, to a large extent, itself determine the price of the Underlying, 
and consequently influence the value of the Securities.  The prices quoted by the Arranger, such 
Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the Calculation Agent or such affiliate in its 
market-making function will not always correspond to the prices which would have formed without 
such market-making and in a liquid market.

The Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and 
their respective affiliates may also act as underwriter in connection with future offerings of the 
Underlying or may act as financial adviser to the issuer of an Underlying or in a commercial banking 
capacity for the issuer of an Underlying.  Such activities could present certain conflicts of interest and 
may affect the value of the Securities.

The Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and 
their respective affiliates may acquire non-public information with respect to the Underlying, and 
neither the Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, the Calculation 
Agent nor any of their respective affiliates undertakes to disclose any such information to any 
Securityholder.  In addition, one or more of the Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase 
Counterparty, the Calculation Agent and their respective affiliates may publish research reports with 
respect to the Underlying.

Such activities could present conflicts of interest and may affect the value of the Securities.
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7. Option to Settle in Cash or by Physical Delivery

If so indicated in the Product Conditions, the Issuer will have the option to settle in cash or by 
physical delivery.

Prospective purchasers should review the Conditions to ascertain whether and how such provisions 
apply to the Securities.

8. Market Disruption Events

If so indicated in the Product Conditions, the Calculation Agent may determine that a Market 
Disruption Event has occurred or exists at a relevant time.  Any such determination may have an 
affect on the value of the Securities and/or may delay settlement in respect of the Securities.

Prospective purchasers should review the Product Conditions to ascertain whether and how such 
provisions apply to the Securities.

9. Cancellation of Securities

The Issuer may cancel the Securities upon the occurrence of certain adjustment events as set out in 
Product Condition 7 (Adjustment Provisions) if such Product Condition is specified in the applicable 
Product Conditions.  If the Issuer so cancels the Securities then the Issuer will pay the Early 
Termination Amount to each Securityholder, determined as provided in the Product Conditions.  
Such amount may be zero.

10. Substitution or Adjustment Provisions

An adjustment of the terms of the Securities as provided in Product Condition 7 (Adjustment 
Provisions may result in a change in the quantity, composition and/or identity of the relevant 
Underlying and may affect the value of the Securities.

11. Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Securities should be aware that they may be required to pay 
stamp taxes or other documentary charges in accordance with the laws and practices of the country 
where the Securities are transferred.  Securityholders are subject to the provisions of General 
Condition 4.4 and payment and/or delivery of any amount due in respect of the Securities will be 
conditional upon the payment of any Securityholder Expenses as provided in the Product Conditions.

Potential purchasers who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their own 
independent tax advisers.  In addition, potential purchasers should be aware that tax regulations and 
their application by the relevant taxation authorities change from time to time.  Accordingly, it is not 
possible to predict the precise tax treatment which will apply at any given time.

12. EU Savings Directive

Under European Directive 2003/48/EC (the “Directive”) on taxation of savings income Member 
States are required to provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of payments of 
interest and other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in 
another Member State, except that for a transitional period Luxembourg and Austria instead operate 
a withholding system unless during that period they elect otherwise (the ending of such transitional 
period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information 
exchange with certain other countries and territories) . The rate of withholding tax in those 
jurisdictions is 35%.  The current withholding tax system in Luxembourg under the Directive will be 
replaced with a system of an automatic exchange of information as from 1 January 2015 on the 
basis of the Luxembourg law of 25 November 2014 modifying the existing Luxembourg laws relating 
to the Directive.  As from 1 January 2015, the automatic exchange of information will apply to 
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payments of interest or similar income made or ascribed by a Luxembourg paying agent to or for the 
immediate benefit of an individual beneficial owner or a residual entity which is resident of, or 
established in, an EU Member State other than Luxembourg. Certain other jurisdictions, including 
Switzerland, have enacted equivalent legislation which imposes a withholding tax in substantially the 
same circumstances as envisaged by the Directive.  

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted an EU Council Directive amending 
and broadening the scope of the requirements described above. In particular, the changes expand 
the range of payments covered by the Directive to include certain additional types of income, and 
widen the range of recipients payments to whom are covered by the Directive, to include certain 
other types of entity and legal arrangement. Member States are required to implement national 
legislation giving effect to these changes by 01 January 2016 (which national legislation must apply 
from 01 January 2017). 

Securityholders should note that should any payment in respect of the Securities be subject to 

withholding imposed as a consequence of the Directive or under equivalent legislation, no additional 

amounts would be payable by the Issuer pursuant to the provisions of General Condition 4.4 

(Taxation) of the Securities.

B. Risks in relation to the Issuer

1. Matters of Irish Law

Not a Bank Deposit1.1

Any investment in the Securities does not have the status of a bank deposit in Ireland and is not 
within the scope of the deposit protection scheme operated by the Central Bank of Ireland.  The 
Issuer is not regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland by virtue of the issue of the Securities.

Examinership1.2

Examinership is a court procedure available under the Irish Companies (Amendment) Act, 1990, as 
amended (the “1990 Act”) to facilitate the survival of Irish companies in financial difficulties.

The Issuer, the directors of the Issuer, a contingent, prospective or actual creditor of the Issuer, or 
shareholders of the Issuer holding, at the date of presentation of the petition, not less than one-tenth 
of the voting share capital of the Issuer are each entitled to petition the court for the appointment of 
an examiner.  The examiner, once appointed, has the power to set aside contracts and 
arrangements entered into by the company after this appointment and, in certain circumstances, can 
avoid a negative pledge given by the company prior to this appointment.  Furthermore, the examiner 
may sell assets, the subject of a fixed charge.  However, if such power is exercised the examiner 
must account to the holders of the fixed charge for the amount realised and discharge the amount 
due to the holders of the fixed charge out of the proceeds of the sale.

During the period of protection, the examiner will formulate proposals for a compromise or scheme of 
arrangement to assist the survival of the company or the whole or any part of its undertaking as a 
going concern.  A scheme of arrangement may be approved by the Irish High Court when at least 
one class of creditors has voted in favour of the proposals and the Irish High Court is satisfied that 
such proposals are fair and equitable in relation to any class of members or creditors who have not 
accepted the proposals and whose interests would be impaired by implementation of the scheme of 
arrangement.

In considering proposals by the examiner, it is likely that secured and unsecured creditors would 
form separate classes of creditors.  In the case of the Issuer, if the Trustee represented the majority 
in number and value of claims within the secured creditor class (which would be likely given the 
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restrictions agreed to by the Issuer in the Conditions), the Trustee would be in a position to reject any 
proposal not in favour of the Securityholders.  The Trustee would also be entitled to argue at the Irish 
High Court hearing at which the proposed scheme of arrangement is considered that the proposals 
are unfair and inequitable in relation to the Securityholders, especially if such proposals included a 
writing down to the value of amounts due by the Issuer to the Securityholders.  The primary risks to 
the Securityholders if an examiner were appointed to the Issuer are as follows:

(a) the potential for a compromise or scheme of arrangement being approved involving the 
writing down or rescheduling of the debt due by the Issuer to the Securityholders as secured 
by the Trust Instrument;

(b) the potential for the examiner to seek to set aside any negative pledge in the Securities 
prohibiting the creation of security or the incurring of borrowings by the Issuer to enable the 
examiner to borrow to fund the Issuer during the protection period; and

(c) in the event that a scheme of arrangement is not approved and the Issuer subsequently 
goes into liquidation, the examiner's remuneration and expenses (including certain 
borrowings incurred by the examiner on behalf of the Issuer and approved by the Irish High 
Court) will take priority over the monies and liabilities which from time to time are or may 
become due, owing or payable by the Issuer to each Secured Party under the Securities or 
the transaction documents.

Preferred Creditors under Irish Law and Floating Charges1.3

Under Irish law, upon an insolvency of an Irish company such as the Issuer, when applying the 
proceeds of assets subject to fixed security which may have been realised in the course of a 
liquidation or receivership, the claims of a limited category of preferential creditors will take priority 
over the claims of creditors holding the relevant fixed security.  These preferred claims include the 
remuneration, costs and expenses properly incurred by any examiner of the company (which may 
include any borrowings made by an examiner to fund the company's requirements for the duration of 
his appointment) which have been approved by the Irish courts.  (See “Examinership” above).

The holder of a fixed security over the book debts of an Irish tax resident company (which would 
include the Issuer) may be required by the Irish Revenue Commissioners, by notice in writing from 
the Irish Revenue Commissioners, to pay to them sums equivalent to those which the holder 
received in payment of debts due to it by the company.

Where the holder of the security has given notice to the Irish Revenue Commissioners of the 
creation of the security within 21 days of its creation, the holder's liability is limited to the amount of 
certain outstanding Irish tax liabilities of the company (including liabilities in respect of value added 
tax) arising after the issuance of the Irish Revenue Commissioners' notice to the holder of fixed 
security.

The Irish Revenue Commissioners may also attach any debt due to an Irish tax resident company by 
another person in order to discharge any liabilities of the company in respect of outstanding tax 
whether the liabilities are due on its own account or as an agent or trustee.  The scope of this right of 
the Irish Revenue Commissioners has not yet been considered by the Irish courts and it may 
override the rights of holders of security (whether fixed or floating) over the debt in question.

In relation to the disposal of assets of any Irish tax resident company which are subject to security, a 
person entitled to the benefit of the security may be liable for tax in relation to any capital gains made 
by the company on a disposal of those assets on exercise of the security.

The essence of a fixed charge is that the person creating the charge does not have liberty to deal 
with the assets which are the subject matter of the security in the sense of disposing of such assets 
or expending or appropriating the moneys or claims constituting such assets and accordingly, if and 
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to the extent that such liberty is given to the Issuer any charge constituted by the Trust Instrument 
may operate as a floating, rather than a fixed charge.

In particular, the Irish courts have held that in order to create a fixed charge on receivables it is 
necessary to oblige the chargor to pay the proceeds of collection of the receivables into a designated 
bank account and to prohibit the chargor from withdrawing or otherwise dealing with the monies 
standing to the credit of such account without the consent of the chargee.

Depending upon the level of control actually exercised by the chargor, there is therefore a possibility 
that the fixed security over the Issuer's account and the Collateral would be regarded by the Irish 
courts as a floating charge.

Floating charges have certain weaknesses, including the following:

(i) they have weak priority against purchasers (who are not on notice of any negative pledge 
contained in the floating charge) and the chargees of the assets concerned and against lien 
holders, execution creditors and creditors with rights of set-off;

(ii) as discussed above, they rank after certain preferential creditors, such as claims of 
employees and certain taxes on winding-up;

(iii) they rank after certain insolvency remuneration expenses and liabilities;

(iv) the examiner of a company has certain rights to deal with the property covered by the 
floating charge; and

(v) they rank after fixed charges.

Taxation position of the Issuer1.4

The Issuer has been advised that it should fall within the Irish regime for the taxation of qualifying 
companies as set out in Section 110 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 (“Section 110”), and as 
such should be taxed only on the amount of its retained profit after deducting all amounts of interest 
and other revenue expenses due to be paid by the Issuer.  If, for any reason, the Issuer is not or 
ceases to be entitled to the benefits of Section 110, then profits or losses could arise in the Issuer 
which could have tax effects not contemplated in the cash flows connected with the Securities and 
as such could adversely affect the tax treatment of the Issuer and consequently the payments on the 
Securities.

2. Limited Recourse Obligations and Related Risks

The Securities will be direct, secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer payable solely out of 
the Charged Property secured by the Issuer in favour of the Trustee on behalf of the Securityholders 
and other secured parties.  The Issuer will have no other assets or sources of revenue available for 
payment of any of its obligations under the relevant Series of Securities.  Securityholders will have 
no right to proceed directly against the Hedging Counterparty in respect of any related Hedging 
Agreement or take title to, or possession of, the relevant Charged Property unless the Trustee, 
having become bound to do so, fails to take action against the Issuer within a reasonable time.  No 
assurance can be given that the proceeds available for and allocated to the repayment of the 
relevant Series of Securities at any particular time will be sufficient to cover all amounts that would 
otherwise be due and payable in respect of the Securities.  If the proceeds of the realisation of the 
relevant Charged Property received by the Trustee for the benefit of the relevant Securityholders 
prove insufficient to make payments on the relevant Series of Securities and the other secured 
parties, no other assets will be available for payment of the deficiency, and, following distribution of 
the proceeds of such realisation in accordance with the relevant Trust Instrument, the Issuer will 
have no further obligation to pay any amounts in respect of such deficiency.
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Further, the Trustee and the Securityholders will not be entitled at any time to petition or take any 
other step for the winding-up of, or the appointment of an examiner to, the Issuer provided that the 
Trustee may prove or lodge a claim in the liquidation of the Issuer initiated by another party.  No 
person other than the Issuer will be obliged to make payments on the Securities.

Securityholders should be aware that there are a number of risks associated with the purchase of the 
Securities, including the risk that the Issuer may become subject to claims or other liabilities (whether 
in respect of the Securities or otherwise) which are not themselves subject to limited recourse or 
non-petition provisions as set out above.

3. Further Issues of Securities by the Issuer

Further Securities may be issued subject to the provisions of General Condition 14.

THE CONSIDERATIONS SET OUT ABOVE ARE NOT, AND ARE NOT INTENDED TO BE, A 
COMPREHENSIVE LIST OF ALL CONSIDERATIONS RELEVANT TO A DECISION TO 
PURCHASE OR HOLD ANY SECURITIES.
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PART B

OVERVIEW SECTION
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OVERVIEW RELATING TO SERIES 3 USD5,000,000 SECURED NOTES LINKED TO EQUITY INDICES
DUE 2021

Legal and commercial 
name of the Issuer

dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc

Domicile/ legal form/ 
legislation/ country of 
incorporation

The Issuer is domiciled in Dublin, Ireland (for which purposes "domiciled in 
Dublin, Ireland" means that the registered office of the Issuer is at 6

th
Floor, 

Pinnacle 2, Eastpoint Business Park, Dublin 3, Ireland) and is incorporated as 
a public limited company under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2012 in Ireland.

Ownership of the Issuer The Issuer has issued 38,100 Shares, all of which are fully paid and held either
directly or indirectly by three charitable trust companies, Badb Charitable Trust
Limited, Medb Charitable Trust Limited and Eurydice Charitable Trust Limited
(the “Charitable Trusts”), on trust for charitable purposes. Each of Badb
Charitable Trust Limited and Medb Charitable Trust Limited directly hold 12,699
Shares. Eurydice Charitable Trust Limited directly holds 12,698 Shares. Each
of Christian Donagh, Shay Lydon, Philip Lovegrove and Shane Hogan hold one
Share on trust for the Charitable Trusts, which in turn hold such Shares on trust
for charitable purposes. Such holders have no beneficial interest in and derive no
benefit (other than, in the case of the Charitable Trusts, any fees for acting as
Share trustee) from their holding of the Shares.

Solicited credit ratings Not applicable, no credit rating of the Issuer or the Securities has been 
assigned at the request or with the co-operation of the Issuer.

Statement as to 
whether the Issuer has 
been established for the 
purpose of issuing 
asset backed securities

The Issuer is established in Ireland as a special purpose vehicle for the 
purpose, inter alia, of issuing asset backed securities.

Issuer's principal 
business activities

The Issuer's business is the issue of securities based on investor demand and 
earning fees in connection with such activity. 

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch (which is the London branch of Deutsche 
Bank Aktiengesellschaft) is the Arranger, Hedging Counterparty, Principal 
Agent, Custodian, Paying Agent and Calculation Agent and Deutsche Trustee 
Company Limited is the Trustee(each such entity a “Programme Party”).  
Deutsche Trustee Company Limited is directly or indirectly a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft.

Each Programme Party’s relationship with the Issuer is to act in its respective 
capacity described above.

Statement regarding 
non-commencement of 
operations and no 
financial statements 

Since the date of its incorporation, the Issuer has commenced operations and
has produced a half annual financial statement for the period 17 February 2014 to 
16 August 2014.

Selected historical key 
financial information of 
the Issuer

Not applicable.



30 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

Description of any 
material adverse 
change since the date 
of the Issuer's last 
published audited 
financial statements

Not applicable.

Description of the 
underlying assets

The Charged Property in respect of the Securities comprises, inter alia, the 
Issuer's rights in respect of the Hedging Agreement and the Collateral.

On 16 December 2014 (the “Issue Date”), the Collateral in respect of the 
Securities on issue will comprise USD5,000,000 of the USD 750,000,000 6.125 
per cent. Notes due 2021 (ISIN: XS0602546136) issued by the Republic of 
Lithuania (the “Collateral Obligor”).

The Collateral bears interest at a rate of 6.125 per cent. per annum. The Issuer 
will use the proceeds from the issue of the Securities to purchase the 
Collateral.

On the Issue Date, the ratio between the nominal amount of Collateral and the 
principal amount of the Securities is 1/1.

The Republic of Lithuania is a sovereign country in Northern Europe.

The Issuer will enter into an asset swap agreement (the “Hedging 
Agreement”) with Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch (the “Hedging 
Counterparty”) the purpose of which is to allow the Issuer to perform its 
scheduled obligations under the terms of the Securities. The Hedging 
Agreement will be a limited recourse obligation of the Issuer.

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft is a banking and financial services 
institution.

Parameters within
which investments in 
respect of an actively 
managed pool of assets 
backing the issue

Not applicable, there is no actively managed pool of assets backing the issue.

Statement regarding 
fungible issues

The Issuer may from time to time issue further Securities on the same terms as 
the existing Securities and on terms that such further Securities shall be 
consolidated and form a single series with such existing Securities; provided 
that, unless otherwise approved by a resolution of holders of a minimum
nominal amount of the Securities, the Issuer shall provide additional assets as 
security for such further Securities and existing Securities.

Description of the 
structure of the 
transaction

No Interest is payable in respect of the Securities.

On the Maturity Date, the Redemption Amount of the Notes shall be not less 
than the Calculation Amount. Subject as provided herein, the Redemption 
Amount shall be linked to the performance of the weighted average 
performance of a baset of indices, comprised of the Hong Kong Hang Seng 
Index. The Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index and the S&P/ASX 200 
Index (each an “Index” and together the “Indices”). Information in respect of 
the Index is set out below.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each nominal 
amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount (as defined in C.18 
below) will be redeemed on the Maturity Date as follows:

(a) if an Index Event has not occurred, at an amount equal to (i) the Calculation 
Amount; and (ii) the product of (I) the Calculation Amount, (II) the Participation 
Factor and (III) the greater of zero or the Index Return (all defined in C.18 
below); or

(b) if an Index Event has occurred, at the Calculation Amount.

The Securities may be subject to cancellation on an early termination of the 
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Hedging Agreement, a Collateral Default Event, a Collateral early redemption, 
a Regulatory Event or an Event of Default (all as described in C.18 below).

Under the Hedging Agreement, (a) initially the Issuer shall pay to the Hedging 
Counterparty the proceeds of issue of the Securities in exchange for the 
Collateral, (b) the Hedging Counterparty shall pay an amount sufficient to fund 
certain redemption or termination amounts or the Index Event Amount (as 
defined in C.18 below) due under the Securities to the Issuer and (c) the Issuer 
shall deliver the Collateral (or the proceeds of redemption thereof) to the 
Hedging Counterparty

Description of 
cashflows and 
information on the 
Hedging Counterparty

See above for information on cashflows.

The Hedging Counterparty is Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, whose 
business is banking and financial services and which is incorporated in 
Germany.

Name and a description 
of the originators of 
securitised assets

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, in respect of the Hedging Agreement and
the Republic of Lithuania in respect of the Collateral. See above for a 
description of these entities.

Description of 
Securities/ISIN

Index Linked Redemption Secured Notes.

ISIN: XS1150782750

Common Code: 115078275

The International Securities Identification Number (“ISIN”) uniquely identifies 
the Securities.

Currency The Securities will be denominated in U.S. Dollars (“USD”).

Restrictions on 
transferability

Void transfer or other disposition and forced transfer

Any transfer or other disposition of any legal or beneficial ownership or interest 
in a Security to a Non-Permitted Transferee or a Benefit Plan Investor shall be 
deemed to be void ab initio, with the result that such transfer or other 
disposition will be of no legal effect whatsoever.  Accordingly, any purported 
transferee of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security in such a 
transaction will not be entitled to any rights as a legal or beneficial owner of
such interest in such Security.

At any time after becoming aware that any legal or beneficial ownership 
interest in a Security is held by a Non-Permitted Transferee, the Issuer shall 
have the right to require such Non-Permitted Transferee to sell such interest to 
(a) an Affiliate of the Issuer (to the extent permitted by applicable law)  or (b) a 
person who is not a Non-Permitted Transferee, in each case, at a price equal 
to the lesser of (x) the purchase price paid for such interest by such Non-
Permitted Transferee, (y) the principal amount of such interest and (z) the fair 
market value of such interest, less any costs or expenses incurred by or on 
behalf of the Issuer in connection with such sale.

Where:

“Benefit Plan Investor” means:

(a) an employee benefit plan (as defined in section 3(3) of the US 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, (“ERISA”)), 
whether or not subject to ERISA; 

(b) a plan described in section 4975(e)(1) of the US Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986, as amended; or 

(c) an entity whose underlying assets include plan assets by reason of a 
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plan's investment in the entity under US Department of Labor Regulations § 
2510.3-101 (29 c.f.r. § 2510.3-101).

“Non-Permitted Transferee” means:

(a) a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S of the 
Securities Act; or

(b) a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the 
purposes of the Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended, or any rule, 
guidance or order proposed or issued by the Commodity Futures Trading 
Commission (the “CFTC”) thereunder (including but not limited to any person 
who is not a “Non-United States person” under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv) 
(excluding for purposes of CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv)(D) the exception for 
qualified eligible persons who are not “Non-United States persons”)).

Rights attaching to the 
Securities

The Securities will have terms and conditions relating to, among other matters:

Status and Security

The Securities will represent secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer, 
ranking pari passu without any preference among themselves.

The Securities will be secured by:

(1) a first fixed charge and/or an assignment by way of first fixed charge in 
favour of Deutsche Trustee Company Limited as trustee (the 
“Trustee”) over the Collateral and all of the Issuer's rights in respect of 
and sums derived from the Collateral (including, without limitation, the 
proceeds of sale thereof), and an assignment by way of a first fixed 
charge in favour of the Trustee of all of the Issuer's rights in respect of 
the Collateral against the Custodian;

(2) an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all 
of the Issuer's rights, title and interest under the Hedging Agreement 
and any sums of money, securities or other property received or 
receivable by the Issuer thereunder;

(3) a first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee over (i) the Issuer's right to 
all sums held by the Principal Agent and/or any Paying Agent and/or 
the Custodian to meet payments due in respect of the Securities and 
(ii) any sums of money, securities or other property received or 
receivable by the Issuer under the Hedging Agreement; and

(4) an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all 
of the Issuer's rights, title and interest under the Agency Agreement 
and all sums derived therefrom in respect of the Securities.

Limited Recourse and Non-Petition

Claims against the Issuer by Securityholders and the Hedging Counterparty 
and each Secured Party (as defined below) will be limited to the Charged 
Property.  If the net proceeds of the enforcement of the Charged Property are 
not sufficient to make all payments due in respect of the Securities and due to 
the Hedging Counterparty and each Secured Party, no other assets of the 
Issuer will be available to meet such shortfall and the claims of the holders of 
the Securities and such Hedging Counterparty or Secured Party in respect of 
any such shortfall shall be extinguished and no party will be able to petition for 
the winding-up of, or the appointment of an examiner to, the Issuer as a 
consequence of any such shortfall.

Order of Priorities

The respective rankings for priority of the interests of the holders of the 
Securities and of the Hedging Counterparty and each other party entitled to the 
benefit of the first fixed charge and/or assignment described above (each a 
“Secured Party”) in the proceeds of such first fixed charge and/or assignment 



33 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

shall be as follows: all such proceeds shall be applied first in payment of all 
amounts outstanding to the Trustee (including all its fees, costs, charges, 
expenses and liabilities), secondly in payment of any amounts owing to the 
Hedging Counterparty, thirdly pro rata in payment of any amounts outstanding 
to the Securityholders and fourthly in respect of any balance to the Issuer.

Negative Pledge/Restrictions

There is no negative pledge.  However, so long as any of the Securities 
remains outstanding, the Issuer will not, without the prior written consent of the 
Trustee and the Hedging Counterparty incur any indebtedness for moneys 
borrowed or raised other than in respect of secured securities or debt subject to 
equivalent enforcement and limited recourse provisions to the Securities, 
engage in any activity other than certain activities related to the Securities or 
such permitted securities or debt, have any subsidiaries or employees, 
purchase, own or otherwise acquire any real property (other than by entering 
into a lease in respect of office premises, on a strictly limited recourse basis) or 
consolidate or merge with any other person or issue any shares.

Withholding Tax – Securities

All payments by the Issuer in respect of the Securities shall be made subject to 
any withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any applicable taxation.

Withholding Tax - Hedging Agreements

Neither the Issuer nor the Hedging Counterparty is obliged under the Hedging 
Agreement to gross up payments to be made by it to the other if withholding 
taxes are imposed on such payments, but the Hedging Agreement may be 
terminated in such event.

Events of Default

The terms of the Securities will contain the following events of default:

(a) default for a period of 14 days or more in the payment of any sum due in 
respect of the Securities or any of them; or

(b) failure by the Issuer to perform or observe any of its other obligations 
under the Securities or the Trust Instrument, in certain cases continuing 
for a specified period of time; or

(c) events relating to the winding-up or dissolution of the Issuer or 
appointment of an administrator; or

(d) the appointment of an examiner in respect of the Issuer.  

Meetings

The conditions of the Securities will contain provisions for convening meetings 
of Securityholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally.  These 
provisions permit defined majorities to bind all holders, including holders who 
did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and holders who voted in a 
manner contrary to the majority.

Representative of Securityholders

The Trustee will act as trustee for the Securityholders.  The Trustee may, 
without the consent of the Securityholders but only with the prior written 
consent of the Hedging Counterparty agree to any modification to the Trust 
Instrument, the Hedging Agreement or any other agreement or document 
entered into in relation to the Securities (i) which is of a formal, minor or 
technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or an error which is, in 
the opinion of the Trustee, proven, (ii)  which in the opinion of the Trustee is not 
materially prejudicial to the interests of the Securityholders or (iii) which is 
made to satisfy any requirement of any stock exchange on which the Securities 
are or are proposed to be, listed and which is not in the opinion of the Trustee 
materially prejudicial to the interests of the Securityholders.



34 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

Governing Law

English law.

Interest/Redemption See above for information on rights attaching to the Securities.

Interest

No Interest is payable in respect of the Securities.

Yield

Not Applicable. The Notes do not bear interest.

Maturity Date

The Maturity Date is 9 March 2021 (the “Scheduled Maturity Date”), subject to 
postponement as described in “Maturity Date Postponement” below.

Maturity Date Postponement

If the Calculation Agent determines that a Potential Collateral Default Event 
has occurred and is continuing as of the Scheduled Maturity Date, the 
Scheduled Maturity Date will be postponed until the first date on which in the 
determination of the Calculation Agent the event the subject of the Potential 
Collateral Default Event either could constitute a Collateral Default Event (as 
defined in “Collateral Default Event” below) or could not in the passing of time 
constitute a Collateral Default Event. In no circumstances shall any interest or 
other amount be payable in respect of such delay.  

“Potential Collateral Default Event” means an event which, with the passing 
of time, could constitute a Collateral Default Event.

Redemption

Maturity

On the Maturity Date, the Redemption Amount of the Notes shall be not less 
than the Calculation Amount. Subject as provided herein, the Redemption 
Amount shall be linked to the performance of a basket of indices comprised of
the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index, the Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index 
and the S&P/ASX 200 Index. Information relating to the underlying indices may 
be found on internationally recognised, published or electronically displayed 
sources (including but not limited to Bloomberg) and Hang Seng Data Services 
Limited’s website (http://www.hsi.com.hk/), Korea Exchange’s website 
(http://eng.krx.co.kr/) and S&P Dow Jones Indices LLP’s website 
(http://us.spindices.com/).

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each nominal 
amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount will be redeemed as 
follows:

(a) if the Weighted Initial Reference Level (as defined below) on 2 December 
2014 is greater than the Weighted Closing Reference Level on the Observation 
Dates (as defined below) or an Index Event has occurred, at the Calculation 
Amount; or

(b) if the Weighted Initial Reference Level on 2 December 2014 is lower than 
the Weighted Closing Reference Level on the Observation Dates, and an Index 
Event has not occurred, at an amount equal to (i) the Calculation Amount; and 
(ii) the product of (I) the Calculation Amount, (II) the Participation Factor (as 

http://www.hsi.com.hk/
http://eng.krx.co.kr/
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defined below) and (III) the greater of zero or the Index Return. Such amount 
will be greater than the Calculation Amount and will depend upon how much 
the Weighted Closing Reference Level on the Observation Dates has risen 
above the Weighted Initial Reference Level on 2 December 2014. The Index 
Return is multiplied by a Participation Factor and therefore the amount payable 
on redemption shall not reflect the entirety of the positive performance of the 
Index

The Calculation Agent may determine the level of any Index in its discretion 
upon the occurrence of certain events including but not limited to the following 
(i) if the Issue Date or the Observation Dates, and each of the eight 
consecutive Scheduled Trading Days (as defined below) thereafter is a 
Disrupted Day (as defined below), (ii) an event occurs with respect to any of 
the Indices which, in the Calculation Agent’s opinion, is a disruption of the 
relevant Index, or a modification of the formula or the method of calculation of 
the relevant Index or other material modification to the relevant Index, or (iii) 
any of the events outlined in (iii) or (iv) of “Index Event” below occurs.

In the event that any relevant level of the Indices published by the relevant 
index sponsor on any date which is utilised for any calculation or determination 
in connection with the Securities is subsequently corrected and the correction 
is published by the relevant index sponsor within the specified time, then the 
Calculation Agent may determine the amount that is payable or deliverable or 
make any determination in connection with the Securities, after taking into 
account such correction, and, to the extent necessary, may adjust any relevant 
terms of the Securities to account for such correction.

“Calculation Amount” means USD1,000,000;

“Closing Reference Level” means in respect of each Index the average of 
each Index Level as observed on the Reference Dates scheduled to fall on the 
Observation Dates;

"Disrupted Day" means, any Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Index 
on which (i) the relevant Index Sponsor fails to publish the level of the relevant 
Index (provided that the Calculation Agent may, in its discretion, determine that 
such event instead results in a disruption of the Index (as set out in “Index 
Event” below)), (ii) any related exchange fails to open for trading during its 
regular trading session or (iii) a market disruption event has occurred;

"Index Level" means, on any day in respect of an Index, the official closing 
level of such Index as of the Valuation Time on or in respect of the relevant day 
as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor or as otherwise determined 
by the Calculation Agent;

“Index Return” means the Weighted Closing Reference Level divided by the 
Weighted Initial Reference Level, minus one; 

“Initial Reference Level” means the Index Level on 2 December 2014 subject 
to adjustment;

"Initial Valuation Date" means 2 December 2014, provided that if such date is 
not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of an Index, the next following 
Scheduled Day in respect of the Index;

“Observation Dates” means 23 February 2020, 23 May 2020, 23 August 2020, 
23 November 2020 and 23 February 2021, provided that if such date is not a 
Scheduled Trading Day in respect of an Index, the next following Scheduled 
Day in respect of the Index; and

“Participation Factor” means 0.85.

"Reference Date" means the Initial Valuation Date or each Observation Date”.

“Weighted Closing Reference Level” means the weighted average of the 
Closing Reference Level of each of the Indices.

“Weighted Initial Reference Level” means the weighted average of the Initial
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Reference Level of each of the Indices.

Index Event

If (i) an event occurs with respect to an Index which, in the Calculation Agent’s 
opinion, is a disruption of the Index, or a modification of the formula or the 
method of calculation of any Index or other material modification to an Index 
and the Calculation Agent determines, in its reasonable commercial discretion, 
that it is not reasonably practicable (taking into account the costs involved) to 
calculate or continue to calculate the Index and that there is not an index or 
basket of indices comparable to the relevant Index to rebase the Securities 
against, and/or that such actions would not achieve a commercially reasonable 
result; or (ii) an event occurs with respect to an Index which, in the Calculation 
Agent’s opinion is a cancellation of the Index; or (iii) an event occurs which, in 
the Calculation Agent’s opinion, is a change of law which has or will result in it 
becoming illegal for the Hedging Counterparty or any of its affiliates to hold, 
acquire or dispose of any component of the Index and the Calculation Agent so 
elects; or (iv) an event occurs which, in the Calculation Agent’s opinion, is a 
hedging disruption which will mean that the Hedging Counterparty is unable, 
after using commercially reasonable efforts, to (a) acquire, establish, re-
establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or 
asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the price risk of the Issuer issuing and 
the Issuer performing its obligations with respect to or in connection with the 
Securities, or (b) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of any such 
transaction(s) or asset(s), and the Calculation Agent so elects (each such 
event, an “Index Event”); the Issuer shall pay the Index Event Amount (if any) 
in respect of each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation 
Amount on the day falling 10 Business Days following such election. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Index Event Amount may be zero.

”Index Event Amount” means an amount in USD equal to the gain (if any) by 
the Issuer  (expressed as a positive amount), that would be realised, in 
replacing or in providing for the Issuer the economic equivalent of the material 
terms of the Index Event Hedging Agreement, including the payments and 
deliveries by the parties under the Index Event Hedging Agreement that would, 
but for the occurrence of the relevant Index Event, have been required on or 
after the date that the Index Event Hedging Agreement is deemed to have 
been terminated or cancelled (assuming satisfaction of any applicable 
conditions precedent of the Index Event Hedging Agreement), as determined 
by the Calculation Agent in its reasonable commercial discretion.

“Index Event Hedging Agreement” means, for the purposes of the definition 
of Index Event Amount only, a notional hedging arrangement that shall be 
deemed to have been entered into by the Hedging Counterparty and the Issuer 
on the same terms as the Hedging Agreement, except that the only payment 
due under the Index Event Hedging Agreement shall be a payment from the 
Hedging Counterparty to the Issuer on the Maturity Date which shall be an 
amount calculated as follows: 

An amount equal to the greater of:

(a) zero; and 

(b) an amount equal to:

(i) the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities outstanding multiplied 
by the Index Return, minus 

(ii) the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities outstanding.

The Index Event Hedging Agreement shall be deemed to be terminated 
following the occurrence of the relevant Index Event.

"Scheduled Trading Day" means, (a) in respect of any Index, any day on 
which (i) the relevant Index Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the 
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relevant Index and (ii) the related exchange for the Index is scheduled to be 
open for trading for its regular trading session, and (b) in respect of any 
component of any Index, any day on which the relevant exchange referenced 
by the relevant Index and the relevant related exchange for such component 
are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading 
sessions.

Early Cancellation of the Securities

The Securities may be cancelled early in a number of circumstances.

(A) Early termination of the Hedging Agreement

If there is an early termination of the Hedging Agreement, then the Securities 
shall be cancelled and the Issuer shall pay the Early Termination Amount (if 
any) in respect of each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation 
Amount as described below.  The Hedging Agreement may be terminated in a 
number of circumstances, for example (i) if the Securities are cancelled prior to 
the Maturity Date, (ii) at the option of one party, if there is a failure by the other 
party to pay any amounts due under the Hedging Agreement, (iii) in certain 
circumstances if withholding taxes are imposed on payments under the 
Hedging Agreement or it becomes illegal for either party to perform its 
obligations under the Hedging Agreement, (iv) if the implementation or 
adoption of or change in any applicable law or regulation, or the interpretation 
or administration of any applicable law or regulation or the Hedging 
Counterparty anticipates the imminent occurrence of such circumstances, the 
effect of which is that it is or will be unlawful, impossible or impracticable for 
either the Hedging Counterparty or the Issuer to maintain or carry out the 
transaction or any activity contemplated by the transaction under the Hedging 
Agreement, or that compliance with the foregoing will result in materially 
increased costs for either the Hedging Counterparty or the Issuer, and (v) upon 
the occurrence of certain other events with respect to either party and the 
Hedging Agreement, including insolvency. 

(B) Collateral Default Event

If (i) under the terms of the Collateral as at the Issue Date, a default, event of 
default or other similar event or circumstance has occurred under the Collateral 
(howsoever described and including, without limitation, a failure to pay any 
principal when and where due in accordance with the terms of the Collateral as 
at the Issue Date) and the Collateral is capable of being accelerated or (ii) the 
terms of the Collateral are restructured and/or amended (whether by operation 
of law or otherwise) such that the principal and/or any other amounts payable 
thereunder is reduced and/or postponed and/or the priority of payments and/or 
the maturity date thereunder is amended (a “Collateral Default Event”), the 
Securities shall be cancelled and the Issuer shall pay the Early Termination 
Amount (if any) in respect of each nominal amount of Securities equal to the 
Calculation Amount.

(C) Collateral early redemption

If the Collateral is redeemed prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date for any 
reason other than a Collateral Default Event, the Securities shall be cancelled 
and the Issuer shall pay the Early Termination Amount (if any) in respect of 
each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount.

In any such case of early cancellation described in (A), (B) or (C) above the 
Issuer shall give not more than 30 Business Days' nor less than 10 Business 
Days' notice of the date fixed for cancellation and on expiry of such notice shall 
cancel all outstanding Securities.  

Accordingly if any such notice period would not expire on or prior to the 
Maturity Date, the date fixed for cancellation will fall after the Maturity Date.

(D) Event of Default

If an Event of Default occurs (as described above), then the Securities shall be 
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cancelled and the Issuer shall pay the Early Termination Amount (if any) in 
respect of each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount. 

Early Termination Amount 

(I) The Early Termination Amount (if any) due in respect of each nominal 
amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount following the occurrence 
of an Event of Default, an early termination of the Hedging Agreement, or a 
Collateral Default Event, shall be an amount equal to such Securities' pro rata
share of an amount in EUR (which may never be less than zero) determined by 
the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:

 BA 

Where:

“A” is the Market Value Collateral; and

“B” is the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

(II) The Early Termination Amount (if any) due in respect of each nominal 
amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount following an early 
redemption of the Collateral (other than due to a Collateral Default Event) shall 
be an amount in EUR (which may never be less than zero) determined by the 
Calculation Agent equal to such Securities' pro rata share of the proceeds of 
redemption of the Collateral, less the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

Holders of the Securities should note however that following, amongst other 
events, the occurrence of an early termination of the Hedging Agreement or a 
Collateral Default Event the security will become enforceable and the 
aggregate of all sums secured on the Charged Property in priority to the claims 
of the Securityholders may represent a considerable portion of the proceeds of 
realisation of the Collateral.

For these purposes:

“Collateral Currency” means the currency in which the Collateral is 
denominated;

“Early Redemption Unwind Costs” means the sum (the result of which may 
be positive, negative or zero) of:

(a) an amount, if any, determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the 
gain or loss realised by the Hedging Counterparty upon an unwind of 
the Hedging Agreement (expressed as a negative amount if a gain, 
and as a positive amount otherwise), taking into account (i) the sum of 
(without duplication) all amounts, costs, expenses (including loss of 
funding), tax and duties incurred by or payable to the Hedging 
Counterparty and (ii) the redemption of the Securities and the related 
termination, settlement or re-establishment of any hedge or related 
trading position (but, for the avoidance of doubt in determining any 
such gain or loss, the obligation of the Hedging Counterparty under the 
Hedging Agreement to make payment of the aggregate Early 
Termination Amounts and any obligation of the Issuer under the 
Hedging Agreement to deliver the Collateral in connection with the 
early termination shall be disregarded), and with (i) and (ii) above to be 
determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole and absolute discretion 
by reference to such factors as it sees fit, including, without limitation, 
hedging arrangements, unwind and termination costs, commissions, 
fees and any arrangements entered into with third parties as well as:

(A) market variables including interest rates and implied 
volatility; and

(B) costs to the Hedging Counterparty of unwinding any 
underlying related hedging arrangements; and (without 
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duplication)

(b) (expressed as a positive amount) any legal and other ancillary costs 
(including if applicable, without limitation, any costs in relation to the 
realisation of the Collateral) incurred by the Issuer, the Trustee, the 
Custodian or the Hedging Counterparty as a result of the Securities 
becoming subject to mandatory cancellation under General Condition 
5.1, General Condition 5.2 or following an Event of Default, an early 
termination of the Hedging Agreement or a Regulatory Event;

“Early Termination Valuation Date” means:

(a) for the purposes of a cancellation under General Condition 5.1 
(Mandatory Cancellation) or General Condition 5.2 (Cancellation for 
other reasons), the Business Day immediately preceding the due date 
for cancellation; or

(b) for the purposes of a cancellation under General Condition 10 (Events 
of Default), the due date for cancellation;

“Market Value Collateral” means an amount in the Collateral Currency 
calculated by the Calculation Agent equal to the highest firm bid quotation 
obtained by the Calculation Agent from the Reference Dealers for the Collateral 
on the relevant Early Termination Valuation Date, PROVIDED THAT if no firm 
bid quotation is obtained, the Market Value Collateral shall be calculated by the 
Calculation Agent in good faith and may in certain circumstances be zero.

The Calculation Agent shall attempt to obtain firm bid quotations to establish 
the Market Value Collateral from at least five Reference Dealers; and

“Reference Dealers” means leading dealers, banks or banking corporations, 
which deal in obligations of the type of the Collateral selected by the 
Calculation Agent, one of which may be Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

Minimum denomination The Nominal Amount will be USD1,000,000.

Market of Trading Admission to Trading

Application will be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Securities to be 
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange.

Key risks regarding the 
Issuer

There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its 
obligations under the Securities and in purchasing the Securities investors 
assume the risk of these.  It is not possible to identify all such factors or to 
determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not be 
aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it may currently deem not 
to be material may become material as a result of the occurrence of events 
outside the Issuer's control.  These factors could take effect individually or 
together and include matters of Irish law (such as an investment in the 
Securities not being within the scope of the deposit protection scheme 
operated by the Central Bank of Ireland, any examiner appointed to the Issuer 
seeking to set aside the restrictions on borrowing under the Securities to 
enable the examiner to borrow to fund the Issuer, a compromise or scheme of 
arrangement proposed by an examiner being approved which writes down or 
reschedules the debt due by the Issuer under the Securities, the remuneration 
and expenses of any examiner and the claims of other preferential creditors of 
the Issuer being met in priority to claims of Securityholders in the event of a 
liquidation of the Issuer, fixed charges in relation to the Charged Property being 
recharacterised as floating charges, weaknesses in floating charges and the 
Issuer's tax position adversely affecting cash flows in connection with the 
Securities), the Securities being limited recourse obligations (meaning that 
Securityholders’ claims may be extinguished if there is a shortfall in funds 
available to meet payments under the Securities) and related risks, that neither 
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the Trustee nor Securityholders are entitled to petition or take any other step 
for the winding-up of or the appointment of an examiner to the Issuer and 
further issues of Securities by the Issuer.  

Key risks regarding the 
Securities

There are also certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing 
the risks associated with Securities.  These include the fact that such 
Securities may not be a suitable investment for all investors (for example if they 
do not have the requisite knowledge and experience in financial and business 
matters to evaluate the merits and risks of an investment in the Issuer in 
context of their financial position or are not capable of bearing the economic 
risk of an investment in the Issuer for an indefinite period of time), the Hedging 
Agreement (for example its possible early termination in various circumstances 
which would result in the cancellation of the Securities) and the related credit 
exposure to the Hedging Counterparty, credit exposure to the Collateral 
Obligor and the eurozone (as this will affect the value of the Collateral held as 
security for the Securities and by reference to which amounts payable under 
the Securities may be calculated), early cancellation of the Securities (including 
for early termination of the Hedging Agreement, Collateral Default Event and/or 
restructuring and/or amendment, Collateral early redemption and Issuer event 
of default) which may lead to a loss of investment, potential postponement of 
the maturity date of the Securities, fluctuations and decreases in the market 
value of the Securities and the market value of the Collateral which will also 
affect the value of the Securities and the amounts paid on any cancellation of 
the Securities, amounts payable by the Issuer to the Hedging Counterparty 
under the Hedging Agreement will include an option premium which will 
significantly reduce the amounts payable to Securityholders under the Notes, 
although the nominal amount of the Collateral may exceed the nominal amount 
of the Notes, at no time shall the Collateral comprising security for the Notes 
exceed the Aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes, the Indices used to 
calculate the Redemption Amount payable on the Maturity Date in respect of 
the Securities will fluctuate and may fall and the Redemption Amount will 
therefore be affected by the performance of the Indices and consequently the 
performance of the components of each Index, that the Redemption Amount 
will be limited to the Calculation Amount if an Index Event occurs, that if a 
Collateral Default Event occurs the performance of the Indices will have no 
effect upon the amount (if any) payable in respect of each Security on 
cancellation, that the Scheduled Maturity Date may be postponed, that the 
level of the Indices used to calculate the Redemption Amount is subject to a 
Participation Factor and therefore the Redemption Amount shall not reflect the 
entirety of the positive performance of each Index, that payments to 
Securityholders under the Securities will be made only after payments due to 
other transaction parties have been met in particular the payments of amounts 
to the Hedging Counterparty under the Hedging Agreement shall have priority 
over amounts payable to Securityholders, tax risks (for example that all 
payments in respect of the Securities will be made subject to any withholding 
or deduction for taxes and that the Issuer and other non-US financial 
institutions through which payments on the Securities are made may be 
required to withhold amounts pursuant to the U.S. Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act), that no secondary market exists for the Securities (meaning 
that investors may not be able to realise their investment prior to maturity and 
business relationships between the parties to the Securities and conflicts of 
interest which may adversely affect the value of the Securities).

All payments in respect of the Securities will be subject in all cases to (i) any 
applicable fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives and (ii) any 
withholding or deduction required pursuant to FATCA or to an agreement 
described in Section 1471(b) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 
1986 or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the 
Code and any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official 
interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental 
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approach thereto (a “FATCA Withholding”). 

The Issuer shall not be liable for or otherwise obliged to pay, and the relevant 
Securityholder shall be liable for and/or pay, any tax, duty, charge, withholding 
or other payment whatsoever which may arise as a result of, or in connection 
with, the ownership, any transfer and/or any payment in respect of the 
Instruments, including without limitation pursuant to FATCA.  The Issuer shall 
have the right, but shall not be obliged (unless obliged under FATCA or other 
law), to withhold or deduct from any amount payable to the Securityholder, 
such amount or portion as shall be necessary to account for or to pay any such 
tax, duty, charge, withholding or other payment.
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PART C

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES SECTION

INVESTORS SHOULD NOTE THAT THIS GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES SECTION 
CONTAINS AN OVERVIEW OF, AND IS THEREFORE SUBJECT TO AND QUALIFIED ENTIRELY BY, 
THE PRODUCT CONDITIONS AND THE GENERAL CONDITIONS AS SET OUT IN THIS PROSPECTUS.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

This section provides a brief general description of the terms and conditions of the Securities.  It briefly 
describes a number of features of the Securities but does not set out in full these features of the Securities.  
In addition there are aspects of the Securities to which this general description of the terms and conditions of 
the Securities does not refer.  Investors should therefore not rely on this general description of the terms and 
conditions of the Securities but should rely only on the full terms and conditions of the Securities as set out in 
the Prospectus (see the Product Conditions and the General Conditions).

Nature of the Securities

The Securities are debt obligations of dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc (the “Issuer”).  The Securities provide 
exposure, amongst other things, to each of the credit risk of the Issuer, the Hedging Counterparty and the 
Collateral.  This section provides a brief description of how each of these risks operate, as each will affect 
whether interest and principal is paid to investors, and of the structure of the Securities.  Having reviewed 
this section, investors should also refer to the “Risk Factors” sections above.

Nature of the Issuer

The Issuer, dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc, is a special purpose vehicle established for the purpose, inter alia, of 
issuing financial products, including the Securities.

Security

The money raised by the Issuer from the initial sale of the Securities will be used by the Issuer to purchase 
$5,000,000 of the $750,000,000 6.125 per cent. Notes due 2021 (ISIN: XS0602546136) issued by the 
Republic of Lithuania (the “Collateral”) which will be secured in favour of the Trustee on behalf of 
Securityholders. The collateral, together with the Issuer's rights under the Hedging Agreement described 
below, are referred to as “Charged Property”.  Where some of the Charged Property comprises collateral, 
Securityholders bear the risk of a decline in the value of that Collateral.  This is because, where the 
Securities are cancelled early, in certain circumstances the amount payable on cancellation may be 
calculated by reference to (amongst other things) the market value of the Collateral and, if the value of the 
Collateral has declined since the date of purchase, the amounts due to Securityholders on cancellation will 
be less than the original nominal amount of their Securities.  Under the Hedging Agreement, amounts 
payable to the Hedging Counterparty by the Issuer shall be payable in priority to amounts payable to 
Securityholders.

The Charged Property will be secured in favour of the Trustee on behalf of Securityholders and will be the 
only assets of the Issuer available to meet the claims of the holders of the Securities.  Therefore, 
Securityholders bear the risk of a default or decline in value of the Collateral and a default by Deutsche Bank 
AG, London Branch as custodian of the Collateral and any amounts received on its redemption.

Hedging Agreement

On or prior to the Issue Date the Issuer will enter into an asset swap agreement (the “Hedging Agreement”) 
with Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch (the “Hedging Counterparty”).

The principal purpose of the Hedging Agreement is to ensure that, prior to any early cancellation of the 
Securities, the income expected to be received by the Issuer from any Collateral is exchanged for an income 
that matches the amounts to be paid under the Securities.

Interest

No Interest is payable in respect of the Securities. 



44 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

Redemption at Maturity

On the Maturity Date, the Redemption Amount of the Notes shall be not less than the Calculation Amount. 
Subject as provided herein, the Redemption Amount shall be linked to the performance of a basket of indices 
constituted by the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index, the Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index and the 
S&P/ASX 200 Index (each an “Index” and collectively the “Indices”).

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Security will be redeemed on the Maturity 
Date at an amount equal to (a) the Calculation Amount; and (b) the product of (I) the Calculation Amount, (II) 
the Participation Factor and (III) the greater of zero or the Index Return.

The Index Return means the average of the Weighted Closing Reference Levels as observed on the 
Observation Dates divided by the Weighted Initial Reference Index Level on the 2 December 2014, minus 
one. If the average of the Weighted Closing Reference Index Level as observed on the Observation Dates is 
lower or equal to the Weighted Initial Reference Level on the 2 December 2014 then each nominal amount 
of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount will be redeemed at the Calculation Amount.

The Index Return is subject to a Participation Factor of 85 per cent..

Example Calculations

Set out below are examples of calculations of the amount that may be payable on redemption of the 
Securities on the Maturity Date.

The examples are included for illustrative purposes only and should not be relied upon.  They are not an 
indication of the likely performance of, or amounts payable in respect of, the Securities.  Prospective 
purchasers should conduct their own independent review and obtain such professional advice as they deem 
appropriate prior to any acquisition of the Securities.

A. By way of example calculation on a redemption described above, if the Weighted Initial Reference
Level on 2 December 2014 was 100 and the Weighted Closing Reference Level was 180 the Index 
Return would be 0.80 (being the Weighted Closing Reference Level divided by the Weighted Initial
Reference Level on 2 December 2014, minus one), multiplied by the Participation Factor of 85 per 
cent.), and the amount payable on redemption of each Security would be USD1,680,000, calculated 
as follows:

the greater of:

a. USD1,680,000 (being the Calculation Amount plus the product of (i) USD1,000,000 (being 
the Calculation Amount), (ii) 0.8 (being the Index Return), and (iii) 0.85 (being the 
Participation Factor)); and

b. USD1,000,000 (being the Calculation Amount).

B. If the Index Level on 2 December 2014 was 100 and the Closing Reference Level was 90 the Index 
Return would be -0.1 (being the Closing Reference Level divided by the Index Level on 2 December 
2014, minus one), and the amount payable on redemption of each Security would be USD1,000,000, 
calculated as follows:

the greater of:
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a. USD900,000 (being the Calculation Amount plus the product of (i) USD1,000,000 (being the 
Calculation Amount) and (ii) -0.1 (being the Index Return)); and

b. USD 1,000,000.

Index Event

Following the occurrence of an Index Event, an Index Event Amount (which may be zero) will be payable to 
Securityholders. The Index Event Amount is an amount determined by the Calculation Agent in its 
reasonable commercial discretion equal to the gain (if any) by the Issuer, that would be realised, in replacing 
or in providing for the Issuer the economic equivalent of the material terms of the Index Event Hedging 
Agreement, including the payments and deliveries by the parties under the Index Event Hedging Agreement 
that would, but for the occurrence of the relevant Index Event, have been required on or after the date that 
the Index Event Hedging Agreement is deemed to have been terminated or cancelled. The Index Event 
Amount may, for the avoidance of doubt, be zero. The occurrence of an Index Event shall not cause the 
Securities to fall due for redemption early

Early cancellation of the Securities

The Securities may be cancelled early in the event of, amongst other things, (a) a payment default in respect 
of the Securities, a breach by the Issuer of its obligations under the Securities or the winding-up or 
dissolution of the Issuer, or (b) an event of default or other similar event under the collateral in accordance 
with the collateral terms as of the Issue Date or a restructuring of and/or amendment to certain terms of the 
collateral, or (c) a regulatory event.

The hedging agreement may be terminated prior to its scheduled termination date, and the Securities 
cancelled early if:

(a) at the option of one party, if there is a failure by the other party to pay any amounts due under the 

hedging agreement;

(b) if withholding taxes are imposed on payments made by the Issuer or the hedging counterparty under 

the hedging agreement or it becomes illegal for either party to perform its obligations under the 

hedging agreement;

(c) if (subject as provided in the Hedging Agreement) the Hedging Counterparty determines that (x) as a 

result of an adoption of, or any change in, any applicable law or regulation, or (y) a promulgation of, 

or any change in the interpretation of any applicable law or regulation by any court, tribunal, 

government or regulatory authority (each a “relevant authority”) including informal public or private 

statements or actions by, or responses of, any relevant authority acting in an official capacity, or 

other economic circumstances, it becomes, or is reasonably likely to become, unlawful, impossible 

or impracticable for either the Hedging Counterparty or the Issuer to maintain or carry out the 

transaction or any activity contemplated by the transaction under the Hedging Agreement, or for the 

Hedging Counterparty to hedge its obligations thereunder, or that compliance with the foregoing will 

result in increased costs for either the Hedging Counterparty or the Issuer; 

(d) if certain provisions of the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-

Frank Act”) are implemented as described in the Dodd-Frank Act and the corresponding

implementing regulations currently proposed by the relevant regulators, it will become illegal for

the Hedging Counterparty to perform its obligations under the Hedging Agreement, in which case

the Hedging Agreement may be terminated early; or

(e) upon the occurrence of certain other events with respect to either party and the hedging agreement, 

including insolvency.
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Amount payable on an early cancellation of the Securities on an event of default of the Issuer, early 

termination of the hedging agreement, a collateral default event or restructuring of and/or 

amendment to certain terms of the collateral. 

The amount (if any) payable in respect of each Security on cancellation following the occurrence of an event 

of default of the Issuer, an early termination of the hedging agreement, a collateral default event, a regulatory 

event or an index cancellation or a restructuring of and/or amendment to certain terms of the collateral will 

be:

(a) a pro rata share of the market value of the collateral; minus

(b) a pro rata share of the unwind costs.

The performance of the Index may (provided that a collateral default event or restructuring of and/or 
amendment to certain terms of the collateral has not occurred) be reflected in the unwind costs and as such 
may affect the amount (if any) payable in respect of each Security on cancellation. Following the occurrence 
of a collateral default event or restructuring of and/or amendment to certain terms of the collateral (if any) the 
performance of the Index will have no effect upon the amount (if any) payable in respect of each Security on 
cancellation.

In each case the unwind costs shall include amounts payable by the Issuer to the Hedging Counterparty in 
respect of the option premium in respect of the Index.

Example Calculations

Set out below are examples of calculations of the amount that may be payable on an early cancellation of 
the Securities in such circumstances.

The examples are included for illustrative purposes only and should not be relied upon.  They are not an 
indication of the likely performance of, or amounts payable in respect of, the Securities.  Prospective 
purchasers should conduct their own independent review and obtain such professional advice as they deem 
appropriate prior to any acquisition of the Securities.

By way of example calculation on a cancellation described above, if (a) the market value of the collateral 
were equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the Securities, and (b) the unwind costs when pro rated
amongst the Securities were USD150,000, the amount payable on cancellation of each Security would be 
USD850,000, calculated as follows:

(a) USD1,000,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the market value of the collateral); minus

(b) USD150,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the unwind costs).

If (a) the market value of the collateral were half the aggregate nominal amount of the Securities, and (b) the 
unwind costs when pro rated amongst the Securities were USD150,000, the amount payable on cancellation 
of each Security would be USD350,000 calculated as follows:

(a) USD500,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the market value of the collateral); minus

(b) USD150,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the unwind costs).

Amount payable on an early cancellation of the Securities following an early redemption of the 
collateral (other than due to a collateral default event or a restructuring of and/or amendment to 
certain terms of the collateral).
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The amount (if any) payable in respect of each Security on cancellation following an early redemption of the 
collateral (other than due to a collateral default event or a restructuring of and/or amendment to certain terms 
of the collateral) will be:

(a) a pro rata share of the proceeds of redemption of the collateral; minus

(b) a pro rata share of the unwind costs.

The performance of the Index may be reflected in the unwind costs and as such may affect the amount (if 
any) payable in respect of each Security on cancellation.

Example Calculations

Set out below are examples of calculations of the amount that may be payable on an early cancellation of 
the Securities in such circumstances.

The examples are included for illustrative purposes only and should not be relied upon.  They are not an 
indication of the likely performance of, or amounts payable in respect of, the Securities.  Prospective 
purchasers should conduct their own independent review and obtain such professional advice as they deem 
appropriate prior to any acquisition of the Securities.

By way of example calculation on a cancellation described above, if (a) the proceeds of early redemption of 
the collateral were equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the Securities, and (b) the unwind costs when 
pro rated amongst the Securities were USD150,000, the amount payable on cancellation of each Security 
would be USD850,000, calculated as follows:

(a) USD1,000,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the proceeds of early redemption of the 
collateral); minus

(b) USD150,000 (being such Security’s pro rata share of the unwind costs).

If (a) the proceeds of early redemption of the collateral were half the aggregate nominal amount of the 
Securities, and (b) the unwind costs when pro rated amongst the Securities were USD150,000, the amount 
payable on cancellation of each Security would be USD350,000, calculated as follows:

(a) USD500,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the proceeds of early redemption of the 
Collateral); minus

(b) USD150,000 (being such Security's pro rata share of the unwind costs).

Early cancellation and unwind costs

Where the Securities are cancelled early, the hedging counterparty may incur certain costs (“unwind costs”) 
in connection with such cancellation and the termination of its hedging arrangements, and these costs will be 
deducted from the amount otherwise payable to Securityholders on cancellation.  These costs include, 
among other things, the net losses and costs of the hedging counterparty (i.e. taking into account both the 
benefit of the payments/deliveries which the hedging counterparty no longer has to make and the cost of the 
payments/deliveries it will no longer receive) arising from the non-payment or delivery by each party of the 
sums and assets which would have been paid or delivered under the hedging agreement if it had not been 
terminated, notwithstanding the above, following the occurrence of a collateral default event or restructuring 
of and/or amendment to certain terms of the collateral (if any) any gain realised by the hedging counterparty 
in connection with the cancellation of the Securities and related termination, settlement or re-establishment 
of any hedge or related trading position shall not be reflected in any calculation of such costs.
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Securityholders should be aware that amounts payable to the Hedging Counterparty will rank in priority to 

any claims of the Securityholders. Securityholders are effectively subordinated to such amounts as may be 

payable by the Issuer to the Hedging Counterparty.

Therefore the unwind costs may include a component (and possibly a very large component) representing a 
loss of potential payment/deliveries under the hedging agreement.



49 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

PART D

SECURITIES SECTION
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Subject matter of this Securities Section

The subject matter of this Securities Section is the issue of the Securities by the Issuer under the 
Programme (each capitalised term having the meaning given to it below).

The Programme

Under its Programme for the issuance of Secured Securities (the “Programme”), dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc 
(the “Issuer”) may from time to time issue secured notes and secured certificates which may relate to shares 
and/or indices and/or debt securities and/or commodities and/or currencies and/or other reference basis or 
assets.  The terms of the Programme are set out in the Programme Section.

The Securities

Under the Programme the Issuer has decided to issue the Securities on the terms set out in this Securities 
Section.

The terms and conditions of the Securities (the “Conditions”) are comprised of the General Conditions set 
out in the Programme Section, as completed, modified and amended by the Product Conditions set out in 
this Securities Section.

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch of Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester Street, London EC2N 2DB 
(the “Arranger”) is the Arranger for the Securities.

Selling Restrictions

The Securities have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended.  Any offer or sale of the Securities must be made in a transaction exempt from the registration 
requirements of such Act pursuant to Regulation S thereunder.  The Securities may not be offered, sold or 
otherwise transferred in the United States or to persons who are either U.S. persons as defined in Regulation 
S of such Act or persons who do not come within the definition of a non-United States person under Rule 4.7 
of the United States Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.  For a description of further restrictions on the 
offer, sale and transfer of the Securities, please refer to “Important Information” on page 2 of this Prospectus, 
to “Important Information relating to the use of this Prospectus and offers of Securities generally” on pages 2 
and 3 of this Prospectus and to “Sales Restrictions” in the Programme Section.
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PRODUCT CONDITIONS OF THE SECURITIES

The Securities shall, upon issue, have the following “Product Conditions” which shall complete, modify and 
amend the General Conditions (the “General Conditions”) set forth in the Programme Section.  The Product 
Conditions (which for the avoidance of doubt shall include the Index Provisions Annex) and the General 
Conditions together constitute the “Conditions” of the Securities, and will be attached to the relevant Global 
Security.

Words and expressions defined or used in the Trust Instrument, the Agency Agreement or the General 
Conditions shall have the same meanings where used in the Product Conditions unless the context 
otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated.

In the event of any inconsistency between the Product Conditions and the General Conditions, the Product 
Conditions shall prevail. In the event of any inconsistency between the Product Conditions and the Index 
Provisions Annex, the Product Conditions shall prevail.

1. INTRODUCTION

(a) Issuer: dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc

(b) Type of Securities: Notes (Bearer)

(c) Series No.: 3

(d) Listing and Admission to 
Trading:

Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the 
Securities to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the 
Irish Stock Exchange and listing on the Official List of the Irish 
Stock Exchange after the Issue Date. There can be no assurance 
that such listing will be obtained or if obtained, maintained.

(e) Ratings: The Securities will not be rated.

(f) Interest of Natural and Legal 
Persons involved in the 
issue:

Save for any fees or commissions payable to the Arranger and 
other relevant transaction parties, so far as the Issuer is aware, 
no person involved in the issue of the Securities has an interest 
material to the offer. (See “Potential Conflicts of Interest” in Risk 
Factors–Programme) of the Risk Factors Section).

(g) Estimated Net Proceeds and 
Total expenses

(i) Reasons for the 
offer:

The net proceeds from the issue of the Securities will be used to 
acquire on the Issue Date the Collateral comprised in the 
Charged Property, to pay for or enter into the Hedging Agreement 
and to pay expenses in connection with the administration of the 
Issuer.

(ii) Estimated net 
proceeds:

USD5,000,000

(iii) Estimated total 
expenses:

The expenses related to the issue will be paid by the Hedging 
Counterparty.

(h) Yield Not Applicable. The Notes are non-interest bearing index linked 
redemption Notes.
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(i) Security Codes: ISIN: XS1150782750

Common Code: 115078275

(j) Name and address of 
Calculation Agent:

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch
(Asset Repackaging Group)
Winchester House
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2DB

2. DEFINITIONS

(a) General Definitions

“Aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities” means USD5,000,000.

“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks and 
foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in 
foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London and New York and a day on which each 
Clearing Agent is open for business and, for the purpose of making payments in euro, if applicable, 
any day on which the TARGET2 System is open.

“Calculation Amount” means USD1,000,000.

“Clearing Agent(s)” means Euroclear Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme.

“Early Termination Amount” means, for the purposes of General Condition 5.1 (Mandatory 
cancellation), General Condition 5.2 (Cancellation for other reasons), General Condition 10 (Events 
of Default), Product Condition 7 (Cancellation on Early Redemption of Collateral) and Product 
Condition 8 (Redemption following Regulatory Event), the amount specified for each such purpose in 
Product Condition 6.

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the 
euro in accordance with the Treaty.

“Issue Date” means 16 December 2014.

“Issue Price” means per Security, USD1,000,000, being 100 per cent. of the Nominal Amount of 
each Security.

“Nominal Amount” means USD1,000,000.

“Principal Agent” means Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

“TARGET2 System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express 
Transfer (TARGET2) System.

“Treaty” means the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

“Underlying” means each of the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index (Bloomberg Code HIS), the Korea 
Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index (Bloomberg code KOSPI2) and the S&P/ASX 200 Index
(Bloomberg Code AS51).

(b) Interest Definitions



53 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

“Business Day Convention”: Not Applicable.

“Day Count Fraction”: Not Applicable.

"Actual/360": Not Applicable.

“Interest Accrual Date”: Not Applicable.

“Interest Amount”: Not Applicable.

"Interest Determination Date": Not Applicable.

“Interest Payment Date”: Not Applicable.

“Interest Period”: Not Applicable.

"Interest Rate": Not Applicable.

“Maximum Interest Rate”: Not Applicable.

“Minimum Interest Rate”: Not Applicable.

References herein and/or in the General Conditions to (i) “principal” shall be deemed to include all 
Redemption Amounts and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to provisions 
of the Securities and (ii) “interest” shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other 
amounts in the nature of interest payable pursuant to the provisions of the Securities.

(c) Settlement Definitions

“Affiliate” means, in relation to any person, any entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by the person, 
any entity that controls, directly or indirectly, the person or any entity directly or indirectly under 
common control with the person. For this purpose, “control” of any entity or person means ownership 
of a majority of the voting power of the entity or person.

“Closing Reference Level” means in respect of each Index the average of each Index Level (as 
defined in the Index Provisions Annex) as observed on the Reference Dates (as defined in the Index 
Provisions Annex) scheduled to fall on the Observation Dates determined in accordance with the 
Index Provisions Annex.

“Collateral Obligor” means the issuer of the Collateral.

“Index Return” means the Weighted Closing Reference Level divided by the Weighted Initial 
Reference Level, minus one.

“Initial Reference Level” means in respect of each Index the Index Level on the Reference Date 
scheduled to fall on the Initial Valuation Date determined in accordance with the Index Provisions 
Annex.

"Initial Valuation Date" means 2 December 2014, provided that if such date is not a Scheduled 
Trading Day in respect of an Index, the next following Scheduled Day in respect of the Index.

“Maturity Date” means 9 March 2021 (the “Scheduled Maturity Date”), subject as provided in 
Product Condition 9 (Maturity Date Postponement).
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“Observation Dates” means 23 February 2020, 23 May 2020, 23 August 2020, 23 November 2020 
and 23 February 2021, provided that if such date is not a Scheduled Trading Day in respect of an 
Index, the next following Scheduled Day in respect of the Index.

“Participation Factor” means 85 per cent..

“Redemption Amount” means, in respect of each Nominal Amount of Securities equal to the 
Calculation Amount, either:

(a) If an Index Event has not occurred an amount determined by the Calculation Agent 
in accordance with the following formula:

(i) 100% x Calculation Amount; and

(ii) Calculation Amount x Participation Factor x Max (0, Index Return); or

(b) If an Index Event has occurred, the Calculation Amount.

“Settlement” means cash settlement (“Cash Settlement”).

“Settlement Currency” means U.S. Dollars (“USD”).

“Weighted Closing Reference Level” means the weighted average of the Closing Reference Level 
of each of the Indices.

“Weighted Initial Reference Level” means the weighted average of the Initial Reference Level of 
each of the Indices.

3. INTEREST AND REDEMPTION

(a) Interest

Not Applicable. The Notes are non-interest bearing.

(b) Interest Rate and Accrual

Not Applicable.

(c) Interest Rates and Rounding

Not Applicable.

(d) Interest Calculations

Not Applicable.

(e) Business Day Convention

If any date referred to herein which is specified to be subject to adjustment in accordance with a 
Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the 
Business Day Convention specified is (i) the Floating Rate Business Day Convention, such date 
shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next 
calendar month, in which event (A) such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding 
Business Day and (B) each subsequent such date shall be the last Business Day of the month in 
which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to adjustment, (ii) the Following Business 
Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day, (iii) the 
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Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day which is 
a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such date 
shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day or (iv) the Preceding Business 
Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

(f) Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled and subject as provided in the General 
Conditions and herein, each Security will be redeemed by the Issuer, in respect of each Security, by 
payment of the Redemption Amount, such redemption to occur on the Maturity Date.

The Redemption Amount will be determined by the Calculation Agent at the time and on the date in 
accordance with the Index Provisions Annex and the definition of “Redemption Amount” in Product 
Condition 2(c) (Settlement Definitions), subject to any adjustment provided for herein.

For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to the provisions hereof (unless otherwise 
specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the 
nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up) (y) all figures 
will be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all currency 
amounts which fall due and payable will be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency (with halves 
being rounded up) save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the nearest yen.  For 
these purposes, “unit” means, with respect to any currency other than U.S. Dollars, the lowest 
amount of such currency which is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with 
respect to U.S. Dollars, means 0.01 U.S. Dollars.

The Calculation Agent shall determine the Redemption Amount in respect of each Security on or 
prior to the Maturity Date, or make such determination or calculation, as the case may be, as may be 
required for such purposes and cause the Redemption Amount to be notified to the Issuer, the 
Trustee, the Principal Agent, each of the Paying Agents, the Securityholders and, for so long as the 
Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such stock exchange require, such stock 
exchange, as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than (i) (except in the 
case of notices to the Securityholders) the Maturity Date, if determined prior to such time, or (ii) in all 
other cases, the fourth Business Day after such determination.  The Redemption Amount so notified 
may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made with the prior written 
consent of the Trustee by way of adjustment) without notice.

(g) Determination or Calculation by Trustee

If the Calculation Agent fails at any time for any reason to determine or calculate the Redemption 
Amount or to comply with any other requirement of it in relation to the Securities, the Trustee shall do 
so (or shall appoint an agent on its behalf to do so) and such determination or calculation shall be 
deemed to have been made by the Calculation Agent. In doing so, the Trustee shall apply the 
provisions of this Product Condition 3 (Interest and Redemption), with any necessary consequential 
amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and, in all other respects, it shall do so in 
such manner as it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances.

(h) Payments

Payments in respect of the Securities will, subject as mentioned below, be made against 
presentation for endorsement and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the Securities, 
surrender of the Global Security to or to the order of any Paying Agent.  A record of each payment so 
made will be endorsed on the Global Security, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that 
such payment has been made in respect of the Securities represented thereby.  Payments will be 
made by transfer to an account denominated in the Settlement Currency with a bank in the principal 
financial centre of that currency; provided that in the case of euro, the transfer may be to, or the 
cheque drawn on, a euro account with a bank in the Euro-zone.
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Each of the persons shown in the records of the relevant Clearing Agent as the holder of a Security 
represented by the Global Security must look solely to such Clearing Agent for his share of each 
payment made by the Issuer to the bearer of the Global Security, subject to and in accordance with 
the respective rules and procedures of the relevant Clearing Agent.  Such persons shall have no 
claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due on the Securities for as long as the 
Securities are represented by the Global Security, and such obligations of the Issuer will be 
discharged by payment to the bearer of the Global Security in respect of each amount so paid.

If a payment of any amount to be paid to the bearer of the Global Security for onward payment to a 
Securityholder as provided above, according to the rules of the relevant Clearing Agent, cannot be 
made in the Settlement Currency, such payment shall be made in the currency principally used by 
the relevant Clearing Agent for payments to Securityholders holding accounts with such Clearing 
Agent, following a conversion of the relevant amount from the Settlement Currency, using the rate of 
exchange determined by the Calculation Agent by reference to such sources as the Calculation 
Agent may reasonably determine to be appropriate.

If any date for payment in respect of any Security is not a Payment Day, the holder shall not be 
entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day nor to any interest or other sum in respect 
of such postponed payment.

As used above, “Payment Day” means any day which is (i) a day on which commercial banks and 
foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in 
foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the relevant place of presentation, London and 
New York; and (ii) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on 
which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general 
business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal 
financial centre of the country of such currency or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on 
which the TARGET2 System is open.

Any payments to be made by the Issuer calculated by reference to Securities deemed to have 
a nominal amount equal to the Calculation Amount and by reference to such Securities pro rata 
share of any other amount shall be calculated by (i) determining the pro rata share of any amount 
attributable to a Security deemed to have a nominal amount equal to the Calculation Amount and (ii) 
for the purposes of determining any amount payable in respect of any actual Security having a 
different nominal amount, by multiplying such pro rata share amount by a figure determined by 
dividing the actual nominal amount of the relevant Security by the Calculation Amount.

(i) Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions 
given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Product Condition 3 
whether by the Calculation Agent or the Trustee or its appointee shall (in the absence of wilful 
default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Principal Agent, the Paying Agents, 
the Calculation Agent, the Trustee and all Securityholders and no liability to the Issuer, the 
Securityholders or any other person shall attach to (in the absence as aforesaid) the Calculation 
Agent or (in the absence of wilful default) the Trustee or its appointee (if applicable) in connection 
with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such 
provisions.

4. SECURITY

(a) Security

(1) Collateral charged to Trustee.

(2) General Condition 6.3 (General provisions relating to security) shall apply.
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(b) Collateral

(1) Collateral: USD5,000,000 of the USD750,000,000 6.125 per cent. Notes due 2021 (ISIN: 
XS0602546136) issued by the Republic of Lithuania. The Collateral bears interest at a rate 
of 6.125 per cent. per annum. The Issuer will use the proceeds from the issue of the 
Securities to purchase the Collateral, to pay for or enter into the Hedging Agreement and to 
pay expenses in connection with the administrator of the Issuer.

(2) General Condition 6.5 (Replacement and/or Substitution of Collateral): shall not apply. The 
Custodian shall pay any proceeds received by it on an early redemption of the Collateral that 
are to be applied in connection with the cancellation of the Securities and termination of the 
Hedging Agreement into such account maintained by the Custodian from time to time for 
such purposes.

(c) Custody

Custodian: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

The Collateral will be delivered to the Custodian on or before the Issue Date.

(d) Hedging Agreement(s)

The Issuer has entered into a Hedging Agreement with the Hedging Counterparty, the purpose of 
which is to allow the Issuer to perform its scheduled obligations under the terms of the Securities.  
Accordingly, it provides that:

(i) initially, the Issuer shall pay to the Hedging Counterparty the proceeds of issue of the 
Securities, in exchange for the Collateral; and

(ii) over the term of the Securities and at scheduled redemption and on any early cancellation 
thereof the Issuer shall make payments and/or deliveries to the Hedging Counterparty equal 
to (A) the scheduled coupons (if any) in respect of the Collateral and (B) such other cash 
amounts or assets (if any) as may be specified in the Hedging Agreement, in exchange for 
payments and/or deliveries by the Hedging Counterparty as specified in the Hedging 
Agreement which correspond to those which the Issuer is scheduled to make to 
Securityholders under the Conditions.

Hedging Counterparty: Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Hedging Agreement Termination Date: the Maturity Date (subject to adjustment if such day is not a 
Business Day thereunder).

Early Termination of the Hedging Agreement(s):

The Hedging Agreement(s) may be terminated early (either in whole or, in certain circumstances, in 
part only), among other circumstances:

(i) if at any time the Securities are cancelled in accordance with the Conditions prior to the 
Maturity Date;

(ii) at the option of one party, if there is a failure by the other party to pay any amounts due 
under the Hedging Agreement;

(iii) if (subject as provided in the Hedging Agreement) withholding taxes are imposed on 
payments made by the Issuer or the Hedging Counterparty under the Hedging Agreement or 
it becomes illegal for either party to perform its obligations under the Hedging Agreement;
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(iv) if (subject as provided in the Hedging Agreement) the Hedging Counterparty determines that 
(x) as a result of an adoption of, or any change in, any applicable law or regulation, or (y) a 
promulgation of, or any change in the interpretation of any applicable law or regulation by 
any court, tribunal, government or regulatory authority (each a “relevant authority”) 
including informal public or private statements or actions by, or responses of, any relevant 
authority acting in an official capacity, or other economic circumstances, it becomes, or is 
reasonably likely to become, unlawful, impossible or impracticable for either the Hedging 
Counterparty or the Issuer to maintain or carry out the transaction or any activity 
contemplated by the transaction under the Hedging Agreement, or for the Hedging 
Counterparty to hedge its obligations thereunder, or that compliance with the foregoing will 
result in increased costs for either the Hedging Counterparty or the Issuer;

(v) if certain provisions of the Wall Street Transparency and Accountability Act of 2010 (the
“Dodd-Frank Act”) are implemented as described in the Dodd-Frank Act and the
corresponding implementing regulations currently proposed by the relevant regulators, it will 
become illegal for the Hedging Counterparty to perform its obligations under the Hedging 
Agreement, in which case the Hedging Agreement may be terminated early; and

(vi) upon the occurrence of certain other events with respect to either party and the Hedging 
Agreement, including insolvency.

The above summary is qualified in its entirety by the terms of the Hedging Agreement, which will be 
available for inspection as described in “GENERAL INFORMATION” in the Programme Section.

(e) Repurchase Agreement

The Issuer has not entered into a Repurchase Agreement.

Repurchase Counterparty:  Not Applicable

5. OPTIONAL CANCELLATION

General Condition 5.3 (Cancellation at the Option of the Issuer) shall not apply.

6. EARLY TERMINATION AMOUNT

(a) For the purposes of General Condition 5.1 (Mandatory cancellation), General Condition 5.2 
(Cancellation for other reasons), General Condition 10 (Events of Default) and Product 
Condition 8 (Redemption following Regulatory Event), the Early Termination Amount (if any) 
due in respect of each Security shall be an amount equal to such Security’s pro rata share of 
an amount in USD (which may never be less than zero) determined by the Calculation Agent 
in accordance with the following formula:

 BA 

Where:

“A” is the Market Value Collateral; and

“B” is the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

(b) For the purposes of Product Condition 7 (Cancellation on Early Redemption of Collateral), 
the Early Termination Amount (if any) due in respect of each Security shall be an amount in 
USD equal to such Security’s pro rata share of an amount in USD (which may never be less 
than zero) determined by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the following formula:
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D)(C

Where:

“C” is the proceeds of redemption of the Collateral; and

“D” is the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

Holders of the Securities should note however that under General Condition 5.1, General Condition 
5.2, General Condition 10 and Product Condition 8 in such circumstances the security will become 
enforceable and the aggregate of all sums secured on the Charged Property in priority to the claims 
of the Securityholders may represent a considerable portion of the proceeds of realisation of the 
Collateral.

For these purposes:

“Collateral Currency” means the currency in which the Collateral is denominated;

“Early Redemption Unwind Costs” means the sum (the result of which may be positive, negative or 
zero) of:

(a) an amount, if any, determined by the Calculation Agent equal to the gain or loss realised by 
the Hedging Counterparty upon an unwind of the Hedging Agreement (expressed as a 
negative amount if a gain, and as a positive amount otherwise), taking into account (i) the 
sum of (without duplication) all amounts, costs, expenses (including loss of funding), tax and 
duties incurred by or payable to the Hedging Counterparty and (ii) the redemption of the 
Securities and the related termination, settlement or re-establishment of any hedge or 
related trading position (but, for the avoidance of doubt in determining any such gain or loss, 
the obligation of the Hedging Counterparty under the Hedging Agreement to make payment 
of the aggregate Early Termination Amounts and any obligation of the Issuer under the 
Hedging Agreement to deliver the Collateral in connection with the early termination shall be 
disregarded), and with (i) and (ii) above to be determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole 
and absolute discretion by reference to such factors as it sees fit, including, without 
limitation, hedging arrangements, unwind and termination costs, commissions, fees and any 
arrangements entered into with third parties as well as:

(A) market variables including interest rates and implied volatility; and

(B) costs to the Hedging Counterparty of unwinding any underlying related hedging 
arrangements; and (without duplication)

(b) (expressed as a positive amount) any legal and other ancillary costs (including if applicable, 
without limitation, any costs in relation to the realisation of the Collateral) incurred by the 
Issuer, the Trustee, the Custodian or the Hedging Counterparty as a result of the Securities
becoming subject to mandatory cancellation under General Condition 5.1, General Condition 
5.2 or following an Event of Default, an early termination of the Hedging Agreement or a 
Regulatory Event;

“Early Termination Valuation Date” means:

(a) for the purposes of a cancellation under General Condition 5.1 or General Condition 5.2, the 
Business Day immediately preceding the due date for cancellation; or

(b) for the purposes of a cancellation under General Condition 10, the due date for cancellation;
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“Market Value Collateral” means an amount in the Collateral Currency calculated by the Calculation 
Agent equal to the highest firm bid quotation obtained by the Calculation Agent from the Reference 
Dealers for the Collateral on the relevant Early Termination Valuation Date, PROVIDED THAT if no 
firm bid quotation is obtained, the Market Value Collateral shall be calculated by the Calculation 
Agent in good faith and may in certain circumstances be zero.

The Calculation Agent shall attempt to obtain firm bid quotations as aforesaid from at least five 
Reference Dealers; and

“Reference Dealers” means leading dealers, banks or banking corporations, which deal in 
obligations of the type of the Collateral selected by the Calculation Agent, one of which may be 
Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

7. CANCELLATION ON EARLY REDEMPTION OF COLLATERAL

If the Collateral is redeemed prior to the Scheduled Maturity Date other than due to a Collateral 
Default Event, then the Issuer shall forthwith give not more than 30 Business Days' nor less than 10 
Business Days' notice to the Trustee, the Securityholders, the Hedging Counterparty and, for as long 
as the Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such stock exchange so require, 
such stock exchange, and upon expiry of such notice shall cancel all but not some only of the 
Securities, each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount being cancelled at 
the Early Termination Amount (if any).

8. REDEMPTION FOLLOWING REGULATORY EVENT

If in the determination of the Calculation Agent a Regulatory Event occurs then the Issuer shall
forthwith give not more than 30 Business Days’ nor less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
Trustee, the Securityholders, the Hedging Counterparty and, for as long as the Securities are listed 
on a stock exchange and the rules of such stock exchange so require, such stock exchange, and 
upon expiry of such notice (i) the Issuer shall redeem all but not some only of the Securities and with 
each Security being redeemed at its Early Termination Amount and (ii) the security constituted by or 
created pursuant to the Trust Instrument over the Charged Property shall become enforceable.

Where:

“Regulatory Event” means that (including, without limitation, in connection with the application of 
the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive 2011/61/EU): (i) as a result of the adoption of, 
or any change in, any applicable law or regulation or (ii) as a result of the promulgation of, or any 
change in, the interpretation of any applicable law or regulation by any court, tribunal, government or 
regulatory authority (each, a “relevant authority”), including informal public or private statements or 
actions by, or responses of, any official or representative of any relevant authority acting in an official 
capacity or other economic circumstances, (x) the regulatory treatment of the Securities, the Hedging 
Agreement or the Issuer has become or is reasonably likely to become less favourable to, or has 
resulted or is reasonably likely to result in a burden on, or has resulted or is reasonably likely to 
result in performance of obligations under the Securities or the Hedging Agreement becoming illegal 
for, the Issuer, the Hedging Counterparty, the Trustee or Deutsche Bank AG, London branch acting 
in any capacity in connection with the Securities, or with maintaining the existence of the Issuer, the 
Hedging Agreement, the Securities or any other securities issued by the Issuer, or any of their 
respective affiliates or (y) the Issuer, the Hedging Counterparty, the Trustee or Deutsche Bank AG, 
London branch acting in any capacity in connection with the Securities, or any of their respective 
affiliates, has suffered or there is a reasonable likelihood that it will suffer an adverse consequence, 
including, without limitation, any increased cost (including, without limitation, internal charges or 
costs), in connection with the issuance of the Securities, entering into the Hedging Agreement, 
hedging the Hedging Counterparty’s obligations under the Hedging Agreement or maintaining the 
existence of the Issuer, the Hedging Agreement, the Securities or any other securities issued by the 
Issuer.
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9. MATURITY DATE POSTPONEMENT

If in the determination of the Calculation Agent a Potential Collateral Default Event has occurred and 
is continuing as of the Scheduled Maturity Date, the Scheduled Maturity Date will be postponed to 
the first date on which in the determination of the Calculation Agent the event the subject of such 
Potential Collateral Default either could constitute a Collateral Default Event (as defined in General 
Condition 5.1 (Mandatory cancellation)) or could not in the passing of time constitute a Collateral 
Default Event, and

where:

(i) a Collateral Default Event has not occurred on or prior to the Postponed Maturity Date (as 
defined below):

(A) subject as provided below each nominal amount of Securities equal to the 
Calculation Amount will be redeemed by the Issuer by payment of the Redemption 
Amount on the Postponed Maturity Date; and

(B) in no circumstances shall any interest or other amount be payable in respect of such 
delay; or

(ii) a Collateral Default Event has occurred on or prior to the Postponed Maturity Date, the 
provisions of General Condition 5.1 (Mandatory cancellation) shall apply to the Securities.

For these purposes, “Potential Collateral Default Event” means an event which, with the passing of 
time, could constitute a Collateral Default Event.

Any date to which the Scheduled Maturity Date shall be postponed pursuant to this Product 
Condition 9 (Maturity Date Postponement) shall be the “Postponed Maturity Date”.

Securityholders will be notified in accordance with General Condition 15 (Notices) as soon as 
reasonably practicable of any such postponement of the Scheduled Maturity Date to the Postponed 
Maturity Date.

10. ENTRY INTO OF RELATED AGREEMENTS

Each Securityholder agrees and consents that, subject always to the consent of the Hedging
Counterparty, the Company may (but is not obligated to) enter into such agreements as it determines 
necessary or desirable to enter into, and/or may make such notifications, filings and/or disclosures 
as it determines are necessary or desirable, in each case in order to (i) further its business of issuing 
Permitted Investments or incurring Permitted Indebtedness or (ii) comply with any law, regulation, 
guidance and/or government or regulatory pronouncement to which it is subject, or may be subject, 
as a result of such business, and may perform any act incidental to or necessary in connection 
therewith. Such agreements may include, without limitation, any agreements relating to reporting 
obligations, portfolio reconciliation and/or dispute resolution in order to satisfy obligations imposed by 
Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on OTC derivatives, 
central counterparties and trade repositories dated 4 July 2012 (“EMIR”) or similar or related 
agreements relating to EMIR, to the Dodd-Frank Act or to any similar legislation or rules.

11. AMENDMENTS TO GENERAL CONDITIONS

The provisions of General Condition 6.4 (Application of Proceeds of Enforcement of Charged11.1
Property) shall be deleted in their entirety and replaced by the following:

“The Trustee shall (subject to the provisions of the Trust Instrument) apply all moneys received by it
under the provisions of the Trust Instrument and any Additional Security Document in connection
with the realisation or enforcement of the security constituted by or pursuant to the Trust Instrument
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and any Additional Security Document in accordance with the following provisions of this General
Condition 6.4:

6.4.1 first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses,
liabilities and other amounts incurred by or payable to the Trustee or any
receiver under or pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional
Security Document (which for the purpose of this General Condition 6.4
and the Trust Instrument shall include any taxes required to be paid, the
costs of realising any security and the Trustee’s remuneration);

6.4.2 secondly, pari passu in payment of (A) any amounts owing to the Custodian
for reimbursement in respect of payments properly made by it in
accordance with the  terms of the Agency Agreement relating to sums
receivable on or in respect of the relevant Collateral, and (B) any amounts
owing to the Principal Agent for reimbursement in respect of payments 
properly made by it in accordance with the terms of the Agency
Agreement in relation to the Securities and (C) any fees, costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities then due and payable to the Agents under the
Agency Agreement;

6.4.3 thirdly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to each Hedging
Counterparty under a Hedging Agreement (which for the purpose  of this
General Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument shall include any
amounts owing to the Custodian for reimbursement in respect of payments
made to a Hedging Counterparty relating to sums receivable on or in
respect of the Collateral);

6.4.4 fourthly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to the holders of
the Securities (which for the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 and the
Trust Instrument shall include any amount owing to the Principal Agent
for reimbursement in respect of any payment made to holders of the
Securities or to a Clearing Agent on behalf of such holders); and

6.4.5 fifthly, in payment of the balance (if any) to the Issuer.

An additional condition shall be added as General Condition 5.6:11.2

“5.6 Void Transfer or Other Disposal and Forced Transfer

5.6.1 Any transfer or other disposition of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a 
Security to:

(a) a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S of the Securities 
Act; or

(b) a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of 
the Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended, or any rule, guidance 
or order proposed or issued by the Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
(the “CFTC”) thereunder (including but not limited to any person who is not a 
“Non-United States person” under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv) (excluding for 
purposes of CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv)(D) the exception for qualified eligible 
persons who are not “Non-United States persons”)), (each such person or 
account, a “Non-Permitted Transferee”),

shall be deemed to be void ab initio, with the result that such transfer or other 
disposition will be of no legal effect whatsoever.  Accordingly, any purported 
transferee of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security in such a 
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transaction will not be entitled to any rights as a legal or beneficial owner of such 
interest in such Security.

5.6.2 Any transfer or other disposition of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a 
Security to (i) an employee benefit plan (as defined in section 3(3) of the US 
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, (“ERISA”)), 
whether or not subject to ERISA; (ii) a plan described in section 4975(e)(1) of the US 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended; or (iii) an entity whose underlying 
assets include plan assets by reason of a plan's investment in the entity under US 
Department of Labor Regulations § 2510.3-101 (29 c.f.r. § 2510.3-101) (each a 
“Benefit Plan Investor”), or to a transferee using the assets of a Benefit Plan 
Investor to acquire such interest securities or holding such interest for or on behalf of 
a Benefit Plan Investor, shall be deemed to be void ab initio, with the result that such 
transfer or other disposition will be of no legal effect whatsoever.  Accordingly, any 
purported transferee of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security in 
such a transaction will not be entitled to any rights as a legal or beneficial owner of
such interest in such Security. 

5.6.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of these General Conditions, the Issuer shall 
give notice to the Trustee, the Custodian and the Calculation Agent and shall have 
the right at any time after becoming aware that any legal or beneficial ownership 
interest in a Security is held by a Non-Permitted Transferee to require such Non-
Permitted Transferee to sell such interest to (a) an Affiliate of the Issuer (to the 
extent permitted by applicable law)  or (b) a person who is not a Non-Permitted 
Transferee, in each case, at a price equal to the lesser of (x) the purchase price paid 
for such interest by such Non-Permitted Transferee, (y) the principal amount of such 
interest and (z) the fair market value of such interest, less any costs or expenses 
incurred by or on behalf of the Issuer in connection with such sale.

By purchasing any of the Securities each Securityholder is deemed to have acknowledged 
and accepted the rights of, and the exercise of such rights by, the Issuer set out above.”
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INDEX PROVISIONS ANNEX

1. Disrupted Days

Reference Dates1.1

If the Calculation Agent determines that any Reference Date is a Disrupted Day, then (i) the Reference Date 
for each Index which the Calculation Agent determines is not affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day 
shall be the Scheduled Reference Date; and (ii) the Reference Date for each Index which the Calculation 
Agent determines is affected by the occurrence of a Disrupted Day shall be the first succeeding Scheduled 
Trading Day in respect of such Index that the Calculation Agent determines is not a Disrupted Day relating to 
that Index, unless the Calculation Agent determines that each of the consecutive Scheduled Trading Days in 
respect of the Index equal in number to the Maximum Days of Disruption immediately following the 
Scheduled Reference Date is a Disrupted Day. In that case:

(a) the eighth Scheduled Trading Day in respect of the Index shall be deemed to be the Reference Date, 
notwithstanding the fact that such day is a Disrupted Day; and

(b) the Calculation Agent shall determine the level of the Index as of the Valuation Time on or in respect 
of that last consecutive Scheduled Trading Day in respect of the Index in accordance with Paragraph 
1.2 (Calculating an Index level after the Maximum Days of Disruption) of this Index Provisions 
Annex, and such determination by the Calculation Agent pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall be 
deemed to be the Index Level in respect of the Reference Date.

Calculating an Index level after the Maximum Days of Disruption1.2

The Calculation Agent shall determine the level of an Index as of the relevant Valuation Time on or in respect 
of the relevant last consecutive Scheduled Trading Day, pursuant to Paragraph 1.1(b) of this Index 
Provisions Annex in accordance with the formula for and method of calculating the relevant Index last in 
effect prior to the occurrence of the relevant first Disrupted Day, using the Exchange traded or quoted price 
as of the Valuation Time on the eighth consecutive Scheduled Trading Day of each Component comprised in 
the relevant Index (or, if an event giving rise to a Disrupted Day has occurred in respect of any relevant 
Component on such last consecutive Scheduled Trading Day for any relevant Component, or such last 
consecutive Scheduled Trading Day is not a Scheduled Trading Day for any relevant Component, as 
determined by the Calculation Agent, its good faith estimate of the value for the relevant Component as of 
the Valuation Time on the eighth consecutive Scheduled Trading Day in respect of the relevant Index).

2. Index levels Correction

In the event that any relevant level of an Index published by the relevant Index Sponsor on any date which is 
utilised for any calculation or determination in connection with the Securities is subsequently corrected and 
the correction is published by the relevant Index Sponsor on the Business Day prior to the next date on 
which any relevant payment may have to be made by the Issuer or if earlier, one Settlement Cycle after the 
original publication, then the Calculation Agent may determine the amount that is payable or deliverable or 
make any determination in connection with the Securities, after taking into account such correction, and, to 
the extent necessary, may adjust any relevant terms of the Securities to account for such correction.

3. Successors and Index Adjustment Events

Consequences of a Successor Index Sponsor or a Successor Index3.1

If an Index is (i) not calculated and announced by the relevant Index Sponsor but is calculated and 
announced by a successor sponsor acceptable to the Calculation Agent (a "Successor Index Sponsor") or 
(ii) replaced by a successor index using, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, the same or a 
substantially similar formula for and method of calculation as used in the calculation of such Index, then in 
each case such index (the "Successor Index") will be deemed to be the Index. The Calculation Agent may 
make such adjustment(s) that it determines to be appropriate, if any, to any variable, calculation 
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methodology, valuation, settlement, payment terms or any other terms of the Securities to account for such 
successor.

Consequences of an Index Adjustment Event3.2

If an Index Disruption or an Index Modification has occurred, as determined by the Calculation Agent, the 
Calculation Agent will determine if such Index Disruption or an Index Modification has a material effect on the 
Securities and, if so, shall calculate the relevant level of the Index using, in lieu of a published level for such 
Index, the level for such Index as at or in respect of the relevant Reference Date, or any other relevant date 
as determined by the Calculation Agent, as the case may be, as determined by the Calculation Agent in 
accordance with the formula for and method of calculating such Index last in effect prior to the relevant Index 
Disruption or an Index Modification, but using only those Components that comprised such Index 
immediately prior to such Index Disruption or an Index Modification.

On making any such adjustment(s) or determination(s), the Calculation Agent shall give notice as soon as 
practicable to the Securityholders stating the adjustment to any amount payable under the Securities, the 
determination and/or any of the other relevant terms and giving brief details of the Index Adjustment Event, 
provided that any failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of the Index Adjustment Event or any 
action taken.

If the Calculation Agent determines, in its reasonable commercial discretion, that application of the preceding 
paragraph would not achieve a commercially reasonable result, or if an Index Cancellation occurs, the 
Calculation Agent may determine that the Index Event Amount shall be payable (such determination being 
an “Index Adjustment Option”), in which event the Issuer shall forthwith give 10 Business Days' notice to 
the Trustee, the Securityholders, the Hedging Counterparty and, for as long as the Securities are listed on a 
stock exchange and the rules of such stock exchange so require, such stock exchange, and upon expiry of 
such notice shall pay an amount in USD determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion equal to a 
pro rata proportion of the Index Event Amount (which for the avoidance of doubt may be zero) in respect of 
each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation Amount. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Securities will not fall due for redemption upon the expiry of any notice given in accordance with this 
Paragraph 3.

4. Consequences of an Additional Disruption Event

Following the determination by the Calculation Agent that an Additional Disruption Event has occurred, the 
Calculation Agent may, in its reasonable commercial discretion:

4.1 determine to make such adjustment to the exercise, settlement, payment or any other terms of the 
Securities as the Calculation Agent determines appropriate to account for such Additional Disruption 
Event; and/or

4.2 determine that the Index Event Amount shall be payable (such determination being an “Additional 
Disruption Option”), in which event the Issuer shall forthwith give 10 Business Days' notice to the 
Trustee, the Securityholders, the Hedging Counterparty and, for as long as the Securities are listed 
on a stock exchange and the rules of such stock exchange so require, such stock exchange, and 
upon expiry of such notice shall pay an amount in USD determined by the Calculation Agent in its 
sole discretion equal to a pro rata proportion of the Index Event Amount (which for the avoidance of 
doubt may be zero) in respect of each nominal amount of Securities equal to the Calculation 
Amount. For the avoidance of doubt, the Securities will not fall due for redemption upon the expiry of 
any notice given in accordance with this Paragraph 4.

5. Index Disclaimer

The Securities are not sponsored, endorsed, sold, or promoted by the relevant Index or the Index Sponsors 
and the Index Sponsors make no representation whatsoever, whether express or implied, either as to the 
results to be obtained from the use of the Indices and/or the levels at which the Indices stand at any 
particular time on any particular date or otherwise. The Index Sponsors shall not be liable (whether in 
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negligence or otherwise) to any person for any error in the Indices and the Index Sponsors are under no 
obligation to advise any person of any error therein. The Index Sponsors are not making any representation 
whatsoever, whether express or implied, as to the advisability of purchasing or assuming any risk in 
connection with the Securities.

None of the Issuer, the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Trustee nor the Calculation Agent or any of 
their respective affiliates shall have any liability to the Securityholders for any act or failure to act by the Index 
Sponsors in connection with the calculation, adjustment, or maintenance of the Indices. None of the Issuer, 
the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty, the Trustee, the Calculation Agent or any of their respective 
affiliates has any affiliation with or control over the Indices or Index Sponsors, or any control over the 
computation, composition, or dissemination of the Indices. Although the Calculation Agent will obtain 
information concerning the Indices from publicly available sources it believes reliable, it will not 
independently verify this information. Accordingly, no representation, warranty, or undertaking (express or 
implied) is made and no responsibility is accepted by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Hedging Counterparty or 
it’s affiliates, or the Calculation Agent as to the accuracy, completeness, and timeliness of information 
concerning the Indices.

In addition, no representation or warranty of any type, as to condition, satisfactory quality, performance or 
fitness for purpose are given, or duty or liability is assumed, by the Issuer, the Arranger, the Hedging 
Counterparty, the Trustee or the Calculation Agent or any of their respective affiliates in respect of the 
Indices or any data included in or omissions from the Indices, or the use of the Indices in connection with the 
Securities.

6. Definitions

“Additional Disruption Option” has the meaning given in Paragraph 4 (Consequences of an Additional 
Disruption Event) of this Index Provisions Annex.

"Additional Disruption Event" means (i) a Change in Law, and, (ii) a Hedging Disruption.

"Change in Law" means that, on or after the Issue Date of the Securities (a) due to the adoption of or any 
change in any applicable law or regulation (including, without limitation, any tax law), or (b) due to the 
promulgation of or any change in the interpretation by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with 
competent jurisdiction of any applicable law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), 
the Calculation Agent determines in good faith that it has, or it will, become illegal for the Issuer or the 
Hedging Counterparty, any of its Affiliates or any entities which are relevant to the Hedging Arrangements to 
hold, acquire or dispose of Hedge Positions, unless the illegality is due to an act or omission of such party.

"Component" means, in respect of an Index any component included in the Index, as determined by the 
Calculation Agent.

"Component Clearance System" means, in respect of a Component, the principal domestic clearance 
system customarily used for settling trades in the relevant Component. If the Clearance System ceases to 
settle trades in such Component, the Clearance System will be determined by the Calculation Agent.

"Component Clearance System Business Day" means, in respect of a Component Clearance System, any 
day on which such Component Clearance System is (or, but for the occurrence of an Index Settlement 
Disruption Event, would have been) open for the acceptance and execution of settlement instructions.

"Disrupted Day" means, any Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Index on which (i) the relevant Index 
Sponsor fails to publish the level of the relevant Index (provided that the Calculation Agent may, in its 
discretion, determine that such event instead results in the occurrence of an Index Disruption), (ii) any 
Related Exchange fails to open for trading during its regular trading session or (iii) a Market Disruption Event 
has occurred.

"Early Closure" means the closure on any Exchange Business Day of any relevant Exchange relating to any 
Component or any Related Exchange prior to its Scheduled Closing Time, unless such earlier closing time is 
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announced by such Exchange or Related Exchange at least one hour prior to the earlier of (i) the actual 
closing time for the regular trading session on such Exchange or Related Exchange on such Exchange 
Business Day and (ii) the submission deadline for orders to be entered into the Exchange or Related 
Exchange system for execution at the relevant Valuation Time on such Exchange Business Day.

"Exchange" means (i) for any Index and any Component underlying such Index, the principal stock 
exchange on which such Component of the Index is, in the determination of the Calculation Agent, principally 
traded; and (ii) for any Component, the principal stock exchange on which such Component share is, in the 
determination of the Calculation Agent, principally traded.

"Exchange Business Day" means any Scheduled Trading Day in respect of any Index on which (i) the 
relevant Index Sponsor calculates and publishes the level of the relevant Index and (ii) the Related 
Exchange for the relevant Index is open for trading during its regular trading session, notwithstanding any 
Exchange or the Related Exchange for the relevant Index closing prior to its Scheduled Closing Time.

"Exchange Disruption" means any event (other than an Early Closure) that disrupts or impairs, as 
determined by the Calculation Agent, the ability of market participants in general to effect transactions in, or 
obtain market values for, (i) any Component on the relevant Exchange in respect of such Component or (ii) 
futures or options contracts relating to any Index on the relevant Related Exchange.

“Hedging Arrangements” means any hedging arrangements entered into by the Hedging Counterparty 
and/or its Affiliates at any time with respect to the Hedging Counterparty’s obligation to pay any amount in 
accordance with the provisions of the Hedging Agreement, including without limitation the purchase and/or 
sale of any securities, any options or futures on such securities, any depositary receipts in respect of such 
securities and any associated foreign exchange transactions.

"Hedging Disruption" means that the Hedging Counterparty is unable, after using commercially reasonable 
efforts, to (i) acquire, establish, re-establish, substitute, maintain, unwind or dispose of any transaction(s) or 
asset(s) it deems necessary to hedge the price risk of the Issuer issuing and the Issuer performing its 
obligations with respect to or in connection with the Securities, or (ii) realise, recover or remit the proceeds of 
any such transaction(s) or asset(s).

"Hedge Positions" means, any purchase, sale, entry into or maintenance of one or more (i) positions or 
contracts in securities, options, futures, derivatives or foreign exchange, (ii) stock loan transactions or (iii) 
other instruments or arrangements (howsoever described) by a party in order to hedge, individually or on a 
portfolio basis, the Hedging Agreement.

"Index" or “Indices” means, subject to adjustment in accordance with this Index Provisions Annex, any of 
the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index, the Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index and/or the S&P/ASX 200 
Index, as the context shall require. The Indices together shall constitute a basket, with each Index having a 
weight in the basket of 33.33 per cent..

“Index Adjustment Option” has the meaning given in Paragraph 3.2 (Consequences of an Index 
Adjustment Event) of this Index Provisions Annex.

"Index Adjustment Event" means an Index Cancellation, an Index Disruption or an Index Modification.

"Index Cancellation" means the relevant Index Sponsor or Successor Index Sponsor, as applicable, on or 
prior to any Reference Date or any other relevant date, permanently cancelling the relevant Index and no 
Successor Index existing as at the date of such cancellation, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

"Index Disruption" means the Index Sponsor or Successor Index Sponsor, as applicable, on any Reference 
Date or any other relevant date, failing to calculate and announce the Index Level, as determined by the 
Calculation Agent, provided that, the Calculation Agent may, in its discretion, determine that such event 
instead results in the occurrence of a Disrupted Day.
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"Index Event" means the occurrence of either an Index Adjustment Option or an Additional Disruption 
Option.

”Index Event Amount” means an amount in USD equal to the gain (if any) by the Issuer (expressed as a 
positive amount), that would be realised, in replacing or in providing for the Issuer the economic equivalent of 
the material terms of the Index Event Hedging Agreement, including the payments and deliveries by the 
parties under the Index Event Hedging Agreement that would, but for the occurrence of the relevant Index 
Event, have been required on or after the date that the Index Event Hedging Agreement is deemed to have 
been terminated or cancelled (assuming satisfaction of any applicable conditions precedent of the Index 
Event Hedging Agreement), as determined by the Calculation Agent in its reasonable commercial discretion. 
If the relevant Index Event is an Index Disruption, then the Index Event Hedging Agreement will be valued by 
the Calculation Agent using the formula or method to calculate the Index in effect immediately prior to such 
Index Disruption.

“Index Event Hedging Agreement” means, for the purposes of the definition of Index Event Amount only, a 
hypothetical hedging arrangement that shall be deemed to have been entered into by the Hedging 
Counterparty and the Issuer on the same terms as the Hedging Agreement, except that the only payment 
due under the Index Event Hedging Agreement shall be a payment from the Hedging Counterparty to the 
Issuer on the Maturity Date which shall be an amount calculated as follows:

An amount equal to the greater of:

(i) zero; and

(ii) an amount equal to:

(a) the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities outstanding multiplied by the Index Return, minus

(b) the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities outstanding.

The Index Event Hedging Agreement shall be deemed to be terminated (i) in the case of an Index Disruption, 
on the relevant Reference Date or other relevant date, (ii) in the case of an Index Cancellation, on the later of 
the Exchange Business Day immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Index Cancellation and the date the 
Index Cancellation is announced by any Index Sponsor, (iii) in the case of an Index Modification or and 
Additional Disruption Event, the date that the Index Adjustment Option or Additional Disruption Option as 
applicable is exercised upon the occurrence of the applicable Index Modification or Additional Disruption 
Event.

"Index Level" means, on any day in respect of an Index, the official closing level of such Index as of the 
Valuation Time on or in respect of the relevant day as calculated and published by the Index Sponsor or as 
otherwise determined by the Calculation Agent subject as provided in the Index Provisions Annex.

"Index Modification" means an Index Sponsor or Successor Index Sponsor, as applicable, on or prior to 
any Reference Date or any other relevant date, making or announcing that it will make a material change in 
the formula for, or the method of, calculating the relevant Index, or in any other way materially modifying 
such Index (other than a modification prescribed in that formula or method to maintain such Index in the 
event of changes in the Components, capitalisation and/or other routine events), as determined by the 
Calculation Agent.

"Index Settlement Disruption Event" means, in respect of a Component of an Index, an event that the 
Calculation Agent determines is beyond the control of the Issuer and/or its affiliates as a result of which the 
relevant Component Clearance System cannot clear the transfer of such Component.

"Index Sponsor" means, subject to adjustment in accordance with this Index Provisions Annex, Hang Seng 
Data Services Limited in respect of the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index, Korea Exchange in respect of the 
Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index, and/or S&P Dow Jones Indices LLP in respect of the S&P/ASX 
200 Index, as the context may require, and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.
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"Market Disruption Event" means either:

(i) (a) the occurrence or existence, in respect of any Component, of:

(A) a Trading Disruption in respect of such Component, which the Calculation Agent 
determines is material, at any time during the one hour period that ends at the relevant 
Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange on which such Component is principally traded;

(B) an Exchange Disruption in respect of such Component, which the Calculation Agent 
determines is material at any time during the one-hour period that ends at the relevant 
Valuation Time in respect of the Exchange on which such Component is principally traded; 
or

(C) an Early Closure in respect of such Component; and

(b) the aggregate of all Components in respect of which a Trading Disruption, an Exchange 
Disruption or an Early Closure occurs or exists comprises 20 per cent. or more of the level of such 
Index; or

(ii) the occurrence or existence, in each case in respect of futures or options contracts relating to an Index, of 
(A) a Trading Disruption or (B) an Exchange Disruption, which in either case the Calculation Agent 
determines is material, at any time during the one-hour period that ends at the Valuation Time in respect of 
the Related Exchange, or (C) an Early Closure, in each case in respect of such futures or options contract.

For the purposes of determining whether a Market Disruption Event exists at any time, if an Early Closure, an 
Exchange Disruption, or a Trading Disruption occurs in respect of a Component at that time, then the 
relevant percentage contribution of such Component to the level of the Index shall be based on a 
comparison of (x) the portion of the level of the Index attributable to that Component and (y) the overall level 
of the Index, in each case immediately before the occurrence of such Market Disruption Event.

"Maximum Days of Disruption" means eight Scheduled Trading Days in respect of an Index.

"Reference Date" means the Initial Valuation Date or each Observation Date, in each case, subject to 
adjustment in accordance with this Index Provisions Annex.

"Related Exchange" means (i) in relation to an Index, each exchange or quotation system (as determined 
by the Calculation Agent) where trading has a material effect (as determined by the Calculation Agent) on 
the overall market for futures or options contracts relating to the Index, and (ii) for any Component, each 
exchange or quotation system where trading has a material effect on the overall market for futures or options 
contracts relating to the Component share (as determined by the Calculation Agent).

"Scheduled Closing Time" means, in respect of an Index and in respect of an Exchange or Related 
Exchange and a Scheduled Trading Day, the scheduled weekday closing time of such Exchange or Related 
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day, without regard to after hours or any other trading outside of the 
regular trading session hours.

"Scheduled Initial Valuation Date" means any original date that, but for the occurrence of an event causing 
a Disrupted Day, would have been the Initial Valuation Date.

“Scheduled Observation Date” means any original date, but for the occurrence of an event causeing a 
Disrupted Day would have been an Observation Date.

"Scheduled Reference Date" means the Scheduled Initial Valuation Date or the Scheduled Observation
Date.
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"Scheduled Trading Day" means, (i) in respect of any Index, any day on which (a) the relevant Index 
Sponsor is scheduled to publish the level of the Index and (b) the Related Exchange for the Index is 
scheduled to be open for trading for its regular trading session, and (ii) in respect of any Component, any day 
on which the relevant Exchange referenced by the relevant Index and the relevant Related Exchange for 
such Component are scheduled to be open for trading for their respective regular trading sessions.

"Settlement Cycle" means the period of Component Clearance System Business Days following a trade in 
the Components underlying the Index on the Exchange in which settlement will customarily occur according 
to the rules of such Exchange (or, if there are multiple Exchanges in respect of an Index, the longest such 
period).

"Successor Index" has the meaning given in Paragraph 3.1 (Successor Index Sponsor or Successor Index) 
of this Index Provisions Annex.

"Successor Index Sponsor" has the meaning given in Paragraph 3.1 (Successor Index Sponsor or 
Successor Index) of this Index Provisions Annex.

"Trading Disruption" means any suspension of or limitation imposed on trading by any relevant Exchange 
or Related Exchange or otherwise, and whether by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted 
by the relevant Exchange or Related Exchange or otherwise, (i) relating to any Component on the Exchange 
in respect of such Component or (ii) in futures or options contracts relating to the Index on the Related 
Exchange.

"Valuation Time" means (i) for the purposes of determining whether an Early Closure, an Exchange 
Disruption or a Trading Disruption has occurred in respect of (a) any Component, the Scheduled Closing 
Time on the Exchange in respect of such Component, and (b) any options contracts or futures contracts on 
the Index, the close of trading on the Related Exchange, and (ii) in all other circumstances, the time at which 
the official closing level of the Index is calculated and published by the Index Sponsor.
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STRUCTURE AND CASH FLOW

Structure

The Notes are index linked redemption Notes and will not pay any Interest Amount.

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Security will be redeemed on the Maturity 
Date either (i) upon the occurrence of an Index Event, at the Calculation Amount or (ii) if an Index Event has 
not occurred, at an amount equal to (a) the Calculation Amount; and (b) the product of (I) the Calculation 
Amount, (II) the Participation Factor and (III) the greater of zero or the Index Return, and.

The Index Return is subject to a Participation Factor.

If an Index Event occurs an Index Event Amount will be payable to Securityholders 10 Business Days 
following the election by the Calculation Agent to determine such Index Event. The Index Event Amount is 
calculated with reference to a hypothetical hedging agreement and may reflect the performance of the Index 
and may for the avoidance of doubt be zero.

If the Securities are subject to early cancellation pursuant to General Condition 5.1, General Condition 5.2,
General Condition 10, Product Condition 8 or Product Condition 10, each Security will be cancelled at an 
Early Termination Amount (if any) determined by the Calculation Agent to be an amount in USD (which may 
never be less than zero) equal to such Securities' pro rata share of (i) the Market Value Collateral, less (ii) 
the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

If the Securities are subject to early cancellation pursuant to General Condition 5.1 or 5.2, the security 
constituted over the Charged Property will become enforceable and the proceeds of realisation will be 
applied, subject to the priorities of payment specified in General Condition 6.4, to meet the Issuer’s 
obligations in respect of the Securities.

If the Securities are subject to early cancellation pursuant to Product Condition 7, each Security will be 
cancelled at an Early Termination Amount (if any) determined by the Calculation Agent to be an amount in 
USD (which may never be less than zero) equal to such Security’s pro rata share of (i) the proceeds of
redemption of the Collateral, less (ii) the Early Redemption Unwind Costs.

The Maturity Date may be postponed if in the determination of the Calculation Agent a Potential Collateral 
Default Event has occurred and is continuing as of the Scheduled Maturity Date. In no circumstances shall 
any interest or other amount be payable in respect of such delay.

Under the Hedging Agreement, (i) initially the Issuer shall pay to the Hedging Counterparty the proceeds of 
issue of the Securities in exchange for the Collateral, (ii) an amount sufficient to fund certain redemption or 
termination amounts due under the Securities is payable from the Hedging Counterparty to the Issuer in 
exchange for interest payable on the Collateral and for the Collateral (or the proceeds of redemption thereof). 
Under the Hedging Agreement the Issuer delivers the Collateral to the Hedging Counterparty.

The Arranger confirms that the assets backing the issue have characteristics that demonstrate capacity to 
produce funds to service any payments due and payable on the Securities.  However, this is not a guarantee 
given by the Arranger and the Issuer as a special purpose vehicle has only limited resources available (see 
"Limited Recourse Obligations and Related Risks" under the heading "Risk Factors - Programme").  
Investors are advised that this confirmation is based on the information available to the Arranger at the date 
of this Prospectus and may be affected by the future performance of such assets backing the issue of 
Securities.  

The Issuer will appoint Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as Paying Agent to effect payments in respect of 
the Securities and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as Custodian in respect of the Collateral.  The bank 
accounts relating to this offer of the Securities will be held with Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt, Deutsche Bank 
AG, Taunusanlage 12, 60325 FRANKFURT AM MAIN, GERMANY
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INDICES DISCLAIMER

Hong Kong Hang Seng Index Disclaimer

The Hong Kong Hang Seng Index (the “Index”) is published and compiled by Hang Seng Indexes Company 
Limited pursuant to a licence from Hang Seng Data Services Limited. The mark and name Hong Kong Hang 
Seng Index is proprietary to Hang Seng Data Services Limited. Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited and 
Hang Seng Data Services Limited have agreed to the use of, and reference to, the Index by dbInvestor 
Solutions 2 plc in connection with USD5,000,000 Secured Notes Linked to Equity Indices due 2021 (the 
“Product”), BUT NEITHER HANG SENG INDEXES COMPANY LIMITED NOR HANG SENG DATA 
SERVICES LIMITED WARRANTS OR REPRESENTS OR GUARANTEES TO ANY BROKER OR 
HOLDER OF THE PRODUCT OR ANY OTHER PERSON (i) THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF 
THE INDEX AND ITS COMPUTATION OR ANY INFORMATION RELATED THERETO; OR (ii) THE 
FITNESS OR SUITABILITY FOR ANY PURPOSE OF THE INDEX OR ANY COMPONENT OR DATA 
COMPRISED IN IT; OR (iii) THE RESULTS WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED BY ANY PERSON FROM THE 
USE OF THE INDEX OR ANY COMPONENT OR DATA COMPRISED IN IT FOR ANY PURPOSE, AND 
NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OR GUARANTEE OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER RELATING 
TO THE INDEX IS GIVEN OR MAY BE IMPLIED. The process and basis of computation and compilation of 
the Index and any of the related formula or formulae, constituent stocks and factors may at any time be 
changed or altered by Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited without notice. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED 
BY APPLICABLE LAW, NO RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY IS ACCEPTED BY HANG SENG INDEXES 
COMPANY LIMITED OR HANG SENG DATA SERVICES LIMITED (i) IN RESPECT OF THE USE OF 
AND/OR REFERENCE TO THE INDEX BY DBINVESTOR SOLUTIONS 2 PLC IN CONNECTION WITH 
THE PRODUCT; OR (ii) FOR ANY INACCURACIES, OMISSIONS, MISTAKES OR ERRORS OF HANG 
SENG INDEXES COMPANY LIMITED IN THE COMPUTATION OF THE INDEX; OR (iii) FOR ANY 
INACCURACIES, OMISSIONS, MISTAKES, ERRORS OR INCOMPLETENESS OF ANY INFORMATION 
USED IN CONNECTION WITH THE COMPUTATION OF THE INDEX WHICH IS SUPPLIED BY ANY 
OTHER PERSON; OR (iv) FOR ANY ECONOMIC OR OTHER LOSS WHICH MAY BE DIRECTLY OR 
INDIRECTLY SUSTAINED BY ANY BROKER OR HOLDER OF THE PRODUCT OR ANY OTHER 
PERSON DEALING WITH THE PRODUCT AS A RESULT OF ANY OF THE AFORESAID, AND NO 
CLAIMS, ACTIONS OR LEGAL PROCEEDINGS MAY BE BROUGHT AGAINST HANG SENG INDEXES 
COMPANY LIMITED AND/OR HANG SENG DATA SERVICES LIMITED in connection with the Product in 
any manner whatsoever by any broker, holder or other person dealing with the Product. Any broker, holder 
or other person dealing with the Product does so therefore in full knowledge of this disclaimer and can place 
no reliance whatsoever on Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited and Hang Seng Data Services Limited. For 
the avoidance of doubt, this disclaimer does not create any contractual or quasi-contractual relationship 
between any broker, holder or other person and Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited and/or Hang Seng 
Data Services Limited and must not be construed to have created such relationship

Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index Disclaimer

1. KRX does not guarantee the accuracy and/or the completeness of the KRX indexes or any data 
included therein and KRX shall have no liability for any errors, omissions, or interruptions therein.

2. KRX does not guarantee the accuracy and/or the completeness of the KRX indexes or any data 
included therein to licensee, purchasers of the financial products linked to KRX indexes, or any other 
person or entity that uses the KRX indexes or any data included therein.

3. KRX makes no express or implied warranties, and expressly disclaims all warranties of 
merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose or use with respect to the KRX indexes or any data 
included therein.

4. Without limiting any of the foregoing, in no event shall KRX have any liability for any special, 
punitive, indirect, or consequential damages (including lost profits), even if notified of the possibility 
of such damages.
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5. KRX makes no representation or warranty, express or implied, to the owners of the financial 
products linked to KRX indexes or any member of the public regarding the advisability of investing in 
securities generally or in the products particularly or the ability of the KRX indexes to track general 
stock market performance (profitability).

6. KRX's only relationship to the licensee is the licensing of certain trademarks and trade names of 
KRX and of the KRX indexes which is determined, composed and calculated by KRX without regard 
to the licensee or the content of the product.

7. KRX has no obligation to take the needs of the licensee or the owners of the financial products 
linked to KRX indexes into consideration in determining, composing or calculating the KRX indexes. 
KRX is not responsible for and has not participated in the determination of the timing of the issuance 
or sale of the derivative products linked to KRX indexes or in the determination or calculation of the 
equation by which the derivative products linked to KRX indexes is to be converted into cash.

8. KRX has no obligation or liability to the owners of the financial products linked to KRX indexes in 
connection with the administration, marketing or trading of the Product.

9. The disclaimers of KRX under this section shall continue to be effective even after the termination of 
the Index license agreement.

S&P/ASX 200 Disclaimer

The "S&P/ASX 200 Index" is a product of S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC or its affiliates (“SPDJI”) and ASX 
Operations PTY Ltd, and has been licensed for use by dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc. Standard & Poor’s® and 
S&P® are registered trademarks of Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC (“S&P”) and Dow Jones® is a 
registered trademark of Dow Jones Trademark Holdings LLC (“Dow Jones”). ASX Operations PTY Ltd’s 
Trademark is a trademark of ASX Operations PTY Ltd. The trademarks have been licensed to SPDJI and 
have been sublicensed for use for certain purposes by dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc. The USD5,000,000 
Secured Notes Linked to Equity Indices due 2021 (the “Securities”) are not sponsored, endorsed, sold or 
promoted by SPDJI, Dow Jones, S&P, any of their respective affiliates (collectively, “S&P Dow Jones 
Indices”) or ASX Operations PTY Ltd. Neither S&P Dow Jones Indices nor ASX Operations PTY Ltd makes 
any representation or warranty, express or implied, to the owners of the Securities or any member of the 
public regarding the advisability of investing in securities generally or in the Securities particularly or the 
ability of the S&P/ASX 200 Index to track general market performance. S&P Dow Jones Indices and ASX 
Operations PTY Ltd only relationship to dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc with respect to the S&P/ASX 200 Index is 
the licensing of the Index and certain trademarks, service marks and/or trade names of S&P Dow Jones 
Indices and/or its licensors. The S&P/ASX 200 Index is determined, composed and calculated by S&P Dow 
Jones Indices or ASX Operations PTY Ltd without regard to dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc or the 
Securities. S&P Dow Jones Indices and ASX Operations PTY Ltd have no obligation to take the needs of 
dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc or the owners of the Securities into consideration in determining, composing or 
calculating the S&P/ASX 200 Index. Neither S&P Dow Jones Indices nor ASX Operations PTY Ltd are
responsible for and have not participated in the determination of the prices, and amount of Securities or the 
timing of the issuance or sale of the Securities or in the determination or calculation of the equation by which 
the Securities are to be converted into cash, surrendered or redeemed, as the case may be. S&P Dow 
Jones Indices and ASX Operations PTY Ltd have no obligation or liability in connection with the 
administration, marketing or trading of the Securities. There is no assurance that investment products based 
on the S&P/ASX 200 Index will accurately track index performance or provide positive investment 
returns. S&P Dow Jones Indices LLC is not an investment advisor. Inclusion of a security within an index is 
not a recommendation by S&P Dow Jones Indices to buy, sell, or hold such security, nor is it considered to 
be investment advice.

NEITHER S&P DOW JONES INDICES NOR ASX OPERATIONS PTY LTD GUARANTEES THE 
ADEQUACY, ACCURACY, TIMELINESS AND/OR THE COMPLETENESS OF THE S&P/ASX 200 INDEX 
OR ANY DATA RELATED THERETO OR ANY COMMUNICATION, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, 
ORAL OR WRITTEN COMMUNICATION (INCLUDING ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS) WITH 
RESPECT THERETO. S&P DOW JONES INDICES AND ASX OPERATIONS PTY LTD SHALL NOT BE 
SUBJECT TO ANY DAMAGES OR LIABILITY FOR ANY ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR DELAYS 
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THEREIN. S&P DOW JONES INDICES AND ASX OPERATIONS PTY LTD MAKE NO EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED WARRANTIES, AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, OF MERCHANTABILITY OR 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE OR AS TO RESULTS TO BE OBTAINED BY 
DBINVESTOR SOLUTIONS 2 PLC, OWNERS OF THE SECURITIES, OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR 
ENTITY FROM THE USE OF THE S&P/ASX 200 INDEX OR WITH RESPECT TO ANY DATA RELATED 
THERETO. WITHOUT LIMITING ANY OF THE FOREGOING, IN NO EVENT WHATSOEVER SHALL S&P 
DOW JONES INDICES OR ASX OPERATIONS PTY LTD BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, 
INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, LOSS 
OF PROFITS, TRADING LOSSES, LOST TIME OR GOODWILL, EVEN IF THEY HAVE BEEN ADVISED 
OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR 
OTHERWISE. THERE ARE NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES OF ANY AGREEMENTS OR 
ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN S&P DOW JONES INDICES AND DBINVESTOR SOLUTIONS 2 PLC, 
OTHER THAN THE LICENSORS OF S&P DOW JONES INDICES.
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CHARGED PROPERTY

1. Nature of the Collateral: The Collateral (ISIN: XS0602546136) will comprise debt securities 
as specified in the Product Conditions.

The Collateral bears interest at a fixed rate of 6.125 per cent. per 
annum.

On the Issue Date, the ratio between the nominal amount of 
Collateral and the principal amount of the Securities is 1/1.

2. Description of Obligor(s):

Full Legal 
Name Address

Country of 
Incorporation

Nature of 
Business

Nature of 
Market on 
which 
Securities 
are Traded

Hedging 
Counterparty

Deutsche Bank 
AG, London 
Branch

Winchester 
House, 1 Great 

Winchester 
Street, London 

EC2N 2DB

Germany Banking and 
financial 
services

Regulated 
Market of the 

Frankfurt 
Stock 

Exchange

Issuer of the 
Collateral

Republic of 
Lithuania

Ministry of 
Finance, Lukiskiu 

2, LT-01512 
Vilinus, Lithuania

Lithuania Sovereign 
country Baltic 

region of 
northern 
Europe

Regulated 
Market of 

Luxembourg 
Stock 

Exchange

3. Maturity or expiry date(s) of the 
Collateral

9 March 2021.

4. Governing law of the Collateral English law

Certain of the information set out above has been extracted from the webpage of the Bourse de Luxembourg
(the Luxembourg Stock Exchange) on which certain limited information in relation to the Collateral can be 
obtained (https://www.bourse.lu/home) (the “Collateral Webpage”). The Issuer confirms that such 
information has been accurately reproduced. So far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from 
information published by the obligor(s) of the Collateral, no facts have been omitted which would render the 
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.  In particular, none of the Issuer, the Hedging 
Counterparty, the Trustee, the Arranger, the Agents or any of their affiliates (each a "Transaction 
Participant") has verified such information and, accordingly, none of them makes any representation or 
warranty, express or implied, as to its accuracy or completeness.  None of the Transaction Participants has 
made any investigation of the obligor(s) in respect of the Collateral or has taken any steps to verify the 
validity and binding nature of the Collateral.  Prospective purchasers of the Securities should make their own 
investigation of the obligor(s) in respect of the Collateral (including, without limitation, with regard to its 
financial condition and creditworthiness) and the full terms of the Collateral.

The above summary is qualified in its entirety by the information contained in the Collateral 
Webpage.
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INFORMATION RELATING TO THE UNDERLYING

The Issuer confirms that the following information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is 
aware, and is able to ascertain from published information, no facts have been omitted which would render 
the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. In particular, none of the Transaction Participants has 
verified such information and, accordingly, none of them makes any representation or warranty, express or 
implied, as to its accuracy or completeness.

The Hong Kong Hang Seng Index

General

The Hong Kong Hang Seng Index is a free-float capitalization-weighted index of a selection of 40 of the 
largest companies that trade on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The index aims to capture the 
leadership of the Hong Kong exchange, and covers approximately 65% of its total market capitalization. The 
Hang Seng members are classified into one of four sub-indexes based on the main lines of business 
including Commerce and Industry, Finance, Utilities, and Properties. The Hong Kong Hang Seng Index is the 
most widely quoted barometer for the Hong Kong economy and is the main indicator of the overall market 
performance in Hong Kong.

The above has been extracted from the Hang Seng Indexes website (http://www.hsi.com.hk/).  None of the 
Transaction Participants has made any investigation of Hang Seng Data Services Limited in respect of the 
Index.  Prospective purchasers of the Securities should make their own investigation of Hang Seng Data 
Services Limited (including, without limitation, with regard to its financial condition and creditworthiness) and 
the full terms of Hang Seng Data Services Limited.

Further Information Relating to the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index

Further information on past and further performance of the Hong Kong Hang Seng Index Underlying and its 
volatility can be obtained from internationally recognised published or electronically displayed sources 
(including, but not limited to, Bloomberg) and the Hang Seng Indexes website (http://www.hsi.com.hk/).

The Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index 

General

The Korea Stock Exchange KOSPI 200 Index is a capitalization-weighted index of Korean stocks on the 
Korea Stock Exchange. It comprises the 200 largest publicly-traded companies on the Korean Exchange 
which make up 93% of the total market value. It maps over 70% of the total capitalization of the exchange 
and is the most liquid index for the South Korean market. The index is seen as a barometer of the overall 
movements of the Korean stock market and is used to benchmark the performance of investors and funds in 
the Korean market.

The above has been extracted from the Korea Exchange website (http://eng.krx.co.kr/). None of the 
Transaction Participants has made any investigation of the Korea Exchange in respect of the Index.  
Prospective purchasers of the Securities should make their own investigation of the Korea Exchange 
(including, without limitation, with regard to its financial condition and creditworthiness) and the full terms of 
the Korea Exchange.

Further Information Relating to the Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index

Further information on past and further performance of Korea Stock Exchange KOPSI 200 Index Underlying 
and its volatility can be obtained from internationally recognised published or electronically displayed sources 
(including, but not limited to, Bloomberg) and the Korea Exchange website (http://eng.krx.co.kr/).

http://www.hsi.com.hk/
http://www.hsi.com.hk/
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The S&P/ASX 200 Index 

General

The S&P/ASX 200 index is a market-capitalization weighted and float-adjusted stock market index of 
Australian stocks listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. It is the primary investment benchmark for the 
Australian stock market, measuring the performance of the 200 largest index eligible stocks list on the 
exchange. The S&P/ASX 200 Index is composed of the S&P ASX 100 Index plus another 100 stocks. The 
index covers approximately 80% of Australian equity market capitalization. ASX mini futures 200 contracts 
are also based on this index.

The above has been extracted from the S&P Dow Jones Indices website (http://us.spindices.com/). None of 
the Transaction Participants has made any investigation of S&P Dow Jones Indices LLP in respect of the 
Index.  Prospective purchasers of the Securities should make their own investigation of S&P Dow Jones 
Indices LLP (including, without limitation, with regard to its financial condition and creditworthiness) and the 
full terms of S&P Dow Jones Indices LLP.

Further Information Relating to the S&P/ASX 200 Index

Further information on past and further performance of S&P/ASX 200 Index Underlying and its volatility can 
be obtained from internationally recognised published or electronically displayed sources (including, but not 
limited to, Bloomberg) and the S&P Dow Jones Indices website (http://us.spindices.com/).

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stock_market_index
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Australian_Securities_Exchange
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE ISSUER

The issue of the Securities was approved pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors dated 15
December 2014.  The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations (if any) 
which are necessary in Ireland at the date of this Securities Section in connection with the issue and 
performance of the Securities.

The estimated amount of the expenses of the Issuer in connection with the admission to trading of the 
Securities on the regulated market of the Irish Stock Exchange is EUR 5,000, such amount to be discharged 
on behalf of the Issuer by the Arranger.

B. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR IRELAND

1. Notices

Notices to Securityholders shall be given in accordance with General Condition 15.  In addition, and for so 
long as the Securities are listed on the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange, notices will be given in 
accordance with the rules of the Irish Stock Exchange which for so long as the rules of the Irish Stock 
Exchange so require, by publication through the Company Announcements Office of the Irish Stock 
Exchange.

2. Settlement and Clearing

The Global Security will be deposited with a depositary and has been accepted for clearing by Euroclear 
Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream”) under the security 
and clearing codes set out below.

ISIN Code: XS1150782750

Common Code: 115078275

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels and the 
address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg.

C. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION IN RELATION TO THE PARTIES TO THE STRUCTURE

1. General

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, which is the London branch of Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft (“DB 
AG”), is the Arranger, Hedging Counterparty, Principal Agent, Custodian and Paying Agent.  The Arranger's 
relationship with the Issuer is to act in its capacity as arranger in respect of the Securities, the Hedging 
Counterparty's relationship with the Issuer is to act in its capacity as counterparty under the Hedging 
Agreement and the Principal Agent, Custodian and the Paying Agent's relationship with the Issuer is to act 
as principal agent, custodian and paying agent under the Agency Agreement in relation to the Securities.

Deutsche Trustee Company Limited is the Trustee.  The Trustee's relationship with the Issuer is to act as 
trustee in relation to the Securities under the Trust Instrument.

Deutsche Trustee Company Limited is directly or indirectly a wholly owned subsidiary of DB AG.

DB AG is the parent company of a group consisting of banks, capital market companies, research and 
consultancy companies, property finance company, instalment financing companies, research and consulting 
companies and other domestic and foreign companies.
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2. Calculation Agent

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, which is the London branch of DB AG, is the Calculation Agent.  The 
Calculation Agent's address is Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester Street, London, EC2N 2DB.  The 
Calculation Agent's relationship with the Issuer is to act as its calculation agent in relation to the Securities.  
DB AG is the parent company of a group consisting of banks, capital market companies, fund management 
companies, a property finance company, instalment financing companies, research and consultancy 
companies and other domestic and foreign companies.

The objects of DB AG, as laid down in its Articles of Association, include the transaction of all kinds of 
banking business, the provision of financial and other services and the promotion of international economic 
relations.  DB AG may realise these objectives itself or through subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Calculation Agent's Responsibilities

The Calculation Agent is responsible for making any determination or calculation required to be made by it 
pursuant to the Conditions and performing such other duties as it may be required to perform pursuant to the 
Conditions.

Termination of Appointment of Calculation Agent and Appointment of Successor Calculation Agent

The appointment of the Calculation Agent will terminate, inter alia, if the Calculation Agent becomes 
incapable of acting, or is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, or files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy.

The Issuer may appoint a successor Calculation Agent and/or terminate the appointment of any Calculation 
Agent by giving at least 60 days' notice to that effect provided that no such termination of the appointment of 
the Calculation Agent shall take effect until a successor Calculation Agent has been appointed.

3. The Hedging Counterparty and the Custodian

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch is the Hedging Counterparty and the Custodian as described above.  
The address of the Hedging Counterparty and the Custodian is Winchester House, 1 Great Winchester 
Street, London EC2N 2DB.
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PART E

PROGRAMME SECTION
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General

Under its Programme for the issuance of Secured Securities (the “Programme”) described in this 
Programme Section (the “Programme Section”), dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc (the “Issuer”), subject to 
compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, may from time to time issue secured notes 
(“Notes”) and secured certificates (“Certificates” and, together with Notes, “Securities”) and in conjunction 
therewith may from time to time buy, sell or enter into options, swaps or repurchases, substantially on the 
terms set out herein, as supplemented in respect of each issue by specific terms applicable to that issue 
(each, the “Product Conditions” for that issue).  The Securities may relate to shares and/or indices and/or 
debt securities and/or commodities and/or currencies and/or any other reference basis (each an 
“Underlying”).

The terms and conditions of the Securities (the “Conditions”) are comprised of the General 
Conditions set out in this Programme Section, as completed, modified and amended by the Product 
Conditions set out in the relevant Securities Section.

Security

Securities will be issued in Series (as defined in the “General Conditions”) and, unless otherwise stated in 
the relevant Product Conditions, each Series will be secured by:

(1) a first fixed charge and/or an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of Deutsche Trustee 
Company Limited as trustee (the “Trustee”) acting under the relevant trust instrument (the “Trust 
Instrument”) over or in respect of certain bonds, notes, shares, gilts, cash deposits denominated in 
any currency, futures, options, swaps, derivatives and similar instruments, commodity futures, 
commodity options, invoices, receivables, leases and loan and lease portfolios, bills of exchange, 
acceptance credits and all other documents of title relating to the movement of goods, commercial 
paper, promissory notes and any other negotiable or transferable instruments and/or any other 
financial obligations assigned to or acquired by the Issuer or any other agreed assets (the 
“Collateral”) and all of the Issuer's rights in respect of and sums derived from the Collateral 
(including, without limitation, the proceeds of sale thereof), and an assignment by way of a first fixed 
charge in favour of the Trustee of all of the Issuer's rights in respect of the Collateral against the 
Custodian (as defined in “General Conditions”);

(2) an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all of the Issuer's rights, title 
and interest under each interest rate and/or currency and/or other exchange agreement (each a 
“Hedging Agreement”) and/or a repurchase agreement (the “Repurchase Agreement”) and any 
sums of money, securities or other property received or receivable by the Issuer thereunder;

(3) a first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee over (i) the Issuer's right to all sums held by the Principal 
Agent (as defined in “General Conditions”) and/or any Paying Agent (as defined in “General 
Conditions”) and/or the Custodian to meet payments due in respect of the Securities, (ii) any sums of 
money, securities or other property received or receivable by the Issuer under any relevant Hedging 
Agreement(s) and/or Repurchase Agreement and (iii) all of the Issuer's rights as against the 
Custodian in respect of any sum standing to the credit of the Deposit Account or the Repurchase 
Account (each as defined in “General Conditions”); and

(4) an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all of the Issuer's 
rights, title and interest under the Agency Agreement (as defined in “General Conditions”) 
and all sums derived therefrom in respect of the Securities,

together with such additional security, if any, as may be described in the relevant Product Conditions 
(together the “Charged Property”).

In relation to certain Series, the Charged Property may not include Collateral and as a consequence, security 
for the Securities may be limited to the claims of the Issuer against each counterparty (each a “Hedging 
Counterparty”) to each Hedging Agreement, or the counterparty to a Repurchase Agreement or other 
agreement.  In respect of each Series, the respective rankings for priority of the interests of the holders of the 
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Securities of such Series and of each Hedging Counterparty and each other party entitled to the benefit of 
such first fixed charge and/or assignment and/or other security interest in favour of the Trustee (each a 
“Secured Party”) in the proceeds of such first fixed charge and/or assignment and/or other security interest 
shall be as follows: all such proceeds shall be applied first in payment of all amounts outstanding to the
Trustee (including all its fees, costs, charges, expenses and liabilities), secondly in payment of any amounts 
owing to each Hedging Counterparty, thirdly pro rata in payment of any amounts outstanding to the 
Securityholders and fourthly in respect of any balance to the Issuer all in accordance with General Condition 
6.4 and subject to the provisions of the Trust Instrument.  The obligations of the Issuer under each Hedging 
Agreement to the relevant Hedging Counterparty under such Hedging Agreement may also be secured by 
certain assets comprised in the Charged Property.  The Issuer may, if specified in the relevant Product 
Conditions in relation to the Securities of a particular Series, enter into a Repurchase Agreement subject to 
such terms as each Relevant Rating Agency (as defined in “General Conditions”) may require if such 
Securities either have been or will be rated by such Relevant Rating Agency, and such other terms and 
conditions as are specified herein and in the terms of such Securities.

Claims against the Issuer by holders of the Securities of a particular Series and, if applicable, each 
Hedging Counterparty and each other Secured Party will be limited to the Charged Property 
applicable to that Series.  If the net proceeds of the enforcement of the Charged Property for any 
Series are not sufficient to make all payments due in respect of the Securities of that Series and, if 
applicable, due to each Hedging Counterparty and each Secured Party, no other assets of the Issuer 
will be available to meet such shortfall and the claims of holders of the Securities and, if applicable, 
any such Hedging Counterparty or Secured Party in respect of any such shortfall shall be 
extinguished and no such party will be able to petition for the winding-up of the Issuer as a 
consequence of any such shortfall.

Listing and Admission to Trading

References in this Programme Section to Securities which are intended to be “listed” (and all related 
references) shall mean that such Securities are admitted to trading on the Irish Stock Exchange's regulated 
market and are listed on the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange.  The Irish Stock Exchange's regulated 
market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2004/39/EC.

The relevant Product Conditions in respect of a Series of Securities will specify whether Securities will be 
listed on the Official List of the Irish Stock Exchange.  Securities may also be listed or admitted to trading, as 
the case may be, on such other or further stock exchange(s) or markets or may be unlisted and/or not 
admitted to trading on any market as may be specified in the applicable Securities Section relating to such 
Series.

Form

Each Series of Securities will be represented by a global security (a “Global Security”).  Definitive Securities 
will not be issued.

Each Global Security will be deposited with the relevant depositary on behalf of the Clearing Agent(s) (as 
specified in the relevant Product Conditions) on the date of issue of the Securities.

Ratings

Each Series of Securities may be rated by one or more Relevant Rating Agencies.  Unrated Securities may 
also be issued provided that each Relevant Rating Agency has reviewed the terms of such Securities and 
confirmed in writing that all its current rating(s) of Securities then in force will not be adversely affected by the 
issue of such unrated Securities.  Any rating of any Securities will be specified in the relevant Product 
Conditions.  Whether or not each such rating will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the 
European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 will also be disclosed in the relevant 
Product Conditions.  A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be 
subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency at its own 
discretion.
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Currency References

In this Programme Section, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to 
“dollars”, “U.S. dollars”, “USD” and “U.S.$” are to United States dollars and references to “euro”, “EUR” and 
“€” are to the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in 
accordance with the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

Selling Restrictions

The Securities will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  Any offer 
or sale of the Securities must be made in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of such Act 
pursuant to Regulation S thereunder.  The Securities may not be offered, sold or otherwise transferred in the 
United States or to persons who are either U.S. persons as defined in Regulation S of such Act or persons 
who do not come within the definition of a non-United States person under Rule 4.7 of the United States 
Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.  For a description of further restrictions on the offer, sale and 
transfer of the Securities, please refer to “Sales Restrictions” below.



84 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

GENERAL CONDITIONS

The following (other than the text in italics) is the text of the general conditions (the “General Conditions” 
and, together with the Product Conditions, the “Conditions”) which, together with the provisions of the 
relevant Product Conditions), will be applicable to such Series and will be attached to the relevant Global 
Security.  The relevant Product Conditions will complete and supplement the General Conditions in relation 
to each Series and may modify and/or vary the General Conditions in relation to such Series.

This Series of Securities is constituted and secured by the Trust Instrument.

By executing the Trust Instrument, the Issuer and the Trustee have entered into the Agency Agreement on 
the terms set out in and/or incorporated by reference into the Trust Instrument with the persons (if any) 
executing the Trust Instrument as the Principal Agent and/or as the Custodian and/or as the Calculation 
Agent and/or as the Selling Agent and/or in such other capacity as may be specified in the Trust Instrument.

If any person has executed the Trust Instrument in the capacity of a Hedging Counterparty, the Issuer and 
such Hedging Counterparty have, by executing the Trust Instrument, entered into a Hedging Agreement.

If any person has executed the Trust Instrument in the capacity of the Repurchase Counterparty, the Issuer 
and the Repurchase Counterparty have, by executing the Trust Instrument, entered into the Repurchase 
Agreement.

If any person or persons have executed the Trust Instrument in the capacity of the Purchaser, the Issuer and 
the Purchaser have by executing the Trust Instrument, entered into a Purchase Agreement.

These General Conditions apply in relation to the Securities, in each case as completed, modified and/or 
amended by the provisions of the relevant Product Conditions and the provisions of the Trust Instrument.  
Each reference herein to a specific numbered General Condition is to such General Condition as so 
completed, modified or amended.  These General Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the 
detailed provisions of the Trust Instrument and the Product Conditions.  Copies of the Trust Instrument and 
the documents incorporated by reference therein (including the provisions of the Agency Agreement, each 
Hedging Agreement (if any) and the Repurchase Agreement (if any) are available for inspection during 
normal office hours at the registered office of the Trustee and the specified office of each of the Paying 
Agents save that where this Series of Securities is unlisted, the aforementioned documents may only be 
inspected by a holder of such Securities and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Trustee 
or the relevant Paying Agent, as the case may be, as to its holding of such Securities and identity.  The 
Securityholders are deemed to have notice of, and shall be bound by, all of the provisions of the Trust 
Instrument and the documents incorporated by reference therein (including the provisions of the Agency 
Agreement, each Hedging Agreement (if any) and the Repurchase Agreement (if any)) applicable to them.

Where no reference is made in the Product Conditions to any Hedging Agreement, Repurchase Agreement, 
Custodian or Selling Agent, references in these General Conditions to any such document or agreement and 
to any Hedging Counterparty, Repurchase Counterparty, Custodian or Selling Agent, as the case may be, 
shall not be applicable.

1. Definitions and Interpretation

Definitions1.1

In these General Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall 
have the meanings set out below:

“Additional Security Document” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.2.

“Agency Agreement” means the agency agreement in respect of the Securities entered into by the 
Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents, as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time.
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“Agents” means the Principal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Custodian, the Calculation Agent, the 
Selling Agent or any of them and shall include such further or other person or persons as may be 
appointed from time to time an agent under the Agency Agreement with the prior written approval of 
the Trustee under the Trust Instrument.

“Calculation Agent” means the person (if any) executing the Trust Instrument in the capacity of 
calculation agent.

“Clearing Agent” means the person specified as such in the Product Conditions.

“Collateral” means, in respect of each Series of Securities, certain bonds, notes, shares, gilts, cash 
deposits denominated in any currency, futures, options, swaps, derivatives and similar instruments, 
commodity futures, commodity options, invoices, receivables, leases and loans and lease portfolios, 
bills of exchange, acceptance credits and all other documents of title relating to the movement of 
goods, commercial paper, any other negotiable or transferable instruments and/or any other financial 
obligations assigned to or acquired by the Issuer or any other agreed assets, as specified in the 
relevant Product Conditions.

“Custodian” means the person(s) (if any) executing the Trust Instrument in the capacity of 
custodian.

“Delivery Date” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Deposit Account” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.2.

“Early Termination Amount” means the amount, or as the case may be, the method of determining 
such amount, specified in the Product Conditions.

“Eligible Securities” means securities or other assets of the type or types, and in the amount or 
amounts, specified for this purpose in the Product Conditions.

“Entitled Beneficiary” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.7.1.

“Equivalent Rating” has the meaning given in Product Condition 4.

“Event of Default” means each of the events specified as such in General Condition 10.

“Exercise Date” means the date (if any) specified as such in the Product Conditions.

“Extraordinary Resolution” means a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in 
accordance with the Trust Instrument by a majority of at least 75 per cent. of the votes cast or a 
resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in aggregate 
Nominal Amount of the Securities for the time being outstanding.

“Fungible Collateral” means an amount of debt or equity securities equivalent to the Purchased 
Collateral the subject of the relevant Purchase Transaction (provided that, if and to the extent that 
such Purchased Collateral has been redeemed, such expression shall mean a sum of money 
equivalent to (and in the same currency as) the proceeds of such redemption) and debt or equity 
securities are “equivalent to” Purchased Collateral if they (i) are of the same issuer or obligor, (ii) are 
part of the same issue, series or class, (iii) are of an identical type, nominal value and description 
and amount as the Purchased Collateral and (iv) have the same terms and conditions and rank in all 
respects pari passu and equally with the Purchased Collateral.

“Global Security” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 2.1.
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“Hedging Agreement” means each hedging agreement between the Issuer and a Hedging 
Counterparty in respect of the Securities on the terms set out in and/or incorporated by reference 
into the Trust Instrument, as supplemented by a confirmation entered into by the Issuer and such 
Hedging Counterparty and dated the Issue Date and as amended, restated and/or supplemented 
from time to time.

“Hedging Agreement Termination Date” means the date specified as such in the Product 
Conditions.

“Hedging Counterparty” means a person (if any) executing the Trust Instrument in the capacity of 
Hedging Counterparty.

“Income Payment” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Issue Date” means the date specified as such in the Product Conditions.

“Issuer” means dbInvestor Solutions 2 plc.

“Maturing Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.2.

“Maturing Purchased Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.3.

“Maturity Date” means, in the case of Notes, the maturity date of the Notes, as specified in the 
Product Conditions.

“Net Proceeds” means the net proceeds of the realisation of the security created pursuant to the 
Trust Instrument and/or any Additional Security Document.

“Nominal Amount” means, in relation to any Security, the nominal amount of such Security, as 
specified in the Product Conditions.

“Paying Agent” means each of the Agent and any substitute or additional paying agents appointed 
in accordance with the Trust Instrument.

“Permitted Indebtedness” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 8.1.1.

“Permitted Investments” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 8.1.1.

“Potential Event of Default” means an event which, with the giving of notice and/or lapse of time 
and/or the forming of an opinion, would become an Event of Default.

“Principal Agent” means the person executing the Trust Instrument in the capacity of issuing and 
paying agent.

“Product Conditions” means the product conditions relating to a Series of Securities as attached to 
the Global Security representing such Series.

“Purchase Notice” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Purchase Option” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Purchase Price” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Purchase Transaction” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Purchased Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.
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“Redelivery Date” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Relevant Rating Agency” means each rating agency specified as such in the Product Conditions.

“Replaced Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.1.

“Replaced Purchased Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.2.

“Replacement” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.1 or, as the case may 
be, General Condition 7.2.2.

“Replacement Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.1.

“Replacement Purchased Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 
7.2.2.

“Repurchase Account” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.1.

“Repurchase Agreement” means a repurchase agreement between the Issuer and the Repurchase 
Counterparty in respect of the Securities on the terms set out in and/or incorporated by reference 
into the Trust Instrument, as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time.

“Repurchase Counterparty” means the person (if any) executing the Trust Instrument in the 
capacity of repurchase counterparty.

“Repurchase Counterparty Deposit Account” has the meaning given to that term in General 
Condition 7.2.3.

“Repurchase Price” has the meaning given to that term in Condition 7.2.1.

“Securityholder Expenses” means, in respect of a Security, all taxes, duties and/or expenses, 
including any applicable depository charges, transaction or exercise charges, stamp duty, stamp 
duty reserve tax, issue, registration, securities transfer and/or other taxes or duties, in each case 
payable by or on behalf of the Issuer and arising in connection with (i) the exercise of such Security 
and/or (ii) any payment and/or delivery due following exercise, cancellation, repurchase, redemption 
or otherwise in respect of such Security.

“Selling Agent” means Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

“Settlement Date” means, in the case of Certificates, the date upon which the Cash Settlement 
Amount is payable, or, as the case may be, the Physical Settlement Amount is deliverable, in each 
case as specified in the Product Conditions.

“Shortfall” means the amount, if any, by which the amount of the Net Proceeds is less than the 
payments which would, but for the provisions of General Condition 6.8, have been due under the 
Securities and each Hedging Agreement and/or to any other person entitled to the benefit of the 
security created pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or the Additional Security Document.

“Substitute Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.2.

“Substitute Company” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 12.4.

“Substitute Purchased Collateral” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 7.2.3.

“Substitution” has the meaning given to that term in General Condition 6.5.2 or, as the case may 
be, General Condition 7.2.3.



88 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

“Trustee” means Deutsche Trustee Company Limited of Winchester House, One Great Winchester 
Street, London EC2N 2DB.

“Trust Instrument” means the trust instrument dated the Issue Date of the relevant Series made 
between, inter alios, the Issuer and the Trustee, by which the Series of Securities is constituted and 
secured, as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time.

“Underlying” means any underlying asset and/or basket of underlying assets and/or index 
comprising one or more underlying assets or other reference basis, in each case by reference to 
which the amount payable in relation to the Securities is determined.

Interpretation1.2

Words and expressions defined in the Trust Instrument or the Agency Agreement or used in the 
Product Conditions shall have the same meanings where used in these General Conditions unless 
the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated.  In the event of inconsistency between the 
Agency Agreement and the Trust Instrument, the Trust Instrument shall prevail and in the event of 
inconsistency between the Agency Agreement or the Trust Instrument and the Product Conditions, 
the Product Conditions shall prevail.

Reference in these General Conditions to “Securities” means the Securities of the same Series 
unless express reference is made to another or more than one Series and these General Conditions 
therefore apply separately to each Series.  A “Series” of Securities comprises Securities issued by 
the Issuer on the same date, and on the same terms (including as to interest (if any)) and identified 
in the Product Conditions as forming a Series, together with any Further Securities issued pursuant 
to General Condition 14 and being consolidated and forming a single series with such Securities.

The terms “Securities”, “holder of Securities” and “Securityholder” shall be construed in 
accordance with General Condition 2.2.

In these General Conditions, in the Trust Instrument and in the Product Conditions, the term 
“outstanding” means, in relation to a Series of Securities, all the Securities of that Series issued 
except (a) those which have been redeemed in accordance with the General Conditions, (b) those in 
respect of which the date for redemption in accordance with the General Conditions has occurred 
and the redemption moneys (including premium, if any, and all interest accrued thereon to the date 
for such redemption and any interest payable under the General Conditions after such date) have 
been duly paid to the Trustee or to the Principal Agent as provided in the Trust Instrument and 
remain available for payment against presentation and surrender of Securities, (c) those which have 
become void and those in respect of which claims have become prescribed in accordance with the 
General Conditions, (d) those which have been purchased and cancelled as provided in the General 
Conditions, (e) those mutilated or defaced Securities which have been surrendered in exchange for 
replacement Securities, and (f) (for the purpose only of determining how many Securities are 
outstanding and without prejudice to their status for any other purpose) those Notes alleged to have 
been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which replacement Notes have been issued; 
provided that for the purposes of (1) the exercise of any right of the relevant Securityholders (other 
than to payment), (2) the determination of how many Securities are outstanding for the purposes of 
the provisions in the Trust Instrument relating to the holding of meetings of Securityholders, the 
provision by the Securityholders of a resolution in writing, or any other direction or request thereof, or 
ascertaining whether a requirement under the Trust Instrument or the General Conditions for a 
specified percentage of the aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities outstanding has been 
satisfied and (3) the exercise of any discretion, power or authority which the Trustee is required, 
expressly or impliedly, to exercise in or by reference to the interests of the Securityholders, those 
Securities which are beneficially held by or on behalf of the Issuer and not cancelled shall (unless no 
longer so held) be deemed not to remain outstanding.

In these General Conditions, in the Trust Instrument and in the Product Conditions, the terms “rated” 
and “rating” shall denote ratings by each Relevant Rating Agency.
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In these General Conditions, in the Trust Instrument and in the Product Conditions, “Charged 
Property” means the Collateral and the other property, assets and/or rights of the Issuer which have 
been charged, assigned, pledged and/or otherwise made subject to the security created by the 
Issuer in favour of the Trustee pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional Security 
Document.

2. Form and Title

The Securities may be Notes or Certificates as specified in the Product Conditions and provisions in 
these General Conditions relating to Notes only or Certificates only shall only apply to Securities 
identified as such in the Product Conditions.

Form of Securities2.1

The Securities are in bearer form and in the case of Notes are in the Nominal Amount specified in 
the Product Conditions.

Each Series of Securities will be represented by a Global Security (a “Global Security”).  No 
definitive Securities will be issued.

Global Securities2.2

In relation to each Series, the Global Security will be deposited with the relevant depositary on behalf 
of the Clearing Agent(s) specified in the Product Conditions on the Issue Date of the first issue of the 
Securities of such Series.  In the event that Euroclear and/or Clearstream are appointed as Clearing 
Agent(s), Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch will act as common depositary.

Securities as represented by a Global Security will be transferable in accordance with applicable law 
and any rules and procedures for the time being of any Clearing Agent through whose books such 
Securities are transferred.  Each person (other than another Clearing Agent) who is for the time 
being shown in the records of the relevant Clearing Agent as the holder of an aggregate Nominal 
Amount of the Securities (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by the relevant 
Clearing Agent as to the aggregate Nominal Amount of Securities standing to the account of any 
person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes except in the case of manifest error) shall be 
treated by the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agents as the holder of such aggregate Nominal Amount 
of the Securities (and the terms “Securities”, “holder of Securities”, “Securityholder” and related 
expressions shall be construed accordingly) for all purposes other than in relation to any payments in 
respect of the Securities, the right for which shall be vested, as against the Issuer and the Agents, 
solely in the bearer of the relevant Global Security.

3. Status

The Securities are secured, limited recourse obligations of the Issuer, ranking pari passu without any 
preference among themselves, which are secured in the manner described in General Condition 6 
and recourse in respect of which is limited in the manner described in General Condition 6.8.

4. Payments, Deliveries, Securityholder Expenses and Taxation

Payments and/or deliveries in respect of Securities4.1

Payments and/or deliveries, as the case may be, in respect of the Securities will be made as 
provided in the Product Conditions.



90 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

Payments and deliveries subject to law, etc.4.2

All payments and/or deliveries are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws, 
regulations and directives.  Exercise, settlement and redemption of the Securities is subject to all 
applicable laws, regulations and practices in force on any relevant date of exercise, settlement or 
redemption, as the case may be, and neither the Issuer nor any Agent shall incur any liability 
whatsoever if it is unable to effect the transactions contemplated, after using all reasonable efforts, 
as a result of any such laws, regulations or practices.  Neither the Issuer nor the Principal Agent shall 
under any circumstances be liable for any acts or defaults of any Clearing Agent in relation to the 
performance of its duties in relation to the Securities.

Securityholder Expenses4.3

In respect of each Security, all Securityholder Expenses in respect thereof shall be for the account of 
the relevant Securityholder and any payment or delivery in respect of a Security shall only be made 
after all Securityholder Expenses in respect thereof have been paid or otherwise accounted for to the 
satisfaction of the Issuer.

Taxation4.4

All payments and/or deliveries in respect of the Securities will be subject in all cases to all applicable 
fiscal and other laws and regulations (including, where applicable, laws requiring the deduction or 
withholding for, or on account of, any tax, duty or other charge whatsoever) and to any withholding or 
deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 
of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any 
law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.  The Issuer shall not be liable for or 
otherwise obliged to pay, and the relevant Securityholder shall be liable for and/or pay, any tax, duty, 
charge, withholding or other payment whatsoever which may arise as a result of, or in connection 
with, the ownership, any transfer, any payment and/or any delivery in respect of the Securities held 
by such Securityholder.  The Issuer shall have the right, but shall not be obliged, to withhold or 
deduct from any amount payable or, as the case may be, any delivery due to the Securityholder, 
such amount or portion as shall be necessary to account for or to pay any such tax, duty, charge, 
withholding or other payment. For the avoidance of doubt the Issuer shall not assume any 
responsibility for such withholding or deduction.

No rights to Underlying4.5

The purchase and/or holding of Securities does not confer on any holder of any Securities any rights 
(whether in respect of voting, distributions or otherwise) in relation to the Underlying or any asset of 
any kind whatsoever by reference to which any amount calculated in relation to the Securities is 
calculated.

5. Early Cancellation, Purchases and Options

Mandatory cancellation5.1

If in the determination of the Calculation Agent (such determination to be made within a reasonable 
time of the Calculation Agent having actual knowledge of the occurrence of event(s) which could 
constitute a Collateral Default Event), a Collateral Default Event occurs at any time on or after the 
Issue Date and on or prior to the Maturity Date then the Issuer shall forthwith give not more than 30 
Business Days’ nor less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the Trustee, the Securityholders, the 
Hedging Counterparty and, for as long as the Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules 
of such stock exchange so require, such stock exchange, specifying the aggregate Nominal Amount 
of the Securities to be cancelled and the due date for cancellation and upon expiry of such notice (i) 
the Issuer shall cancel all but not some only of the outstanding Securities at their Early Termination 
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Amount (if any) and (ii) the security constituted by or created pursuant to the Trust Instrument over 
the Charged Property shall become enforceable.

For the purposes of this General Condition 5.1:

“Collateral Default Event” means (i) the occurrence, in accordance with the terms and conditions of 
the Collateral as at the Issue Date, of a default, event of default or other similar event or 
circumstance under the Collateral (howsoever described and including, without limitation, a failure to 
pay any principal when and where due in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Collateral 
as at the Issue Date) or (ii) the terms and conditions of the Collateral are restructured and/or 
amended (whether by operation of law or otherwise) such that the principal and/or any other 
amounts payable thereunder is reduced and/or postponed and/or the priority of payments and/or the 
maturity date thereunder is amended.

In the event of such cancellation and the security constituted by or created pursuant to the Trust
Instrument becoming enforceable the Trustee may take such action as is provided in General
Condition 6.7.1 and shall do so if so requested or directed in accordance with the provisions of such 
General Condition (subject in each case to its being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded in 
accordance with such General Condition and provided always that the Trustee shall not be required 
to do anything which is contrary to any applicable law).

Cancellation for other reasons5.2

If:

5.2.1 any Hedging Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms prior to the Hedging 
Agreement Termination Date; and/or

5.2.2 the Repurchase Agreement is terminated as a result of a failure by the Repurchase 
Counterparty to make payments due to the Issuer under the Repurchase Agreement, or to 
deliver Purchased Collateral or Fungible Collateral to the Issuer when required under the 
Repurchase Agreement,

then the Issuer shall forthwith give not more than 30 Business Days’ nor less than 10 Business Days’ 
notice to the Trustee, the Securityholders, each Hedging Counterparty, the Repurchase
Counterparty and, for as long as the Securities are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such 
stock exchange so require, such stock exchange, and upon expiry of such notice (i) the Issuer shall 
cancel all but not some only of the Securities at their Early Termination Amount and (ii) (in the case 
of Securities secured in the manner described in General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2) the security 
constituted by or created pursuant to the Trust Instrument shall become enforceable (if the same 
shall not already have become enforceable in accordance with these General Conditions).

In the event of such cancellation and the security constituted by the Trust Instrument becoming 
enforceable, the Trustee may take such action as is provided in General Condition 6.7.1 and shall do 
so if so requested or directed in accordance with the provisions of such General Condition (subject in 
each case to its being indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded in accordance with such 
General Condition and provided that the Trustee shall not be required to do anything which is 
contrary to applicable law).

Cancellation at the Option of the Issuer5.3

If so provided in the Product Conditions, the Issuer may, on giving irrevocable notice (a)on a date 
within the Issuer's Optional Cancellation Period and/or (b) at least ten Business Days prior to an 
Issuer's Optional Cancellation Date (each as specified in the Product Conditions) to the 
Securityholders, the Trustee and, for as long as the Securities are listed on a stock exchange and 
the rules of such stock exchange so require, such stock exchange, cancel all (but not some only) of
the Securities (1) in the case of (a) above, on the date specified in such notice, such date not falling 
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prior to the date on which such notice is effective in accordance with General Condition 15 and (2) in 
the case of (b) above, on the relevant Issuer Optional Cancellation Date or, in each case if such day 
does not fall on a Business Day, then the following Business Day.  Any such cancellation of 
Securities shall be at their Early Termination Amount (which, for the avoidance of doubt, where 
applicable, shall include accrued interest to the date fixed for cancellation).

All Securities in respect of which any such notice is given shall be cancelled on the date specified in 
such notice in accordance with this General Condition.

Purchases5.4

Unless otherwise provided in the Product Conditions, and subject to receipt by the Issuer of an 
amount (whether by sale of the Collateral (or in the case of a purchase of some only of the 
Securities, a proportion of the Collateral corresponding to the proportion of the Securities to be 
purchased) or otherwise) which, plus or minus any termination payment payable to or by the Issuer 
from or to any Hedging Counterparty on the termination (or as the case may be partial termination) of 
each Hedging Agreement, is sufficient to fund the purchase price payable by the Issuer, the Issuer 
may purchase Securities in the open market or otherwise at any price.

Cancellation5.5

All Securities purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer must be cancelled by surrendering for 
endorsement the relevant Global Security to, or to the order of, the Principal Agent and, when so 
surrendered, the Global Security will be endorsed to reflect such cancellation.  Any Securities 
cancelled or so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the 
Issuer in respect of any such Securities shall be discharged.

6. Security

Collateral6.1

The Collateral (if any) will be identified in the Product Conditions.  Except where the context 
otherwise requires, references in these General Conditions to the “Collateral” include any 
Replacement Collateral or Substitute Collateral (each as defined in General Condition 6.5) delivered, 
transferred or assigned to the Issuer in accordance with General Condition 6.5 and any Purchased 
Collateral (as defined in General Condition 7.2.1) or Fungible Collateral delivered to the Issuer 
pursuant to General Condition 7.2.

Unless otherwise specified in the Product Conditions, the Issuer will procure that the Collateral is 
delivered to the Custodian on the Issue Date or within the period thereafter specified in the Product 
Conditions and, with effect from such delivery, the Collateral will be held by the Custodian on behalf 
of the Issuer, subject to the security created by or pursuant to the Trust Instrument.

If the Issuer acquires Collateral after the Issue Date, until such acquisition the Securities will not be 
secured on the Collateral but only on the rights of the Issuer under the other Charged Property.

Security6.2

6.2.1 If it is stated in the Product Conditions that the security for the Securities is “Collateral
charged to Trustee”, the Issuer has in the Trust Instrument created the following security:

6.2.1.1 (i) a first fixed charge and/or assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the 
Trustee of the Collateral and all of the Issuer's rights in respect of and sums derived 
from the Collateral (including, without limitation, any proceeds of the sale thereof) 
and (ii) an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all of 
the Issuer's rights in respect of the Collateral against the Custodian;



93 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

6.2.1.2 an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all of the 
Issuer's rights, title and interest under each relevant Hedging Agreement and/or 
Repurchase Agreement and any sums of money, securities or other property 
received or receivable by the Issuer thereunder;

6.2.1.3 a first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee over (i) the Issuer's right to all sums held 
by the Principal Agent and/or any Paying Agent and/or the Custodian to meet 
payments due in respect of the Securities, (ii) any sums of money, securities or 
other property received or receivable by the Issuer under any relevant Hedging 
Agreement and/or Repurchase Agreement and (iii) all of the Issuer's rights as 
against the Custodian in respect of any sum standing to the credit of the Deposit 
Account (as defined in General Condition 6.5) or the Repurchase Account (as 
defined in General Condition 7.2); and

6.2.1.4 an assignment by way of first fixed charge in favour of the Trustee of all of the 
Issuer's rights, title and interest under the Agency Agreement and all sums derived 
therefrom in respect of the Securities.

6.2.2 If it is stated in the Product Conditions that the security for the Securities is “Collateral
charged to Trustee; additional foreign law security”, the Issuer has in the Trust Instrument 
created the security specified in General Condition 6.2.1 and has in addition, and without 
prejudice to the security specified in General Condition 6.2.1.1, executed in favour of the 
Trustee the pledge or security or other agreement or document specified in the Product 
Conditions (each, an “Additional Security Document”).

General provisions relating to security6.3

Unless otherwise specified in the Product Conditions, the security constituted or created pursuant to 
the Trust Instrument and any Additional Security Document will be granted to the Trustee for itself 
and as trustee under the Trust Instrument as continuing security (i) for the payment of all sums due 
to the Trustee or any receiver under the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional Security Document 
(ii) for the payment of all sums due under the Securities, (iii) for the performance of the Issuer's 
obligations under each Hedging Agreement, (iv) for the payment of all sums payable to the 
Custodian for reimbursement in respect of payments made to any Hedging Counterparty by the 
Custodian relating to sums receivable on or in respect of the Collateral pursuant to any provision of 
the Agency Agreement which requires the Issuer to reimburse (and to pay interest on the amount 
reimbursed as provided in the Agency Agreement) the Custodian for any payment made by the 
Custodian to any Hedging Counterparty relating to sums receivable on or in respect of the Collateral 
before actual payment to the Custodian of the amount receivable on or in respect of the Collateral 
and (v) for the payment of all sums payable to the Principal Agent pursuant to any provision of the 
Agency Agreement which requires the Issuer to reimburse (and to pay interest on the amount 
reimbursed as provided in the Agency Agreement) the Principal Agent for any amount paid out by 
the Principal Agent to the holders of Securities before receipt of the corresponding amount due from 
the Issuer.

Enforceability

Unless otherwise specified in the Product Conditions, the security constituted by or created pursuant 
to the Trust Instrument and any Additional Security Document shall become enforceable (i) in the 
circumstances specified in General Condition 5.1 or 5.2, (ii) upon the occurrence of an Event of 
Default (as defined in General Condition 10) and (iii) on the Hedging Agreement Termination Date if 
sums remain owing to a Hedging Counterparty under a Hedging Agreement.

Holder of Collateral

Unless otherwise specified in the Product Conditions, the Collateral will be held by the Custodian 
(which expression shall include any additional or other Custodians from time to time appointed) on 
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behalf of the Issuer on and subject to the terms and conditions of the Agency Agreement and, where 
applicable, subject to the security referred to in General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2.  The Issuer 
reserves the right at any time with the prior written consent of the Trustee to change the Custodian, 
provided that, in respect of Securities which are rated by one or more Relevant Rating Agencies, 
each Relevant Rating Agency will have confirmed in writing that such change will not adversely 
affect its current rating of such Securities.  Notice of such change shall be given to the 
Securityholders in accordance with General Condition 15.  Under the terms of the Agency 
Agreement, the Custodian may appoint a sub-custodian in relation to the Collateral, but such 
appointment shall not relieve the Custodian of any of its duties under the Agency Agreement.

The Trust Instrument provides that the Trustee shall not be bound or concerned to make any 
investigation into, or be responsible for:

(1) the creditworthiness of the Collateral or any obligor or guarantor in respect of the Collateral 
or of any Hedging Counterparty, Repurchase Counterparty or other person which is a party 
to any other agreement or document constituting or evidencing any of the Collateral or the 
Charged Property; or

(2) the validity, sufficiency or enforceability of the obligations of any such person as is referred 
to in sub-paragraph (1) above or of the security constituted by or pursuant to the Trust 
Instrument or any other agreement or document constituting the security for the Securities; 
or

(3) whether the cashflows relating to the Collateral and/or the Charged Property and the 
Securities are matched.

None of the Issuer, any Hedging Counterparty, the Custodian and the Trustee will have any 
responsibility for the performance by any clearing system (or its participants or indirect participants) 
of any of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.  
None of the Issuer, the Trustee and any Hedging Counterparty will have any responsibility for the 
performance by the Custodian of its obligations under the Agency Agreement.

Application of Proceeds of Enforcement of Charged Property6.4

The Trustee shall (subject to the provisions of the Trust Instrument) apply all moneys received by it 
under the provisions of the Trust Instrument and any Additional Security Document in connection 
with the realisation or enforcement of the security constituted by or pursuant to the Trust Instrument 
and any Additional Security Document in accordance with the following provisions of this General 
Condition 6.4:

6.4.1 first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities and other 
amounts incurred by or payable to the Trustee or any receiver under or pursuant to the Trust 
Instrument and/or any Additional Security Document (which for the purpose of this General 
Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument shall include any taxes required to be paid, the costs 
of realising any security and the Trustee's remuneration);

6.4.2 secondly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to each Hedging Counterparty under a 
Hedging Agreement (which for the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 and the Trust 
Instrument shall include any amounts owing to the Custodian for reimbursement in respect 
of payments made to a Hedging Counterparty relating to sums receivable on or in respect of 
the Collateral);

6.4.3 thirdly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to the holders of the Securities (which for 
the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument shall include any amount 
owing to the Principal Agent for reimbursement in respect of any payment made to holders 
of the Securities or to a Clearing Agent on behalf of such holders); and
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6.4.4 fourthly, in payment of the balance (if any) to the Issuer,

PROVIDED THAT, if the realisation or enforcement of the security constituted by or pursuant to the 
Trust Instrument and any Additional Security Document has arisen as a result of any event of default 
(as defined in a Hedging Agreement) relating to any Hedging Counterparty, then the Trustee shall 
apply all moneys received by it under the provisions of the Trust Instrument and any Additional 
Security Document, either:

(A) if “Pari Passu Basis” is specified in the Product Conditions:

(1) first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities and 
other amounts incurred by or payable to the Trustee or any receiver under or 
pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional Security Document (which for 
the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument shall include any 
taxes required to be paid, the costs of realising any security and the Trustee's 
remuneration);

(2) secondly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to each Hedging Counterparty 
under a Hedging Agreement (which for the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 
and the Trust Instrument shall include any amount owing to the Custodian for 
reimbursement in respect of payment made to a Hedging Counterparty relating to 
sums receivable on or in respect of the Collateral) and the holders of Securities; and

(3) thirdly, in payment of the balance (if any) to the Issuer, or

(B) if “Securityholder Priority Basis” is specified in the Product Conditions:

(1) first, in payment or satisfaction of all fees, costs, charges, expenses, liabilities and 
other amounts incurred by or payable to the Trustee or any receiver under or 
pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional Security Document (which for 
the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument shall include any 
taxes required to be paid, the costs of realising any security and the Trustee's 
remuneration);

(2) secondly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to the holders of Securities 
(which for the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument shall 
include any amount owing to the Principal Agent for reimbursement in respect of any 
payment made to holders of the Securities or to a Clearing Agent on behalf of such 
holders);

(3) thirdly, pro rata in payment of any amounts owing to each Hedging Counterparty 
under a Hedging Agreement (which for the purpose of this General Condition 6.4 
and the Trust Instrument shall include any amounts owing to the Custodian for 
reimbursement in respect of payments made to a Hedging Counterparty relating to 
sums receivable on or in respect of the Collateral); and

(4) fourthly, in payment of the balance (if any) to the Issuer,

Replacement and/or Substitution of Collateral6.5

6.5.1 If it is specified in the Product Conditions that this General Condition 6.5.1 applies to the 
Securities and the security for the Securities is as described in General Condition 6.2.1 or 
6.2.2, the Issuer may from time to time, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of 
the Trust Instrument, require that any securities or other assets for the time being comprising 
all or part of the Collateral (but excluding any Collateral which has been transferred to the 
Repurchase Counterparty pursuant to an exercise of the Purchase Option (as defined in 
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General Condition 7.2)) (hereinafter referred to as the “Replaced Collateral”) be replaced (a 
“Replacement”) by Eligible Securities (“Replacement Collateral”); provided however that:

(1) upon any release of the Replaced Collateral from the security created by or 
pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional Security Document, any such 
Replacement Collateral being substituted for the Replaced Collateral has been 
delivered, transferred or assigned to the Issuer on the same terms (mutatis
mutandis) as the Replaced Collateral and is subject to the charge or other security 
interest created by or pursuant to the Trust Instrument and/or any Additional 
Security Document;

(2) in respect of rated Securities, either (x) the Replacement Collateral is comprised of 
Eligible Securities which have an Equivalent Rating or (y) the Issuer shall have 
received written confirmation from each Relevant Rating Agency that its current 
rating of the Securities will not be adversely affected by the Replacement; and

(3) such other conditions as may be specified in the Product Conditions are satisfied.

If the Issuer has so agreed with any Hedging Counterparty, such Hedging Counterparty shall 
deliver the Replacement Collateral to the Issuer in exchange for the Replaced Collateral.

The Trustee shall not be liable to the Issuer, any Hedging Counterparty, the Securityholders 
or any other person and the Issuer shall not be liable to the Trustee, any Hedging 
Counterparty or the Securityholders for any loss arising from any Replacement pursuant to 
the foregoing.

The Trust Instrument provides that, in connection with any Replacement relating to 
Securities the security for which is as described in General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2, the 
Trustee shall receive a certificate from the Issuer (or the relevant Hedging Counterparty 
(acting on its behalf)) describing the Replacement and confirming that sub-paragraphs (1), 
(2) and (3) above have been complied with, and that it may rely absolutely upon such 
certificate for all purposes and need make no enquiry of any nature.  By subscription for, or 
acquisition of, any Security, each Securityholder accepts and is bound by this provision.

The Trust Instrument provides that the Trustee shall not be liable to the Issuer, any Hedging 
Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, any Securityholder or any other person, nor 
shall the Issuer be liable to the Trustee, any Securityholder, any Hedging Counterparty, the 
Repurchase Counterparty or any other person, for any loss arising from Replacement 
pursuant to the foregoing.

6.5.2 If securities and/or other assets which comprise all or part of the Collateral have a maturity 
date or are otherwise redeemed (in whole or in part) on a date which falls prior to the 
Settlement Date (in the case of Certificates) or the Maturity Date (in the case of Notes) 
(“Maturing Collateral”) and it is provided in the Product Conditions that this General 
Condition 6.5.2 applies to the Securities and the security for the Securities is as described in 
General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2, the proceeds of redemption received upon maturity of such 
Maturing Collateral shall be applied by the Custodian on behalf of the Issuer:

6.5.2.1 in the purchase of Eligible Securities (“Substitute Collateral” and each such 
purchase a “Substitution”); and/or

6.5.2.2 by crediting such proceeds of redemption to an interest bearing account with the 
Custodian (the “Deposit Account”) on terms that the funds standing to the credit of 
such Deposit Account shall earn the rate or rates of interest (which may be a floating 
rate or rates) specified in the Product Conditions or, if no rate is so specified, such 
rate or rates as may be determined from time to time by the Custodian.  The 
Custodian may from time to time apply the funds standing to the credit of the 
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Deposit Account in the purchase of Eligible Securities, in which case such purchase, 
and the Eligible Securities so purchased, will be deemed to be a Substitution and 
Substitute Collateral, respectively, for the purposes of this General Condition 6.5.2.  
Subject to any such application by the Custodian, the Issuer and the Custodian will 
procure that funds credited to the Deposit Account from time to time (including 
capitalised interest) shall be debited from the Deposit Account as and when 
necessary to be applied, in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Instrument, 
by the Issuer in connection with paying sums when due under the Securities or as 
otherwise specified in the Trust Instrument.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Substitution may only be made if:

(a) the Substitute Collateral has been delivered, transferred or assigned to the Issuer on 
the same terms (mutatis mutandis) as the Maturing Collateral and is subject to the 
charge or other security interest created by or pursuant to the Trust Instrument 
and/or any Additional Security Document;

(b) in respect of rated Securities, each Relevant Rating Agency is notified of the 
Substitution or the crediting of funds to the Deposit Account, as the case may be, 
and (if applicable) either (i) the Substitute Collateral is comprised of Eligible 
Securities which have an Equivalent Rating or (ii) the Issuer has received written 
confirmation from each Relevant Rating Agency that its current rating of the 
Securities will not be adversely affected by the Substitution; and

(c) such other conditions as may be specified in the Product Conditions are satisfied.

All determinations of the availability of Substitute Collateral, and all determinations and 
calculations of the purchase price and applicable date for purchase thereof shall be made by 
the relevant Hedging Counterparty in accordance with the Trust Instrument and all such 
determinations and calculations shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the 
Securityholders and all other persons.  The Trustee shall not be liable to the Issuer, the 
Securityholders or any other person, nor shall the Issuer be liable to the Trustee or any
Securityholders, for any loss arising from any Substitution pursuant to the foregoing.

The Trust Instrument provides that, in connection with any Substitution, the Trustee shall 
receive a certificate from the Issuer (or the relevant Hedging Counterparty (acting on its 
behalf)) describing the Substitution and confirming that sub-paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) 
above have been complied with, and it may rely absolutely upon such certificate for all 
purposes and need make no enquiry of any nature.  By subscription for, or acquisition of, 
any Security, each Securityholder accepts and is bound by this provision.

The Trust Instrument provides that the Trustee shall not be liable to the Issuer, any Hedging 
Counterparty, the Repurchase Counterparty, any Securityholders or any other person, nor 
shall the Issuer be liable to the Trustee, any Securityholders, any Hedging Counterparty, the 
Repurchase Counterparty or any other person, for any loss arising from any Substitution 
pursuant to the foregoing.

6.5.3 All rights of Replacement and/or Substitution under General Condition 6.5 shall cease 
forthwith upon the security constituted by the Trust Instrument becoming enforceable 
whether in whole or in part.

Purchase of Collateral maturing after the Settlement Date and/or Maturity Date6.6

If any securities forming all or part of the Collateral have a maturity date falling after the Settlement 
Date (in the case of Certificates) or the Maturity Date (in the case of Notes), the Issuer may agree to 
sell such Collateral to any Hedging Counterparty for value on the Settlement Date or, as the case 
may be, the Maturity Date at a price equal to the principal amount thereof.
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Realisation of the Charged Property6.7

6.7.1 Realisation of security

In the event of the security constituted by or created pursuant to the Trust Instrument over 
the Charged Property becoming enforceable, the Trustee may at its discretion and shall:

6.7.1.1 if requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in aggregate Nominal 
Amount of the Securities then outstanding; or

6.7.1.2 if directed by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Instrument) of the 
Securityholders; or

6.7.1.3 if directed in writing by each Hedging Counterparty but only if the Hedging 
Agreement(s) have each terminated in accordance with their respective terms prior 
to the respective Hedging Agreement Termination Dates or, on or after the latest 
Hedging Agreement Termination Date, if sums remain owing to any Hedging 
Counterparty under the Hedging Agreement(s),

do one or more of the following:

(i) where General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2 applies, instruct the Selling Agent to 
endeavour to sell or otherwise realise the Collateral in accordance with General 
Condition 6.7.2 and the provisions of the Agency Agreement;

(ii) where General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2 applies, take other steps to realise all or 
some of the Collateral;

(iii) terminate and/or enforce and/or realise each Hedging Agreement, Repurchase 
Agreement or other agreement entered into by the Issuer, the rights of the Issuer in 
respect of which form part of the Charged Property; and

(iv) otherwise enforce the security constituted by or pursuant to the Trust Instrument 
and/or any Additional Security Document,

in each case without any liability as to the consequences of such action and without having 
regard to the effect of such action on individual Securityholders and provided that the 
Trustee shall not be required to take any action without first being indemnified and/or 
secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction or to do anything which is or may be contrary to 
any applicable law.  Subject as provided in the following paragraph, any request or direction 
given by the person or persons ranking in priority immediately after the Trustee (the 
“Entitled Beneficiary”) pursuant to the provisions of General Condition 6.4 will have priority 
over any conflicting direction given under this General Condition 6.7.1 and, in the absence of 
any such request or direction, the Trustee may at its discretion decline to act on any request 
or direction given by any other person.

Where there is a conflict between any request and/or direction given pursuant to General 
Condition 6.7.1 and “Securityholder Priority Basis” is specified in the Product Conditions 
and is applicable, any request or direction given by the Entitled Beneficiary will have priority 
over any conflicting request or direction given under this General Condition 6.7.1 and, in the 
absence of any such request or direction by the Entitled Beneficiary, the Trustee may at its 
discretion decline to act on any request or direction given by any other person.  If “Pari 
Passu Basis” is specified in the Product Conditions and is applicable, any request of the 
kind referred to in General Condition 6.7.1.1 or direction of the kind referred to in General 
Condition 6.7.1.2 shall have priority over any conflicting request or direction under this 
General Condition 6.7.1 and the Trustee may at its discretion decline to act on any other 
request or direction.



99 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

6.7.2 Selling Agent

If the Selling Agent is instructed by the Trustee in accordance with General Condition 6.7.1 
to endeavour to sell or otherwise realise the Collateral, the Selling Agent shall, on behalf of 
and as the agent of the Trustee pursuant to, and in accordance with, the provisions of the 
Agency Agreement, use all reasonable endeavours to sell or otherwise realise the Collateral 
as soon as reasonably practicable on or after the date on which it receives such instruction 
at its best execution price less any commissions or expenses charged by the Selling Agent 
and specified for this purpose in the Trust Instrument.

If, however, the Selling Agent determines that there is no available market for the Collateral, 
or if the Selling Agent otherwise determines that it is impossible to sell or otherwise realise 
the Collateral or any part of it, the Selling Agent will promptly notify the Issuer, the Trustee 
and each Hedging Counterparty of such lack of availability or impossibility and the Selling 
Agent shall not be required to effect the sale or other realisation of the Collateral or any 
further part of it.  Any such determination by the Selling Agent shall be in its sole discretion 
and shall be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, each Hedging Counterparty and the 
Securityholders.  In the event that the Selling Agent makes such determination the Trustee 
at its discretion may, and shall if so requested or directed in accordance with General 
Condition 6.7.1 (but subject in each case to its being indemnified and/or secured and/or 
prefunded in accordance with such General Condition) realise all or part of the Collateral by 
other means.

In order to obtain its best execution price for the above purposes, the Selling Agent shall be 
required to take reasonable care to ascertain the price which is the best available for the sale 
or other realisation of the Collateral at the time of the sale or other realisation for transactions 
of the kind and size concerned and, unless circumstances require the Selling Agent to do 
otherwise in the interests of the Securityholders, to deal at a price which is not less 
advantageous to the Securityholders.

The Trustee shall have no responsibility or liability for the performance by the Selling Agent 
of its duties under this General Condition 6.7.2 or for the price at which any of the Collateral 
may be sold or otherwise realised.

Shortfall after application of proceeds6.8

If the Net Proceeds are not sufficient to make all payments due in respect of the Securities and for 
the Issuer to meet its obligations, if any, in respect of the termination of each Hedging Agreement (or 
a part of any such Hedging Agreement) and/or any other obligations secured thereby, then the 
obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Securities and each Hedging Agreement and/or any such 
other obligations will be limited to such net proceeds.  The other assets of the Issuer will not be 
available for payment of any Shortfall arising therefrom.  Any Shortfall shall be borne by the 
Securityholders, each Hedging Counterparty and any other persons entitled to the benefit of such 
security according to the priorities specified in the General Conditions (as modified by the Product 
Conditions if applicable and applied in reverse order).

The Issuer will not be obliged to make any further payment in excess of the Net Proceeds and any 
right to receive any further sum in each case in respect of any Shortfall remaining after realisation of 
the security under General Condition 6.7 and application of the proceeds in accordance with the 
Trust Instrument shall be extinguished and neither the Trustee nor any Hedging Counterparty nor 
any Securityholders nor any other person entitled to the benefit of such security (nor any person 
acting on behalf of any of them) may take any further action to recover such Shortfall.  In particular, 
no such party will be able to petition for the winding-up of, or the appointment of an examiner to, the 
Issuer.  Failure to make any payment in respect of any Shortfall shall in no circumstances constitute 
an Event of Default under General Condition 10.
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Where General Condition 6.2.1 or 6.2.2 applies, the realisation of some only of the Collateral where 
there is a shortfall will not extinguish any claims in respect of the remaining Collateral.

Issuer's rights as holder of Collateral6.9

The Issuer may exercise any rights in its capacity as holder of the Collateral only with the prior 
written consent of the Trustee (which consent may be given by the Trustee in its absolute discretion) 
or as directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Securityholders and, if such consent or direction 
is given, the Issuer will act only in accordance with such consent or direction.  In particular, the 
Issuer will not attend or vote at any meeting of holders of the Collateral, or give any consent or 
notification or make any declaration in relation to the Collateral, unless the Trustee shall give its prior 
written consent (which consent may be given by the Trustee in its absolute discretion) or by direction 
of any Extraordinary Resolution of the Securityholders.

7. Hedging Agreements; Repurchase Agreement

Hedging Agreements7.1

The Hedging Agreements

The Hedging Agreement(s) is/are entered into by the execution of the Trust Instrument by the Issuer 
and the Hedging Counterpart(y)(ies).  A brief description of the terms of the Hedging Agreement(s) is 
set out in the Product Conditions.

Termination

Each Hedging Agreement will terminate on the Hedging Agreement Termination Date, unless 
terminated earlier in accordance with its terms.  Unless otherwise specified in the Product 
Conditions, (i) each Hedging Agreement will terminate in full if all the Securities are cancelled prior to 
the Settlement Date (in the case of Certificates) or the Maturity Date (in the case of Notes) pursuant 
to any provision of General Condition 5 or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and (ii) each 
Hedging Agreement will terminate in part (on a pro rata basis in a proportion of its nominal amount 
equal to the proportion that the Nominal Amount of the Securities being cancelled bears to the 
aggregate Nominal Amount of all the Securities immediately prior to such cancellation) if some of the 
Securities are cancelled prior to the Settlement Date (in the case of Certificates) or the Maturity Date 
(in the case of Notes) pursuant to any provision of General Condition 5.  Each Hedging Agreement 
may also terminate in other circumstances as set out in such Hedging Agreement.  In the event of an 
early termination of any Hedging Agreement, either the Issuer or the relevant Hedging Counterparty 
may be liable to make a termination payment to the other party in an amount determined in 
accordance with the provisions of such Hedging Agreement.  The termination payment will be 
determined by the relevant Hedging Counterparty on the basis of such Hedging Counterparty's 
reasonable determination in good faith of its total losses and costs in connection with the termination 
of such Hedging Agreement. Unless otherwise specified in the Product Conditions, in the event of 
an early termination of any Hedging Agreement as a result of the cancellation of the Securities 
pursuant to General Condition 5.1, any obligation of the Issuer at any time to deliver the Collateral to 
the relevant Hedging Counterparty shall for the purposes of the calculation of such termination 
payment be deemed to be replaced by an obligation of the Issuer to pay to the relevant Hedging 
Counterparty a sum equal to the nominal amount of such Collateral.

Taxation

Neither the Issuer nor any Hedging Counterparty is obliged under any Hedging Agreement to gross 
up payments to be made by it to the other if withholding taxes are imposed on such payments, but 
the Hedging Agreement(s) is terminable in such event.  If the Issuer, on the occasion of the next 
payment due under a Hedging Agreement, would be required by law to withhold or account for tax 
such that it would be rendered unable to make payment of the full amount due or would be required 
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to account for tax or would suffer tax on its income in respect of the amount paid to it, the Issuer shall 
so inform the Trustee in writing.

Downgrade

If so specified in the Product Conditions, in respect of rated Securities, if the long-term debt rating of 
any Hedging Counterparty is or may be downgraded with the result that the current rating of the 
Securities by any Relevant Rating Agency is or may be adversely affected, such Hedging 
Counterparty will be entitled to transfer its rights and obligations under the relevant Hedging 
Agreement to another entity or to obtain a guarantee from another entity or to take such other action 
as may be specified in the relevant Hedging Agreement, subject as provided in this General 
Condition 7.1.

Transfer by Hedging Counterparty

Any transfer of the rights and obligations of any Hedging Counterparty or any guarantee of the 
obligations of any Hedging Counterparty (or of any transferee of the rights and obligations of 
Hedging Counterparty) in respect of any Hedging Agreement will be subject to:

7.1.1 the Trustee being satisfied (if it requires, by reference to legal opinions) that such rights and 
obligations have been effectively transferred to and/or guaranteed by, as the case may be, 
the transferee and/or guarantor selected by such Hedging Counterparty and that all the 
Issuer's right, title, benefit and interest in, to, under and in respect of the relevant Hedging 
Agreement following any such transfer and/or guarantee in respect of the obligations of such 
Hedging Counterparty (or, as the case may be, any transferee to whom the obligations of 
such Hedging Counterparty are transferred), are effectively secured in favour of the Trustee 
for the benefit of the Securityholders, in each case in form and substance reasonably 
satisfactory to the Trustee;

7.1.2 in respect of rated Securities, the Trustee having received written confirmation from each 
Relevant Rating Agency that its current rating of the Securities will not be adversely affected 
by any transfer and/or guarantee as is referred to above; and

7.1.3 the relevant Hedging Counterparty having indemnified the Issuer and the Trustee against 
any stamp or other documentary charges and all expenses (if any) incurred by the Issuer 
and/or the Trustee in connection with such transfer.

To the extent that any Hedging Counterparty fails to make payments due to the Issuer under a 
Hedging Agreement, the Issuer will be unable to meet its obligations in respect of the Securities.  In 
such event, each Hedging Agreement will be terminated and the Securities will be cancelled in 
accordance with General Condition 5.2.  Upon enforcement of the security in respect of the Charged 
Property, the net proceeds thereof may be less than the claims of the Hedging Counterparty(ies), the 
Securityholders and the other persons entitled to the benefit of such security.

Repurchase Agreement7.2

7.2.1 Purchases

If it is stated in the Product Conditions that the Issuer has entered into the Repurchase 
Agreement, the Repurchase Counterparty may, subject to the provisions thereof, at any time 
and from time to time prior to the Settlement Date (in the case of Certificates) or the Maturity 
Date (in the case of Notes) (and provided that the Securities have not been cancelled prior to 
the Settlement Date (in the case of Certificates) or the Maturity Date (in the case of Notes)), 
by giving written notice to the Issuer, the Trustee and the Custodian (a “Purchase Notice”), 
request the Issuer (the “Purchase Option”) to transfer any amount of the assets comprised 
in the Collateral (the “Purchased Collateral”) to the Repurchase Counterparty against 



102 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

payment to the Issuer of the purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) (if any) specified in, or 
determined in accordance with the provisions of, the Product Conditions.

Such transfer shall be on terms that:

(a) full legal and beneficial ownership of such Purchased Collateral shall vest in the 
Repurchase Counterparty on the date specified in the Purchase Notice (the 
“Delivery Date”) free and clear of all charges, liens and encumbrances created by 
the Trust Instrument with respect thereto or otherwise by the Issuer and together 
with the benefit of all the Issuer's rights and entitlements thereto and therein 
subsisting at the time the Purchase Option is exercised

(b) the Repurchase Counterparty shall be obliged to deliver the Purchased Collateral or 
Fungible Collateral to the Issuer on the date specified in the relevant Purchase 
Notice or, if no date is so specified, on the date specified in the absolute discretion 
of the Repurchase Counterparty (each, a “Redelivery Date”) against payment of the 
repurchase price (the “Repurchase Price”) (if any) specified in, or determined in 
accordance with the provisions of, the Product Conditions; and

(c) until the Purchased Collateral or Fungible Collateral is so delivered, all payments of 
principal, interest or other sums in respect of the Purchased Collateral will be made 
to the Repurchase Counterparty (each, a “Purchase Transaction”).

Unless otherwise provided in the Product Conditions, the Repurchase Price may not 
exceed the amount for the time being standing to the credit of the Repurchase 
Account (as defined below).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Securities which are rated by one or 
more Relevant Rating Agencies the Issuer may enter into a Repurchase Agreement 
only if the Trustee shall have received written confirmation from each such Relevant 
Rating Agency that (i) its current rating of the Securities will not be adversely 
affected by the Issuer entering into the Repurchase Agreement and (ii) the 
Repurchase Agreement satisfies such conditions as such Relevant Rating Agencies 
may have specified as a condition of such rating(s).

Income Payments

Under the Repurchase Agreement, the Repurchase Counterparty in respect of a 
Purchase Transaction will be required to make payments to the Issuer equal to each 
payment of principal, interest, dividends or other distributions made by an obligor of 
the relevant Purchased Collateral (each an “Income Payment”) on the date on 
which such payments under such Purchased Collateral are made by the obligor of 
such Purchased Collateral.

Release of Collateral

Unless otherwise specified in the Product Conditions, if the Issuer agrees to the 
terms of a Purchase Notice, the Issuer will be deemed to be authorised by the 
Trustee (and by all other persons entitled to the benefit of the security created by or 
pursuant to the Trust Instrument) to release from the security created by or pursuant 
to the Trust Instrument the Collateral which is the subject of the Purchase 
Transaction.  If any Purchased Collateral or Fungible Collateral is redelivered to the 
Issuer pursuant to the Repurchase Agreement, the right of the Issuer to receive 
payments from the Repurchase Counterparty equal to the Income Payments made 
on or in respect of such Purchased Collateral or Fungible Collateral shall terminate 
and, upon redelivery of such Purchased Collateral or Fungible Collateral, such 
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Purchased Collateral or Fungible Collateral shall be subject to the security 
constituted by or created pursuant to the Trust Instrument.

Repurchase Account

Any amount of Purchase Price paid by the Repurchase Counterparty to the Issuer 
pursuant to the Repurchase Agreement shall be credited to an interest bearing 
account with the Custodian (the “Repurchase Account”) on terms that the funds 
standing to the credit of the Repurchase Account shall earn the rate or rates of 
interest (which may be a floating rate) specified in the Product Conditions.  Funds 
credited to the Repurchase Account from time to time (including capitalised interest) 
shall be debited from the Repurchase Account on each Repurchase Date to be 
applied in payment of the Repurchase Price then due or as otherwise provided in 
the Trust Instrument.

Termination

To the extent that the Repurchase Counterparty fails to make payments due to the 
Issuer under the Repurchase Agreement, or to deliver Purchased Collateral or 
Fungible Collateral to the Issuer when required under the Repurchase Agreement, 
the Issuer will be unable to meet its obligations in respect of the Securities.  In such 
event, the Repurchase Agreement will be terminated and the Early Termination 
Amount in respect of each Security will become payable in accordance with General 
Condition 5.2.  Upon enforcement of the security in respect of the Charged Property, 
the net proceeds thereof may be less than the claims of the Hedging 
Counterparty(ies), the Securityholders and the other persons entitled to the benefit 
of such security.

Trustee not liable

The Trustee shall not be liable to the Issuer, the Securityholders, any Hedging 
Counterparty or any other person for any loss arising from the exercise of any 
Purchase Option, any Purchase Transaction or any release of Charged Property in 
connection therewith.

7.2.2 If it is specified in the Product Conditions that General Condition 6.5.1 applies to the 
Securities, and the security for the Securities is as described in General Condition 6.2.1 or 
6.2.2, and unless otherwise specified in the Trust Instrument, the Repurchase Counterparty 
may request authorisation from the Issuer that any securities or other assets for the time 
being comprising all or part of the Purchased Collateral (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Replaced Purchased Collateral”) be replaced (a “Replacement”) by other securities or 
assets of a type or types (or combination thereof), having the features specified in respect of 
Replacement Collateral in the Trust Instrument (or, if no features are so specified, having 
such features as the Repurchase Counterparty shall in its sole discretion determine) 
(“Replacement Purchased Collateral”) and on terms that such other conditions as may be 
specified in the Trust Instrument in respect of a Replacement (as defined herein) are 
satisfied.

Any Replacement in respect of rated Securities is further conditional on either (i) the Replacement 
Purchased Collateral being comprised of Eligible Securities which have an Equivalent Rating or (ii) 
the Issuer having received written confirmation from each Relevant Rating Agency that its current 
ratings of the Securities will not be adversely affected by the Replacement.  Subject to the Issuer 
authorising the Replacement (and subject as provided in respect of rated Securities), any such 
Replacement Purchased Collateral shall (to the extent delivered by the Repurchase Counterparty to 
the Issuer when required under the Repurchase Agreement) constitute Replacement Purchased 
Collateral.
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Subject as provided in respect of rated Securities, if the Issuer has determined (acting in its sole 
discretion) that it will authorise the Replacement, the Issuer shall forthwith notify the Trustee, each 
Hedging Counterparty, the Principal Agent, the Custodian, the Calculation Agent and, in accordance 
with General Condition 15, the Securityholders of the Replacement.

The Trustee shall not be liable to the Issuer, the Securityholders, any Hedging Counterparty or any 
other person and the Issuer shall not be liable to the Trustee, the Securityholders, any Hedging 
Counterparty or any other person for any loss arising from any Replacement pursuant to the 
foregoing.

7.2.3 If it is specified in the Product Conditions that General Condition 6.5.2 applies to the 
Securities, and the security for the Securities is as described in General Condition 6.2.1 or 
6.2.2, and securities and/or other assets which comprise all or part of the Purchased 
Collateral have a maturity date which falls prior to the Settlement Date (in the case of 
Certificates) or, the Maturity Date (in the case of Notes) (“Maturing Purchased Collateral”), 
then unless provided otherwise in the Trust Instrument, the proceeds of redemption received 
upon maturity of such Maturing Purchased Collateral may, upon request to the Issuer and if 
such request is authorised, be applied by the Repurchase Counterparty:

7.2.3.1 in the purchase of further securities and/or other assets of a type or types (or 
combination thereof) identified by the Repurchase Counterparty and having the 
features (if any) specified in respect of Substitute Collateral in the Trust Instrument 
(or, if no features are so specified, having such features as the Repurchase 
Counterparty shall in its sole discretion determine), but subject as provided below in 
respect of rated Securities (“Substitute Purchased Collateral” and each such 
purchase a “Substitution”).  Any such Substitute Purchased Collateral so specified 
shall (to the extent delivered by the Repurchase Counterparty to the Issuer when 
required under the Repurchase Agreement) constitute Substitute Purchased 
Collateral for the purposes of the Securities; and/or

7.2.3.2 by crediting such proceeds of redemption to an interest bearing account in the name 
of the Repurchase Counterparty (the “Repurchase Counterparty Deposit 
Account”) opened by the Repurchase Counterparty with a bank or other financial 
institution selected by the Repurchase Counterparty in respect of the proceeds of 
redemption of Substitute Purchased Collateral.  Subject to any contrary provision in 
the Product Conditions or in the Purchase Notice, the Repurchase Counterparty will 
procure that funds credited to the Repurchase Counterparty Deposit Account from 
time to time (including capitalised interest) shall be debited from the Repurchase 
Counterparty Deposit Account as and when necessary and paid to the Issuer for 
application by the Issuer in connection with paying sums when due under the 
Securities.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Substitution may only be made if such conditions as are 
specified in the Trust Instrument in respect of a Substitution (as defined herein) are satisfied 
and, in respect of rated Securities if, each Relevant Rating Agency is notified of the 
Substitution or the credit of funds to the Repurchase Counterparty Deposit Account, as the 
case may be, and either (i) (if applicable) the Substitute Purchased Collateral is comprised of 
Eligible Securities which have an Equivalent Rating or (ii) the Issuer has received written 
confirmation from each Relevant Rating Agency that its current ratings of the Securities will 
not be adversely affected by the Substitution.

8. Restrictions

The Issuer has covenanted in the Trust Instrument that, inter alia, so long as any of the Securities 
remains outstanding, it will not, without the consent of the Trustee and each Hedging Counterparty:

8.1 engage in any activity or do any thing whatsoever except:
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8.1.1 issue Securities (which as defined in the Trust Instrument include further securities) 
which are subject to the enforcement and limited recourse provisions contained in 
the Trust Instrument (“Permitted Investments”) or otherwise incur indebtedness in 
respect of moneys borrowed or raised where such indebtedness is incurred on 
terms that it is secured on specified assets of the Issuer (other than its share capital) 
which do not form part of the Charged Property and on terms which provide for the 
extinguishment of all claims in respect of such indebtedness after application of the 
proceeds of the assets on which such indebtedness is secured (“Permitted 
Indebtedness”);

8.1.2 enter into any agency agreement, trust instrument, hedging agreement, repurchase 
agreement, deed of floating charge or any deed or agreement of any other kind 
related to any Permitted Investment or Permitted Indebtedness, but provided always 
that any such deed or agreement is entered into on terms that the obligations of the 
Issuer thereunder are secured on specified assets of the Issuer (other than its share 
capital) which do not form part of the Charged Property and on terms which provide 
for extinguishment of all claims in respect of such obligations after application of the 
assets on which such indebtedness is secured;

8.1.3 acquire, or enter into any agreement constituting, the Collateral in respect of any 
Permitted Investment or the assets securing any Permitted Indebtedness;

8.1.4 perform its obligations under each Permitted Investment or Permitted Indebtedness, 
agency agreement, trust instrument, hedging agreement, repurchase agreement, 
deed of floating charge or other deeds or agreements incidental to the issue and 
constitution of, or the granting of security for, any Permitted Investment or Permitted 
Indebtedness;

8.1.5 enforce any of its rights under each agency agreement, trust instrument, hedging 
agreement, repurchase agreement, the deed of floating charge or any other deed or 
agreement entered into in relation to any Permitted Investment or Permitted 
Indebtedness;

8.1.6 perform any act incidental to or necessary in connection with any of the above;

8.1.7 as permitted by the Conditions;

8.2 have any subsidiaries or employees;

8.3 subject to General Condition 8.1 above, dispose of any of its property or other assets or any 
part thereof or interest therein (subject as provided in the General Conditions relating to any 
Permitted Investment or the terms and conditions of any Permitted Indebtedness);

8.4 issue or create any other Series of Securities unless either (a) the trustee thereof is the
same person as the Trustee for the Securities or (b) the Trustee has received legal advice 
satisfactory to it from reputable legal advisers in England and the jurisdiction of incorporation 
of the Issuer to the effect that the appointment of a person other than the Trustee as trustee 
of such Series of Securities will not adversely affect the ability of the Trustee to appoint an 
administrative receiver over the assets of the Issuer, unless in the case of rated Securities, 
each Relevant Rating Agency has confirmed in writing that such change would not adversely 
affect its current rating(s) of any of the rated Securities issued by the Issuer;

8.5 purchase, own, lease or otherwise acquire any real property (including office premises or 
like facilities), unless in the case of rated Securities, each Relevant Rating Agency has 
confirmed in writing that such change would not adversely affect its current rating of such 
Securities;
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8.6 consolidate or merge with any other person;

8.7 issue any shares (other than such shares as were in issue on the date of the first Trust 
Instrument executed by the Issuer and the Trustee);

8.8 declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution to its members; or

8.9 incur any indebtedness for borrowed money other than in respect of the Securities or any 
Permitted Investment or any Permitted Indebtedness.

9. Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Securities shall be prescribed and become 
void unless made within 10 years or, where applicable, five years (in the case of interest) from the 
date on which payment in respect thereof first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable 
is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which notice is duly given to the Securityholders in 
accordance with General Condition 15 that, upon further presentation of the Security being made in 
accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made 
upon such presentation.

10. Events of Default

The Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in 
aggregate Nominal Amount of the Securities then outstanding, or if so directed by an Extraordinary 
Resolution of such holders, shall (subject in each case to being indemnified and/or secured and/or 
prefunded to its satisfaction), give notice to the Issuer that, in respect of each such Security, the 
Early Termination Amount is, and shall accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and payable, 
and the security constituted by or created pursuant to the Trust Instrument shall become 
enforceable, as provided in the Trust Instrument, in any of the following events (each an “Event of 
Default”):

10.1 if default is made for a period of 14 days or more in the payment of any sum due in respect 
of the Securities or any of them; or

10.2 if the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under the Securities or the 
Trust Instrument and (unless such failure is, in the opinion of the Trustee, incapable of 
remedy in which case no such notice as is referred to in this paragraph shall be required) 
such failure continues for a period of 30 days (or such longer period as the Trustee may 
permit) following the service by the Trustee on the Issuer of notice requiring the same to be 
remedied (and for these purposes, a failure to perform or observe an obligation shall be 
deemed to be remediable notwithstanding that the failure results from not doing an act or 
thing by a particular time); or

10.3 if any order shall be made by any competent court or any resolution passed for the winding-
up or dissolution of the Issuer save for the purposes of amalgamation, merger, 
consolidation, reorganisation or other similar arrangement on terms previously approved in 
writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution or formal notice is given of an 
intention to appoint an administrator or any application is made or petition is lodged or 
documents are filed with the court or administrator in relation to the Issuer; or

10.4 if an examiner is appointed in respect of the Issuer.

The Issuer has undertaken in the Trust Instrument that, on each anniversary of the date of first entry 
into of a Trust Instrument between the Issuer and the Trustee and also within 14 days after any 
request by the Trustee, it will send to the Trustee a certificate signed by a Director of the Issuer to 
the effect that, after making all reasonable enquiries by such Director, to the best of the knowledge, 
information and belief of the Issuer there did not exist, as at a date not more than five days prior to 
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the date of the certificate, nor had there existed at any time prior thereto since the date of the Trust 
Instrument or the date of the last such certificate if any, any Event of Default or Potential Event of 
Default or, if such an Event of Default or Potential Event of Default did then exist or had existed, 
specifying the same and to such other effect as the Trustee may require.

The Trust Instrument provides that the Trustee shall not be under any obligation to monitor whether 
or not an Event of Default or a Potential Event of Default has occurred or is continuing.

11. Enforcement

At any time after any of the Securities becomes due and payable or in any of the circumstances 
specified in General Condition 6.3, the Trustee may, at its discretion and without further notice, 
institute such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the terms of the Trust 
Instrument and the Securities and, to the extent provided in the Trust Instrument, to enforce the 
security constituted by the Trust Instrument, but it shall not be obliged to take any such proceedings 
unless (a) it shall have been so requested or directed by any person entitled to make such request or 
give such direction pursuant to General Condition 6.7.1 and (b) it shall have been indemnified and/or 
secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction and provided that it shall not be obliged to take any 
action if it would be against any applicable law.

Only the Trustee (or, to the extent provided in General Condition 6.7.2, the Selling Agent) may
pursue the remedies available under the Trust Instrument to enforce the rights of the Securityholders 
and/or any Hedging Counterparty and/or the Custodian in respect of the security and no 
Securityholder, no Hedging Counterparty, the Custodian or the Principal Agent is entitled to proceed 
against the Issuer with respect to the security unless the Trustee, having become bound to proceed 
in accordance with the terms of the Trust Instrument, fails or neglects to do so.

The Trustee, each Hedging Counterparty, the Securityholders, the Custodian and the Principal Agent 
shall have recourse only to the Charged Property and the Selling Agent or the Trustee having 
realised the same and distributed the net proceeds in accordance with Condition 6.4, the Trustee, 
each Hedging Counterparty, the Securityholders, the Custodian, the Principal Agent or anyone 
acting on behalf of any of them shall not be entitled to take any further steps against the Issuer or the 
Trustee to recover any further sum (save for lodging a claim in the liquidation of the Issuer initiated 
by another party or taking proceedings to obtain a declaration or judgment as to the obligations of 
the Issuer) and the right to receive any such sum shall be extinguished.  In particular, none of the 
Trustee, any Hedging Counterparty, the Custodian, the Principal Agent, any Securityholder nor any 
other party to the Trust Instrument shall be entitled to petition or take any other step for the winding-
up of the Issuer or the appointment of an examiner in respect of the Issuer, nor shall any of them 
have any claim in respect of any asset of the Issuer not forming part of the Charged Property.

12. Meeting of Securityholders; Modifications; Waiver; and Substitution

Meetings of Securityholders12.1

The Trust Instrument contains provisions for convening meetings of Securityholders to consider any 
matter affecting their interests, including modification by Extraordinary Resolution of the Securities 
(including these General Conditions or the provisions of the Trust Instrument insofar as the same 
may apply to such Securities).  The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary 
Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in aggregate Nominal 
Amount of the Securities for the time being outstanding or, at any adjourned such meeting, one or 
more persons being or representing Securityholders, whatever the aggregate Nominal Amount of the 
Securities so held or represented, and an Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting 
shall be binding on all the Securityholders, whether present or not, except that any Extraordinary 
Resolution proposed, inter alia, (i) to amend the dates of maturity of the Securities, or any date for 
any payment in respect thereof, (ii) to cancel any Security or reduce the Nominal Amount of any 
Note or reduce any amount payable on redemption or cancellation of, the Securities, (iii) to reduce 
the rate or rates of interest or where applicable, to modify, except where such modification will, in the 
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opinion of the Trustee, result in an increase, the method of calculating the amount payable or to 
modify of the date of payment or, where applicable the method of calculating the date of payment in 
respect of any principal, premium or interest (if any) in respect of the Securities, (iv) if a Minimum 
and/or a Maximum Interest Rate is shown in the Product Conditions, to reduce any such Minimum 
and/or Maximum Interest Rate, (v) to change any method of calculating the Early Termination 
Amount or, any other amount payable in respect thereof, (vi) to change the currency or currencies of 
payment or denomination of the Securities, (vii) to modify or amend or cancel the exercise rights in 
respect of any Certificate, (viii) to take any steps which as specified in the Trust Instrument may only 
be taken following approval by an Extraordinary Resolution to which the special quorum provisions 
apply, (ix) to modify the provisions concerning the quorum required at any meeting of 
Securityholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution, (x) to modify the 
provisions of the Trust Instrument concerning this exception or (xi) to modify any other provisions 
specifically identified for this purpose in the Trust Instrument, will only be binding if passed at a 
meeting of the Securityholders, the quorum at which shall be one or more persons holding or 
representing 75 per cent. or, at any adjourned meeting, not less than 25 per cent., in aggregate 
Nominal Amount of the Securities for the time being outstanding.

Modification12.2

The Trustee may, without the consent of the Securityholders but only with the prior written consent of 
each Hedging Counterparty agree to (i) any modification to the Trust Instrument, any Hedging 
Agreement, the Repurchase Agreement or any other agreement or document entered into in relation 
to the Securities which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error 
or an error which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, proven, and (ii) any modification of any of the 
provisions of the Trust Instrument, any Hedging Agreement, the Repurchase Agreement or any other 
agreement or document entered into in relation to the Securities which in the opinion of the Trustee 
is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Securityholders and provided that, in the case of 
rated Securities, each Relevant Rating Agency has confirmed in writing that its current rating of such 
Securities will not be adversely affected.  The Trust Instrument provides that the Issuer shall not 
agree to any amendment or modification of the Trust Instrument without first obtaining the consent in 
writing of each Hedging Counterparty, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

If the Trustee shall so require, any such modification shall be notified by the Issuer to the 
Securityholders as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance with General Condition 15.

Waiver12.3

The Trustee may, without the consent of the Securityholders but only with the prior written consent of 
each Hedging Counterparty and without prejudice to its rights in respect of any subsequent breach, 
from time to time and at any time, but only if and in so far as in its opinion the interests of the 
Securityholders shall not be materially prejudiced thereby, waive or authorise, on such terms and 
conditions as to it shall seem expedient, any breach or proposed breach by the Issuer of any of the 
covenants or provisions in the Trust Instrument or these Securities or determine that any Event of 
Default or Potential Event of Default shall not be treated as such provided always that the Trustee 
shall not exercise any powers conferred on it by this General Condition 12.3 in contravention of any 
express direction given by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Securityholders but no such direction 
shall affect any waiver, authorisation or determination previously given or made.  Any such waiver, 
authorisation or determination shall be binding on the Securityholders and each Hedging 
Counterparty.

Substitution12.4

The Trust Instrument contains provisions permitting the Trustee to agree, subject to such 
amendment of the Trust Instrument and such other conditions as the Trustee may require but without 
the consent of the Securityholders but subject to the prior written consent of each Hedging 
Counterparty, to the substitution of any other company (a “Substitute Company”) in place of the 
Issuer or of any previous substituted company, as principal obligor under the Trust Instrument and all 
of the Securities then outstanding (subject, in the case of rated Securities, to each Relevant Rating 
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Agency having confirmed in writing that its current rating of such Securities will not be adversely 
affected by such substitution) provided that such substitution would not, in the opinion of the Trustee, 
be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Securityholders.  In the case of such a substitution the 
Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Securityholders but subject to the prior written 
consent of each Hedging Counterparty, to a change of the law governing the Securities and/or the
Trust Instrument provided that (i) such change would not, in the opinion of the Trustee, be materially 
prejudicial to the interests of the Securityholders and (ii) in the case of rated Securities, each 
Relevant Rating Agency has confirmed in writing that such change would not adversely affect its 
current rating of such Securities.

The Trust Instrument provides that, if a Director or other authorised officer of any Substitute 
Company certifies that the Substitute Company will be solvent immediately after the time at which 
the substitution is to be effected, the Trustee shall not have regard to the financial condition, profits 
or prospects of such Substitute Company or compare the same with those of the Issuer (or any 
previously substituted company).

Entitlement of the Trustee12.5

In connection with the exercise of its functions (including but not limited to those referred to in this 
General Condition) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the holders of the Securities as a 
class and shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Securityholders 
and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Securityholder be entitled to claim, from 
the Issuer any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise 
upon individual holders of such Securities.

13. Replacement of Securities

If a Security is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced, subject to applicable 
laws at the specified office of the Principal Agent in London or such other Paying Agent as may from 
time to time be designated by the Issuer for the purpose and notice of whose designation is given to 
Securityholders in accordance with General Condition 15, in each case on payment by the claimant 
of the fees and costs incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence, security 
and indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require.  Mutilated or defaced Securities must be 
surrendered before replacements will be issued.

14. Further Issues

The Issuer may from, time to time without the consent of the Securityholders, create and issue 
further securities so as to be consolidated and form a single series with the existing Securities 
subject to General Condition 8 and subject, (1) in the case of rated Securities, to each Relevant 
Rating Agency having confirmed in writing that its current rating of such Securities will not be 
adversely affected and (2) in the case of unrated Securities, the Trustee being satisfied that the 
value of the Charged Property relating to the relevant Series is correspondingly increased.

Any such securities shall be constituted in accordance with the Trust Instrument.

15. Notices

For so long as the Securities are all represented by one or more Global Securities, notices to the 
Securityholders will be valid if delivered to the Clearing Agent(s) for communication by them to the 
Securityholders, provided that so long as the Securities are listed on any stock exchange or publicly 
offered in any jurisdiction, any notice to the Securityholders shall be published in accordance with the 
rules and regulations of each such stock exchange and each such jurisdiction.

Notices given pursuant to the preceding paragraph will become effective on, if delivered to the 
relevant Clearing Agent(s), the third day after such delivery to the Clearing Agent or all the Clearing 
Agents (if more than one) or, if published (whether or not also so given), on the date of such 
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publication, or, if published more than once, on the date of the first such publication or, if required to 
be published in more than one newspaper, on the date of the first such publication in all the required 
newspapers.

16. Agents

The Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or duty to, or any 
relationship of agency or trust for or with, any Securityholder.  Subject as provided in General 
Condition 6.5 relating to the Custodian the Issuer reserves the right at any time with the prior written 
approval of the Trustee to vary or terminate the appointment of any of the Agents and to appoint 
additional or other Paying Agents, provided that the Issuer will at all times maintain (i) a Principal 
Agent, (ii) a Calculation Agent where the Product Conditions so require one, (iii) a Paying Agent 
having a specified office in a European city approved by the Trustee, (iv) a Custodian where the 
Product Conditions so require, and (v) a Selling Agent where the Product Conditions so require.  If 
and to the extent that any of the Securities are listed on any stock exchange or publicly offered in 
any jurisdiction, a Paying Agent will be maintained in each country required by the rules and 
regulations of each such stock exchange and each such jurisdiction.  Notice of any such change or 
any change of any specified office of any Paying Agent will promptly be given to the Securityholders 
in accordance with General Condition 15.

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions 
given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of the Product Conditions 
whether by the Calculation Agent or the Trustee or its appointee shall (in the absence of wilful 
default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Principal Agent, the Paying Agents, 
the Calculation Agent and all Securityholders and no liability to the Issuer, the Securityholders or any 
other person shall attach to (in the absence as aforesaid) the Calculation Agent or (in the absence of 
wilful default) the Trustee or its appointee (if applicable) in connection with the exercise or non-
exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.  The Calculation 
Agent may, with the consent of the Issuer, delegate any of its obligations and functions to a third 
party as it deems appropriate.

17. Indemnification and Obligations of the Trustee; Replacement of the Trustee

The Trust Instrument contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from 
responsibility including for the exercise of any voting rights in respect of the Collateral or for the 
value, validity, sufficiency and enforceability (which the Trustee has not investigated) of the security 
created over the Charged Property.  The Trustee is not obliged to take any action under the Trust 
Instrument unless indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction.  The Trustee and 
any Affiliate is entitled to enter into business transactions with the Issuer, any issuer or guarantor 
(where applicable) of any of the Collateral, any Hedging Counterparty, or any of their subsidiary, 
holding or associated companies without accounting to the Securityholders for profit resulting 
therefrom.

The Trustee is exempted from liability with respect to any loss or theft or reduction in value of the 
Collateral, from any obligation to insure or to procure the insuring of the Collateral (or any documents 
evidencing, constituting or representing the same or transferring any rights or obligations thereunder) 
and from any claim arising from the fact that the Collateral is held in an account with Euroclear, 
Clearstream or any other clearance system in accordance with that system's rules or otherwise held 
in safe custody by the Custodian or any custodian selected by the Trustee (in each case, if 
applicable).  The Trustee is not responsible for supervising the performance by any other person of 
their obligations to the Issuer.

The Trust Instrument provides that the Trustee will be under no obligation or duty to act on any 
directions of the Securityholders or the Hedging Counterparty(ies) (save in each case as expressly 
provided in the Trust Instrument) and (save as aforesaid) in the event of any conflict between 
directions given by the Securityholders and the Hedging Counterparty(ies) (in any case where it is 
expressly provided in the Trust Instrument that the Securityholders and the Hedging 
Counterparty(ies) are entitled to give directions to the Trustee) it shall be entitled to act in 
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accordance only with the directions of the Securityholders (but without prejudice to the provisions 
concerning the enforcement of security under General Conditions 6.7 and 11 and the Trust 
Instrument and to the provisions concerning the application of moneys received by the Trustee upon 
such enforcement under General Condition 6.4 and the Trust Instrument).

The Trust Instrument provides that the Issuer may replace the Trustee subject to the prior approval 
by Extraordinary Resolution of the Securityholders and by each Hedging Counterparty.

18. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

Governing Law18.1

The Trust Instrument and the Securities and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with them shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

Jurisdiction18.2

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in 
connection with the Securities (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising 
out of or in connection with the Securities) and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising 
out of or in conjunction with the Securities may be brought in such courts.  The Issuer has in the 
Trust Instrument irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts.

Agent for Service of Process18.3

The Issuer has irrevocably appointed the person specified in the Trust Instrument as its Agent for 
Service of Process, at its registered office for the time being, as its agent to receive, for it and on its 
behalf, service of process in any proceedings in England.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER

General

The Issuer was incorporated in Ireland as a public limited company with unlimited duration on 17 February 
2014. It is registered at the Companies Registration Office, Dublin, Ireland, under number 539687 under the 
name dbInvestor Solutions 2 public limited company, under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013.

The registered office of the Issuer is at 6
th

Floor, Pinnacle 2, Eastpoint Business Park, Dublin 3, Ireland and 
the telephone number of the Issuer is +353 1680 6000. The Issuer has been established as a special 
purpose vehicle for the purpose, inter alia, of issuing asset backed securities. The authorised share capital of 
the Issuer is EUR38,100 divided into 38,100 Ordinary Shares of EUR1 each (“Shares” and each a “Share”).

The Issuer has issued 38,100 Shares, all of which are fully paid. Each is held either directly or indirectly by 
three charitable trust companies, Badb Charitable Trust Limited, Medb Charitable Trust Limited and Eurydice 
Charitable Trust Limited (the “Charitable Trusts”) on trust for charitable purposes. Each of Badb Charitable 
Trust Limited and Medb Charitable Trust Limited directly hold 12,699 Shares. Eurydice Charitable Trust 
Limited directly holds 12,698 Shares. Each of Christian Donagh, Shay Lydon, Philip Lovegrove and Shane 
Hogan hold one Share on trust for the Charitable Trusts, which in, turn hold such Shares on trust for 
charitable purposes. Each of the issued Shares are held on trust by the holders thereof (each holder a 
“Share Trustee” and, together, the “Share Trustees”) under the terms of a declaration of trust (each a 
“Declaration of Trust” and, together, the “Declarations of Trust”), under which the relevant Share Trustee 
holds its Shares on trust for charitable purposes. The Share Trustees have no beneficial interest in and 
derive no benefit (other than, in the case of the Charitable Trusts, any fees for acting as Share Trustee) from 
their holding of the Shares

Business

So long as any of the Securities remain outstanding, the Issuer will be subject to the restrictions set out in 
General Condition 8 and each Trust Instrument.

The Issuer has, and will have, no assets other than the sum of EUR38,100 representing the issued and paid-
up share capital, such fees (as agreed) per issue payable to it in connection with the issue of Securities or 
the purchase, sale or incurring of other obligations and any Charged Property and any other assets on which 
the Securities are secured.  Save in respect of the fees generated in connection with each issue of 
Securities, any related profits and the proceeds of any deposits and investments made from such fees or 
from amounts representing the Issuer's issued and paid-up share capital, the Issuer will not accumulate any 
surpluses.

The Issuer has made no principal investments and the management body of the Issuer has made no firm 
commitments for any principal future investments, in each case other than issuing Securities, if applicable, 
and entering into related arrangements.  The objects of the Issuer are set out in its Memorandum and 
Articles of Association, which are available as described in “General Information”.  The Issuer's business is 
the issue of securities based on investor demand and earning fees in connection with such activity.

The Issuer has issued securities listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and is compliant with the rules are 
regulations thereof.

The Securities are obligations of the Issuer alone and not of, or guaranteed in any way by, the Share 
Trustees or the Trustee.  Furthermore, they are not obligations of, or guaranteed in any way by, the 
Arranger, any Hedging Counterparty, any Repurchase Counterparty or any Agent.

There are no recent events which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer's solvency.

Capitalisation

The capitalisation of the Issuer as at the date of this Programme Section is as follows.
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Shareholders' Funds:

Share capital: EUR38,100

(Authorised EUR40,000; Issued 38,100 Ordinary Shares of EUR1 each).  Save for the issues of Securities 
described in the Securities Section and their related arrangements, the Issuer has no borrowings or 
indebtedness in the nature of borrowings (including loan capital issued or created but unissued), term loans, 
liabilities under acceptances or acceptance credits, mortgages, charges or guarantees or other contingent 
liabilities.

Directors and Company Secretary

The Directors of the Issuer are as follows:

Director principal outside activities

Michael Whelan Employee of Deutsche International Corporate Services (Ireland) Limited

Turlough Galvin Solicitor, Matheson

Niall O'Carroll Retired Accountant and Company Director

The business address of Turlough Galvin is 70 Sir John Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland, the business 
address of Niall O'Carroll is “Thurleigh”, Upper Churchtown Road, Dundrum, Dublin 14, Ireland and the 
business address of Michael Whelan is c/o Deutsche International Corporate Services (Ireland) Limited, 6

th

Floor, Pinnacle 2, Eastpoint Business Park, Dublin 3, Ireland.

The Company Secretary is Deutsche International Corporate Services (Ireland) Limited.

The administrator of the Issuer is Deutsche International Corporate Services (Ireland) Limited, 6
th

Floor, 
Pinnacle 2, Eastpoint Business Park, Dublin 3, Ireland.  Its duties include the provision of certain 
administrative, accounting and related services.  The appointment of the administrator may be terminated 
and the administrator may retire upon three months' notice subject to the appointment of an alternative 
administrator on similar terms to the existing administrator.

Financial Statements

The financial year end of the Issuer is 30 June.

Each year, a copy of the audited profit and loss account and balance sheet of the Issuer together with the 
report of the directors and the auditors thereon is required to be filed in the Irish Companies Registration 
Office within 28 days of the annual return date of the Issuer and is available for inspection.  The profit and 
loss account and balance sheet can be obtained free of charge from the specified office of the Principal 
Paying Agent.  The Issuer must hold an annual general meeting in each calendar year and the gap between 
its annual general meetings must not exceed 15 months.

The auditors of the Issuer are KPMG Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, 1 Harbourmaster 
Place, International Financial Services Centre, Dublin 1, Ireland (a member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Ireland) whose responsibilities, as independent auditors, are established in Ireland by statute, 
the Auditing Practices Board and by their profession's ethical guidance.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE HEDGING COUNTERPARTY

Unless otherwise described in the relevant Prospectus the hedging counterparty (the “Hedging 
Counterparty”) in relation to this series will be Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch.

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch is the London branch of Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft.  The 
information contained in this Prospectus regarding Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft and the Deutsche 
Bank Group (as defined below) has been reproduced from information supplied by the Hedging 
Counterparty, and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by the 
Hedging Counterparty, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information 
inaccurate or misleading.

The audited annual financial statements and unaudited interim quarterly financial statements of Deutsche 
Bank Aktiengesellschaft and the Deutsche Bank Group will be delivered after they are published to and will 
be obtainable from the Paying Agent throughout the term of any Securities issued pursuant to this 
Prospectus.

DEUTSCHE BANK AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT

Incorporation, Registered Office and Objectives

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft (“Deutsche Bank” or the “Bank”) originated from the reunification of 
Norddeutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg, Rheinisch-Westfälische Bank Aktiengesellschaft,
Duesseldorf and Süddeutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Munich; pursuant to the Law on the Regional Scope 
of Credit Institutions, these had been disincorporated in 1952 from Deutsche Bank which was founded in 
1870. The merger and the name were entered in the Commercial Register of the District Court Frankfurt am 
Main on 2 May 1957. Deutsche Bank is a banking institution and a stock corporation incorporated under the 
laws of Germany under registration number HRB 30 000. The Bank has its registered office in Frankfurt am 
Main, Germany. It maintains its head office at Taunusanlage 12, 60325 Frankfurt am Main and branch 
offices in Germany and abroad including in London, New York, Sydney, Tokyo and an Asia-Pacific Head 
Office in Singapore which serve as hubs for its operations in the respective regions.

Deutsche Bank is the parent company of a group consisting of banks, capital market companies, fund 
management companies, a real-estate finance company, instalment financing companies, research and 
consultancy companies and other domestic and foreign companies (the “Deutsche Bank Group”).

The objects of the Bank, as laid down in its Articles of Association, include the transaction of all kinds of 
banking business, the provision of financial and other services and the promotion of international economic 
relations. The Bank may realise these objectives itself or through subsidiaries and affiliated companies. To 
the extent permitted by law, the Bank is entitled to transact all business and to take all steps which appear 
likely to promote the objectives of the Bank, in particular: to acquire and dispose of real estate, to establish 
branches at home and abroad, to acquire, administer and dispose of participations in other enterprises, and 
to conclude company-transfer agreements.

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

“Deutsche Bank AG London Branch” is the London branch of Deutsche Bank AG. On 12 January 1973, 
Deutsche Bank AG filed in the United Kingdom the documents required pursuant to section 407 of the 
Companies Act 1948 to establish a place of business within Great Britain. On 14 January 1993, Deutsche 
Bank registered under Schedule 21A to the Companies Act 1985 as having established a branch 
(Registration No. BR000005) in England and Wales. Deutsche Bank AG London Branch is an authorised 
person for the purposes of section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. In the United 
Kingdom, it conducts wholesale banking business and through its Private Wealth Management division, it 
provides holistic wealth management advice and integrated financial solutions for wealthy individuals, their 
families and selected institutions.
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Share Capital, Capitalisation and Indebtedness

As of 30 June 2014, Deutsche Bank’s subscribed capital amounted to 3,530,939,215.36 Euro consisting of 
1,379,273,131 ordinary shares without par value. The shares are fully paid up and in registered form. The 
shares are listed for trading and official quotation on all German Stock Exchanges. They are also listed on 
the New York Stock Exchange. Further information regarding Deutsche Bank can be obtained from the 
website http://www.db.com/ir/index_e.htm.

As of 31 March 2014, Deutsche Bank Group had total assets of Euro 1,636,574 billion, total 
liabilities of Euro 1,580,557 million, and total equity of Euro 56,017 million on the basis of 
International Financial Reporting Standards (unaudited).

http://www.db.com/ir/index_e.htm
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TAXATION

Country Specific Taxation

Potential purchasers of Securities are advised to consult their own tax advisors as to the tax consequences 
of transactions involving the Securities.  In addition to the information below potential purchasers of 
Securities should consider the section “Additional Information” set out in the relevant Securities Section (if 
such section is included).

Irish Taxation

The following is a description of certain Irish tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and 
disposition of the Securities.  This description does not purport to be a comprehensive description 
of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or dispose of the 
Securities.  This description relates only to the position of persons who are the absolute beneficial 
owners of the Securities and may not apply to certain other classes of persons such as dealers in 
securities.

This description is based upon Irish tax laws and the practice of the Irish Revenue Commissioners 
as in effect on the date of this Prospectus, which are subject to prospective or retroactive change. 
This description does not constitute tax or legal advice and the comments below are of a general 
nature only.  Prospective investors in the Securities should consult their own advisors as to the Irish 
or other tax consequences of the purchase, beneficial ownership and disposition of the Securities 
including, in particular, the effect of any state or local tax laws.

Income Tax

In general, persons who are resident in Ireland are liable to Irish taxation on their world-wide income 
whereas persons who are not resident in Ireland are only liable to Irish taxation on their Irish source income.  
All persons are under a statutory obligation to account for Irish taxation on a self-assessment basis and there 
is no requirement for the Irish Revenue Commissioners to issue or raise an assessment.

A Security issued by the Issuer may be regarded as property situate in Ireland (and hence Irish source 
income) on the grounds that a debt is deemed to be situate where the debtor resides.  However, the interest 
earned on such Securities is exempt from income tax if paid to a person who is not a resident of Ireland and 
who for the purposes of Section 198 of the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997 (as amended) (“TCA 1997”) is 
regarded as being a resident of a relevant territory.  A relevant territory for this purpose is a Member State of 
the European Communities (other than Ireland) or not being such a Member State a territory with which 
Ireland has entered into a double tax treaty that has the force of law or, on completion of the necessary 
procedures, will have the force of law and such double tax treaty contains an article dealing with interest or 
income from debt claims.  A list of the countries with which Ireland has entered into a double tax treaty is 
available on the website of the Irish Revenue Commissioners.

Relief from Irish income tax may also be available under other exemptions contained in Irish tax legislation or 
under the specific provisions of a double tax treaty between Ireland and the country of residence of the 
holder of the Securities.

If the above exemptions do not apply it is understood that there is a long standing unpublished practice 
whereby no action will be taken to pursue any liability to such Irish tax in respect of persons who are 
regarded as not being resident in Ireland except where such persons:

(a) are chargeable in the name of a person (including a trustee) or in the name of an agent or branch in 
Ireland having the management or control of the interest; or

(b) seek to claim relief and/or repayment of tax deducted at source in respect of taxed income from Irish 
sources; or
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(c) are chargeable to Irish corporation tax on the income of an Irish branch or agency or to income tax 
on the profits of a trade carried on in Ireland to which the interest is attributable.

There can be no assurance that this practice will continue to apply.
Withholding Taxes

In general, withholding tax (currently at the rate of 20 per cent.) must be deducted from interest payments 
made by an Irish company such as the Issuer.  However, Section 246 TCA 1997 (“Section 246”) provides 
that this general obligation to withhold tax does not apply in respect of, inter alia, interest payments made by 
the Issuer to a person, who by virtue of the law of the relevant territory, is resident for the purposes of tax in a 
relevant territory (see above for details).  This exemption does not apply if the interest is paid to a company 
in connection with a trade or business which is carried on in Ireland by the company through a branch or 
agency.

Apart from Section 246, Section 64 TCA 1997 (“Section 64”) provides for the payment of interest on a 
“Quoted Eurobond” without deduction of tax in certain circumstances.  A Quoted Eurobond is defined in 
Section 64 as a security which:

(a) is issued by a company;

(b) is quoted on a recognised stock exchange (this term is not defined but is understood to mean an 
exchange which is recognised in the country in which it is established such as the Irish Stock 
Exchange); and

(c) carries a right to interest.

There is no obligation to withhold tax on Quoted Eurobonds where:

(a) the person by or through whom the payment is made is not in Ireland, or

(b) the payment is made by or through a person in Ireland, and

(i) the Quoted Eurobond is held in a recognised clearing system (Euroclear, Clearstream 
Banking SA, Clearstream Banking AG and the Depository Trust Company of New York 
have, amongst others, been designated as recognised clearing systems); or

(ii) the person who is the beneficial owner of the Quoted Eurobond and who is beneficially
entitled to the interest is not resident in Ireland and has made an appropriate written 
declaration to this effect.

In certain circumstances, Irish encashment tax may be required to be withheld at the standard rate (currently 
at the rate of 20 per cent.) from interest on any Security, where such interest is collected by a person in 
Ireland on behalf of any holder of Securities.

Capital Gains Tax

A Securityholder will not be subject to Irish taxes on capital gains provided that such Securityholder is neither 
resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland and such Securityholder does not have an enterprise, or an interest 
in an enterprise, which carries on business in Ireland through a branch or agency or a permanent 
representative to which or to whom the Securities are attributable.

Capital Acquisitions Tax

If the Securities are comprised in a gift or inheritance taken from an Irish domiciled, resident or ordinarily 
resident disponer or if the donee/successor is resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland, or if any of the 
Securities are regarded as property situate in Ireland, the donee/successor may be liable to Irish capital 
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acquisitions tax.  As a result, a donee/successor may be liable to Irish capital acquisitions tax, even though 
neither the disponer nor the donee/successor may be domiciled, resident or ordinarily resident in Ireland at 
the relevant time.

Stamp Duty

For as long as the Issuer is a qualifying company within the meaning of Section 110, no Irish stamp duty will 
be payable on either the issue or transfer of the Securities, provided that the money raised by the issue of 
the Securities is used in the course of the Issuer's business.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH IRS CIRCULAR 230, EACH TAXPAYER IS HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT: 
(A) ANY TAX DISCUSSION HEREIN IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE 
USED BY THE TAXPAYER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX 
PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON THE TAXPAYER; (B) ANY SUCH TAX DISCUSSION WAS 
WRITTEN TO SUPPORT THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS 
ADDRESSED HEREIN; AND (C) THE TAXPAYER SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THE 
TAXPAYER'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISER.

On 18 March 2010, the US enacted sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code 
(“FATCA”).  In certain circumstances, payments to the Issuer may be subject to withholding taxes under 
FATCA if it fails to enter into an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) (as described 
below). In such circumstances, the Issuer may be unable to satisfy its obligations in respect of the Securities 
and the Hedging Agreement and the Securities may redeem early as provided in General Condition 5.2 or 
General Condition 10. In addition, a Securityholder may become subject to U.S. withholding at a rate of 30 
per cent. on all, or a portion of, certain payments made to it by the Issuer or by any non-US financial 
institutions through which payments on the Securities are made after 31 December 2016 in respect of the 
Securities if the Securities are treated as equity for U.S. federal tax purposes or if they are significantly 
modified after the expiry of the relevant grandfathering period.

Under FATCA, a non-U.S. financial institution (“FFI”) generally will be required to enter into an agreement (a 
“FFI Agreement”) with the IRS to identify “financial accounts” held by U.S. persons or entities with 
substantial U.S. ownership, as well as accounts of other financial institutions that are not themselves 
participating in (or otherwise exempt from) the FATCA reporting regime. For these purposes, the term 
financial institution includes, among others, banks, insurance companies and entities that are engaged 
primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities, commodities or partnership 
interests, including securitization vehicles. If a participating financial institution makes a relevant payment to 
an accountholder that has not provided information requested to establish that the accountholder is exempt 
from reporting under the rules (a “Recalcitrant Holder”), or if the recipient of the payment is a non-
participating financial institution (that is not otherwise exempt), the payor may be required to withhold 30 per 
cent. on a portion of the payment. The IRS has indicated an intention to treat, for example, interest and 
principal paid by a participating financial institution as being subject to this 30% withholding, but only in 
proportion to the value of the financial institution's direct and indirect U.S. assets as compared to its total 
assets. However, the IRS is further considering the treatment of these so-called “passthru payments” and it 
is not clear how this rule might ultimately apply to the Issuer or the Securities.

The United States and a number of other jurisdictions announced their intention to enter into 
intergovernmental agreements to facilitate the implementation of FATCA (each, an “IGA”).  In some cases 
such IGAs have been signed; in other cases, negotiations are still ongoing.  Pursuant to FATCA and the 
"Model 1" and "Model 2" IGAs released by the United States, most FFIs in an IGA signatory country should 
be treated as a "Reporting FI" that would generally not be subject to withholding under FATCA on any 
payments it receives.  Further, a FFI in a Model 1 IGA jurisdiction would not be required to withhold under 
FATCA or an IGA (or any law implementing an IGA or agreement with the IRS relating to FATCA) (any such 
withholding being a “FATCA Withholding”) from payments it makes (unless, in certain limited 
circumstances, where the payments are made to a Recalcitrant Holder). The Model 2 IGA leaves open the 
possibility that a Reporting FI might in the future be required to withhold on foreign passthru payments and 
payments that it makes to Recalcitrant Holders. Under each Model IGA, a Reporting FI would still be 
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required to report certain information in respect of its account holders and investors to its home government 
or to the IRS. The US IRS announced in Notice 2013-43 its intention to provide a list of jurisdictions that will 
be treated as having in effect an IGA, even though that IGA may not have entered into force as of 01 July 
2014.

Ireland signed a Model 1 IGA with the US on 21 December 2012 and the Issuer will therefore be required to 
comply with FATCA under national legislation implementing that agreement.

The Issuer is currently not expected to be required to make any FATCA Withholdings from the payments it 
makes, although there can be no assurance that the Issuer would not in the future be required to deduct 
FATCA Withholdings from future payments.

Accordingly, the Issuer and financial institutions through which payments on the Securities are made may be 
required to withhold FATCA Withholdings if (i) any FFI through or to which payment on such Securities is 
made is not a participating FFI, a reporting FI, or otherwise exempt from or in deemed compliance with 
FATCA or (ii) an investor is a Recalcitrant Holder.

The relevant rules have not yet been fully developed and the future application of FATCA to the Issuer and 
to Securityholders is uncertain. If the Issuer determines that it must comply with FATCA in order to receive 
certain payments free of U.S. withholding tax, Securityholders may be required to provide certain information 
or be subject to withholding on certain payments (including payments upon redemption of the Securities) 
made to them. The withholding obligation in respect of a non-participating financial institution may apply 
whether the financial institution is receiving payments for its own account or on behalf of another person. If a 
holder is subject to withholding on account of FATCA, there will be no additional amount payable by way of 
compensation to the holder for the deducted amount. An investor that is able to claim the benefits of an 
income tax treaty between its own jurisdiction and the United States may be entitled to a refund of amounts 
withheld pursuant to the FATCA rules, though the investor would have to file a U.S. tax return to claim this 
refund and would not be entitled to interest from the IRS for the period prior to the refund.

THE FATCA PROVISIONS ARE PARTICULARLY COMPLEX AND THEIR APPLICATION TO THE 
ISSUER AND THE SECURITIES IS UNCERTAIN AT THIS TIME. THE ABOVE DESCRIPTION IS BASED 
IN PART ON REGULATIONS, OFFICIAL GUIDANCE AND MODEL IGAS, ALL OF WHICH ARE 
SUBJECT TO CHANGE OR MAY BE IMPLEMENTED IN A MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FORM.  NOTHING 
IN THIS SECTION CONSTITUTES OR PURPORTS TO CONSTITUTE TAX ADVICE AND 
SECURITYHOLDERS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO RELY ON ANY PROVISION SET OUT IN THIS SECTION 
FOR THE PURPOSES OF MAKING ANY INVESTMENT DECISION, TAX DECISION OR OTHERWISE. 
EACH INVESTOR SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISER TO OBTAIN A MORE DETAILED 
EXPLANATION OF THE FATCA PROVISIONS AND TO LEARN HOW THIS LEGISLATION MIGHT 
AFFECT IT IN ITS PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCE.

The proposed financial transactions tax (“FTT”)

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the “Commission’s Proposal”) for 
a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, 
Slovenia and Slovakia (the “participating Member States”). 

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in the 
Securities (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and 
outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where 
at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member 
State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, “established” in a participating Member State in a 
broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating 
Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a 
participating Member State.



120 L_LIVE_EMEA1:24364455v6

A joint statement issued in May 2014 by ten of the eleven participating Member States indicated an intention 
to implement the FTT progressively, such that it would initially apply to shares and certain derivatives, with 
this initial implementation occurring by 1 January 2016.

The FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may therefore 
be altered prior to any implementation. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate. Prospective 
holders of the Securities are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

EU Savings Directive

Under European Directive 2003/48/EC (the “Directive”) on taxation of savings income Member States are 
required to provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of payments of interest and other 
similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in another Member State, 
except that for a transitional period Luxembourg and Austria instead operate a withholding system unless 
during that period they elect otherwise (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the 
conclusion of certain other agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries and 
territories) . The rate of withholding tax in those jurisdictions is 35%.  The current withholding tax system in 
Luxembourg under the Directive will be replaced with a system of an automatic exchange of information as 
from 1 January 2015 on the basis of the Luxembourg law of 25 November 2014 modifying the existing 
Luxembourg laws relating to the Directive.  As from 1 January 2015, the automatic exchange of information 
will apply to payments of interest or similar income made or ascribed by a Luxembourg paying agent to or for 
the immediate benefit of an individual beneficial owner or a residual entity which is resident of, or established 
in, an EU Member State other than Luxembourg. Certain other jurisdictions, including Switzerland, have 
enacted equivalent legislation which imposes a withholding tax in substantially the same circumstances as 
envisaged by the Directive.  

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted an EU Council Directive amending and 
broadening the scope of the requirements described above. In particular, the changes expand the range of 
payments covered by the Directive to include certain additional types of income, and widen the range of 
recipients payments to whom are covered by the Directive, to include certain other types of entity and legal 
arrangement. Member States are required to implement national legislation giving effect to these changes by 
01 January 2016 (which national legislation must apply from 01 January 2017). 

Securityholders should note that should any payment in respect of the Securities be subject to withholding 
imposed as a consequence of the Directive or under equivalent legislation, no additional amounts would be 
payable by the Issuer pursuant to the provisions of General Condition 4.4 (Taxation) of the Securities.
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SALES RESTRICTIONS

General

The distribution of this document and the offering of the Securities in certain jurisdictions may be restricted 
by law.  Persons into whose possession this document comes are required by the Issuer to inform 
themselves about and to observe any such restrictions.

The Issuer will enter into a Purchase Agreement with the Arranger in respect of the Securities, pursuant to 
which the Arranger will agree, among other things, to procure purchasers for the Securities.

Unless otherwise provided in the Purchase Agreement, the Arranger will in the Purchase Agreement agree 
that it will, to the best of its knowledge, comply with all relevant laws, regulations and directives in each 
jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Securities or has in its possession or distributes this 
Prospectus or any part thereof or any other offering material in all cases at its own expense unless otherwise 
agreed and the Issuer shall have no responsibility therefor.

United States

The Securities have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended (the “Securities Act”), or under the securities law of any state or political sub-division of the United 
States.  No person has registered nor will register as a commodity pool operator of the Issuer under the 
United States Commodity Exchange Act of 1936, as amended (the “CEA”) and the rules thereunder (the 
“CFTC Rules”) of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (the “CFTC”), and the Issuer has not been 
and will not be registered under the United States Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, nor under 
any other United States federal laws. The Securities are being offered and sold in reliance on an exemption 
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Regulation S thereunder (“Regulation 
S”).

Accordingly, the Securities may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in an “Offshore 
Transaction” (as such term is defined under Regulation S) to or for the account or benefit of a Permitted 
Transferee.

The following definitions shall apply for the purposes of this United States selling and transfer restriction:

“Permitted Transferee” means any person who is not:

(a) a U.S. person as defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S; or

(b) a person who comes within any definition of U.S. person for the purposes of the CEA or any CFTC 
Rule, guidance or order proposed or issued under the CEA (for the avoidance of doubt, any person 
who is not a “Non-United States person” as such term is defined under CFTC Rule 4.7(a)(1)(iv), but 
excluding, for purposes of subsection (D) thereof, the exception for qualified eligible persons who are 
not “Non-United States persons”, shall be considered a U.S. person).

Transfers of Securities within the United States or to any person other than a Permitted Transferee are 
prohibited. Any transfer of Securities to a person other than a Permitted Transferee (a “Non-Permitted 
Transferee”) will be void ab initio and of no legal effect whatsoever.  Accordingly, any purported transferee 
of any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security in such a transaction will not be entitled to any 
rights as a legal or beneficial owner of such interest in such Security.  The Issuer shall have the right at any 
time after becoming aware that any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security is held by a Non-
Permitted Transferee to require such Non-Permitted Transferee to sell such interest to (i) an affiliate of the 
Issuer (to the extent permitted by applicable law); or (ii) a person who is not a Non-Permitted Transferee, in 
each case in accordance with General Condition 5.6.

As defined in Rule 902(k)(1) of Regulation S, “U.S. person” means:
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(a) Any natural person resident in the United States;

(b) Any partnership or corporation organised or incorporated under the laws of the United States;

(c) Any estate of which any executor or administrator is a U.S. person;

(d) Any trust of which any trustee is a U.S. person;

(e) Any agency or branch of a foreign entity located in the United States;

(f) Any non-discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or 
other fiduciary for the benefit or account of a U.S. person;

(g) Any discretionary account or similar account (other than an estate or trust) held by a dealer or other 
fiduciary organised, incorporated, or (if an individual) resident in the United States; and

(h) Any partnership or corporation if:

(i) organised or incorporated under the laws of any foreign jurisdiction; and

(ii) formed by a U.S. person principally for the purpose of investing in securities not registered 
under the Securities Act, unless it is organised or incorporated, and owned, by accredited 
investors (as defined in §230.501(a)) who are not natural persons, estates or trusts.

As defined in CFTC Rule 4.7, modified as indicated above, “Non-United States person” means:

(a) A natural person who is not a resident of the United States;

(b) A partnership, corporation or other entity, other than an entity organised principally for passive 
investment, organised under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction and which has its principal place of 
business in a foreign jurisdiction;

(c) An estate or trust, the income of which is not subject to United States income tax regardless of 
source;

(d) An entity organised principally for passive investment such as a pool, investment company or other 
similar entity; provided, that units of participation in the entity held by persons who do not qualify as 
Non-United States persons represent in the aggregate less than 10 per cent. of the beneficial 
interest in the entity, and that such entity was not formed principally for the purpose of facilitating 
investment by persons who do not qualify as Non-United States persons in a pool with respect to 
which the operator is exempt from certain requirements of part 4 of the Commodity Futures Trading 
Commission’s regulations by virtue of its participants being Non-United States persons; and

(e) A pension plan for the employees, officers or principals of an entity organized and with its principal 
place of business outside the United States.

As defined in the CFTC’s interpretive guidance and policy statement regarding compliance with certain swap 
regulations, 78 Fed. Reg. 45292, 316 (Jul. 26, 2013), “U.S. person” includes, but is not limited to:

(a) Any natural person who is a resident of the United States;

(b) Any estate of a decedent who was a resident of the United States at the time of death;

(c) Any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, business or other trust, association, joint-
stock company, fund or any form of enterprise similar to any of the foregoing (other than an entity 
described in clauses (d) or (e), below) (a “legal entity”), in each case that is organized or 
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incorporated under the laws of a state or other jurisdiction in the United States or having its principal 
place of business in the United States;

(d) Any pension plan for the employees, officers or principals of a legal entity described in clause (c), 
unless the pension plan is primarily for foreign employees of such entity;

(e) Any trust governed by the laws of a state or other jurisdiction in the United States, if a court within 
the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust;

(f) Any commodity pool, pooled account, investment fund, or other collective investment vehicle that is 
not described in clause (c) and that is majority-owned by one or more persons described in clause 
(a), (b), (c), (d), or (e), except any commodity pool, pooled account, investment fund, or other 
collective investment vehicle that is publicly offered only to non-U.S. persons and not offered to U.S. 
persons;

(g) Any legal entity (other than a limited liability company, limited liability partnership or similar entity 
where all of the owners of the entity have limited liability) that is directly or indirectly majority-owned 
by one or more persons described in clause (a), (b), (c), (d), or (e) and in which such person(s) 
bears unlimited responsibility for the obligations and liabilities of the legal entity; and

(h) Any individual account or joint account (discretionary or not) where the beneficial owner (or one of 
the beneficial owners in the case of a joint account) is a person described in clause (a), (b), (c), (d), 
(e), (f), or (g).

Each prospective purchaser of the Securities, by accepting delivery of this Prospectus and the Securities, 
and each transferee of the Securities by accepting the transfer of the Securities, will be deemed to have 
represented and agreed as follows:

(a) it understands that the Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act 
and agrees that it will not, at any time during the term of the Securities, offer, sell, pledge or 
otherwise transfer the Securities, except in an “Offshore Transaction” (as such term is defined under 
Regulation S) to or for the account of a Permitted Transferee;

(b) it understands and acknowledges that no person has registered nor will register as a commodity pool 
operator of the Issuer under the CEA and the CEA Rules;

(c) (i) it is a Permitted Transferee and (ii) if it is acting for the account or benefit of another person, such 
other person is also a Permitted Transferee;

(d) it understands and agrees that the Issuer has the right to compel any legal or beneficial owner of an 
interest in the Securities to certify periodically that such legal or beneficial owner is a Permitted 
Transferee;

(e) it understands and acknowledges that the Issuer has the right to refuse to honour the transfer of an 
interest in the Securities in violation of the transfer restrictions applicable to the Securities;

(f) it understands and acknowledges that the purported transfer of any Securities to a Non-Permitted 
Transferee will be deemed to be void ab initio and of no legal effect whatsoever, subject to, and in 
accordance with, General Condition 5.6;

(g) it understands and acknowledges that the Issuer has the right at any time after becoming aware that 
any legal or beneficial ownership interest in a Security is held by a Non-Permitted Transferee to 
require such Non-Permitted Transferee to sell such interest (i) to an affiliate of the Issuer (to the 
extent permitted by applicable law) or (ii) a person who is a Non-Permitted Transferee, subject to, 
and in accordance with, General Condition 5.6;
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(h) it agrees to provide notice of the restrictions set forth herein to any transferee of its interest in the 
Securities; and

(i) it understands that Securities will bear a legend regarding the restrictions set forth herein.

The Securities have not been approved or disapproved by the United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission (“SEC”) or any other regulatory agency in the United States, nor has the SEC or any other 
regulatory agency in the United States passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this document or the merits 
of the Securities. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence. Furthermore, the Securities do not 
constitute, and have not been marketed as, contracts for the sale of a commodity for future delivery (or 
options thereon) subject to the CEA, and neither trading in the Securities nor this document has been 
approved by the CFTC under the CEA, and no person other than a Permitted Transferee may at any time 
trade or maintain a position in the Securities).

Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus 
Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) and in the Purchase Agreement, the Arranger will represent 
and agree that with effect from (and including) the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in 
that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an 
offer of Securities which are the subject of the offering contemplated by the Prospectus to the public in that 
Relevant Member State, except that it may, with effect from (and including) the Relevant Implementation 
Date, make an offer of Securities to the public in that Relevant Member State:

(a) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) at any time to fewer than 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in 
the Prospectus Directive) as permitted under the Prospectus Directive; or

(c) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Securities shall require the Issuer or the Arranger to publish a prospectus 
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive, or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the 
Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision:

 the expression an “offer of Securities to the public” in relation to any Securities in any Relevant 
Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on 
the terms of the offer and the Securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to 
purchase or subscribe the Securities, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any 
measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State;

 the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, 
including Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the Directive 2010/73/EU) and 
includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State.

United Kingdom

In the Purchase Agreement the Arranger will agree that:

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be 
communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of 
Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”), received by it in 
connection with the issue or sale of any Securities in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the 
FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
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(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 
done by it in relation to any Securities in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Ireland

In the Purchase Agreement, the Arranger will represent, warrant and agree that it has not offered, sold, 
placed or underwritten and will not offer, sell, place or underwrite the Securities, or do anything in Ireland in 
respect of the Securities, otherwise than in conformity with the provisions of:

(i) the Irish Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005 (as amended) and any rules issued by 
the Central Bank of Ireland (“Central Bank”) under Section 51 of the Investment Funds, Companies 
and Miscellaneous Provisions Act 2005 of Ireland (as amended) (the “2005 Act”);

(ii) the Irish Companies Acts 1963 to 2013;

(iii) the European Communities (Markets in Financial Instruments) Regulations 2007 (as amended) of 
Ireland and it will conduct itself in accordance with any rules or codes of conduct and any conditions 
or requirements, or any other enactment, imposed or approved by the Central Bank; and

(iv) the Irish Market Abuse (Directive 2003/6/EC) Regulations 2005 (as amended) and any rules issued 
by the Central Bank under Section 34 of the 2005 Act and will assist the Issuer in complying with its 
obligations thereunder.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Prospectus incorporates by reference the following documents of the Issuer which have previously been 

published or filed with the Central Bank. 

1. Directors’ report and interim annual accounts for the period 17 February 2014 to 16 August 2014.

The table below sets out the relevant page references for the information incorporated herein by reference:

From the Directors’ report and interim annual accounts for the period 17 February 2014 to 16 August 
2014

Section Page (s)

Directors and other information 1

Interim management report 2 to 6

Responsibility statement 7

Statement of financial position 8

Statement of comprehensive income 9

Statement of cash flows 10

Statement of changes in equity 11

Notes to the financial statements 12-24

The Issuer will provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Prospectus has been 
delivered, upon the written request of any such person, a copy of any or all of the documents which, or 
portions of which, are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (to the extent that they relate to the 
Issuer).  Requests for such documents should be directed to the principal office of the Issuer, being in the 
case of the Issuer, the address set out at the end of this Prospectus.  In addition, such documents will be 
available free of charge from the specified offices of the Paying Agent for the time being in London.

The documents incorporated by reference are available at:

Directors’ report and interim annual accounts for 
the period 17 February 2014 to 16 August 2014

http://www.rns-

pdf.londonstockexchange.com/rns/5400U_-2014-10-

16.pdf

http://www.rns-pdf.londonstockexchange.com/rns/5400U_-2014-10-16.pdf
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GENERAL INFORMATION

(1) The issue of the Securities was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors passed on 15
December 2014.

(2) There has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer since 
its date of incorporation.

(3) The Issuer is not involved in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings which may have, or 
have had during the previous 12 months, a significant effect on its financial position or profitability, 
nor is the Issuer aware that such proceedings are pending or threatened.

(4) The Securities have been accepted for clearance through the Clearing Agent stipulated as such in 
the Product Conditions.  The International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) is set out in the 
Product Conditions.

(5) The following documents (when executed and/or published, as applicable) will be available in 
physical form during usual business hours on any day (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays 
excepted) for inspection at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents and at the specified 
office of the Issuer (and copies of the documents specified in sub-paragraphs (iii), and (v) below may 
be obtained free of charge from the specified office of each of the Paying Agents):

(i) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer;

(ii) the Declarations of Trust;

(iii) this Prospectus (and all documents incorporated by reference herein);

(iv) the Trust Instrument and each document incorporated by reference into such Trust 
Instrument (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Hedging Agreement and details of the 
terms and conditions on which the Trustee has been appointed); and

(v) such other documents (if any) as may be required by the rules of any stock exchange on 
which the Securities are at the relevant time listed.

(6) The Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance transaction information in relation to the 
Securities or the performance of the Collateral or the Underlying.

(7) The Prospectus will be published on the Irish Stock Exchange's website (www.ise.ie).

(8) No websites that are cited or referred to in this Prospectus shall be deemed to form part of, or to be 
incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.

http://www.ise.ie/
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